
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually - www.youtube.com/graveshamtv on Tuesday, 
17 November 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed 
to be transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes from Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Street Scene Update (Pages 9 - 22)

6. Allotment Bee Policy (Pages 23 - 36)

7. Taxi Policy Consultation (Pages 37 - 
130)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Corporate Performance Report Quarter 1 2020/21 (Pages 131 - 
140)

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Wednesday, 23 September 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)

Councillors: Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle
Ejaz Aslam
Harold Craske
Lyn Milner
Emma Morley

Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons Waste Projects & Compliance Officer
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager
Stewart McDonald Technical Services Support Officer
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

6. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Conrad Broadley, Councillor Leslie 
Pearton, Councillor Gurbax Singh and Councillor Steve Thompson who were substituted by 
Councillors Ajaz Aslam, Harold Craske, Lyn Milner and Emma Morley respectively.

7. Minutes from Previous Meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 8 June 2020 were signed by the Chair.

8. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

9. Litter Bin Replacement & Recycling on-the-go Trial 

The Assistant Director (Operations) presented with a report that provided an overview of 
plans to replace the litter bins and trial recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins at St Andrew’s Gardens. 
Details were also included on proposals for the further introduction of recycling ‘on-the-go’ at 
the Riverside Leisure area and Woodlands Park, subject to the success of the trial.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 23.09.2020

2

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer advised that the best and most viable way to 
implement the scheme had been considered and were set out in the report. Open areas 
such as parks were controlled areas and were considered to be easy to monitor. WRAP 
studies had suggested that typically 60% of the contents of litter bins was recyclable. 
Therefore, recycling ‘on-the-go’ would lower residual waste arisings and would increase 
recycling performance as well as helping promote and reinforce recycling behaviours at 
home and at work. Feedback from counterparts in seven Kent district councils had 
suggested that contamination of street recycling was very high, particularly in town centre 
locations or near to fast food establishments and this resulted in the contents being disposed 
of as residual waste. It was noted that the current bins at St Andrew’s Gardens were not fit 
for purpose and the report showed photos of the replacement recycling bins. It was hoped 
that following the trial, this scheme and the associated bins would be spread throughout the 
Borough which would also result in a consistent style of bin, with the size depending on 
location, being used in Gravesham.

The following points were raised on this subject:

 The bins are made of metal and had metal liners so fire damage would be minimal. 
However, it was noted that there was a very low incidence of fires in park bins.

 The mechanics of the Deposit Return Scheme had been set out in a Government 
consultation document and another was awaited. Generally it meant that, in future, 
the purchase price of certain items such as canned drinks and drinks in plastic 
bottles would include a tax for example 10 pence on a can. If the consumer returns 
the empty can or bottle to the shop, the item would be put through a machine and the 
consumer would get a money off voucher or money back in return.

 It was noted that the removal of bins from some areas had resulted in less litter. The 
officer advised that this was the case and it was hoped that bins would be placed in 
the appropriate site and would be the appropriate size for the area. This would be 
monitored to check that the capacity and location of the bin was correct.

 The new bins were welcomed as it was felt that old, overflowing bins sent the wrong 
message for residents and for visitors and larger bins were suggested for the High 
Street area. Members were reminded that this was the start of a review for the whole 
Borough and the capacity of the bin would depend on where it was sited and how 
busy the area was and how much litter was collected. For example, along the 
narrower pavements in the High Street, bins would have to be smaller and more 
narrow to allow pedestrians to pass by safely.

 It was suggested that a message in relation to littering was placed on the side of the 
new bins. The officer agreed to consult with the Communications Manager on this 
point as he did not want to risk diluting the message on the front of the bins.

 The Assistant Director (Operations) advised that contamination of recyclates was a 
big concern which was why open spaces were being used in the trial. Town Centre 
bins tended to contain more contaminants. However, brightly coloured messages on 
the side of bins might help people make the right bin choice. In addition, clear sacks 
were being used in the bins so collectors could see what had been disposed of. The 
trial was intended to assist in ironing out problems before the roll out of the scheme. 

 Following questions on the ability of disabled people such as wheelchair users and 
the visually impaired to use the new bins, the Committee was advised that the new 
bins were easier to access than the existing bins as they were side, rather than top, 
loading and were not very high. Given wheelchair users could access the new bins it 
was expected that children could also use them. In addition visually impaired people 
would be assisted by the aperture of the recycling bin being a different shape and 
surrounded by a brightly coloured line.

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 23.09.2020

3

 Members were advised that page 8 of the report showed photos of both the double 
bins and noted that the litter side would also have an ash tray. In addition, the bin as 
shown on page 13 of the report was more aesthetically pleasing and its use would be 
investigated.

In conclusion, the Chair stated that he felt that this was a very good scheme. Bins would 
need to have the Borough Council logo on them as well as the appropriate signage together 
with the scheme being given significant publicity. If the trial was successful it would be rolled 
out otherwise the Council faced the potential of losing recyclable material. The Assistant 
Director (Operations) confirmed that discussions had been held with the Communications 
Team with regard to publicity.

Resolved that the report be noted.

10. Portfolio Performance Update - Operational Services Projects 

The Assistant Director (Operations) introduced the report which highlighted work carried out 
since January 2020 including a Covid-19 progress overview. Members were advised that all 
services were now 100% up and running and information had been passed on to staff in the 
last few days reiterating Government guidance on social distancing and staying safe.

In February additional investment in street cleaning had moved been progressed and there 
were new cleaning staff in the town centre providing coverage from 7am to 6pm seven days 
a week. The aim of the later working hours was to ensure the town centre was cleaned latter 
in the day to promote the evening economy. A Maxvac Gladiator had been purchased which 
steam cleans pavements including the removal of chewing gum. This machine was currently 
being used on the town centre but may also be able to be used in other shopping parade 
areas. A smaller road sweeping vehicle had been procured which enabled easier access 
between vehicles when cleaning the streets.

The Adopt a Street – The Street Champions initiative had been launched which encouraged 
the Council and the community to work together and the report set out the improvements to 
enable this initiative. This included a new poster design with a harder hitting message to 
make littering as unacceptable and unsociable things like as drink driving. Good 
engagement with the public had been achieved and the scheme had also been offered to the 
parish councils with Meopham, Luddesdown and Cobham expressing their interest.

The Assistant Director (Operations) reported that a great deal of work on fly-tipping had 
been undertaken in the last few months. The officer had also worked with Kent County 
Council with regard to the installation of covert cameras and associated signage in rural 
areas. Since lockdown three Fixed Penalty Notices had been issued. However, it had not 
been possible to prosecute the offenders because the courts were too busy as a result of the 
delay in trying cases during lockdown.

Members were advised that there was a new enforcement team in the Community Safety 
Team and the two teams would work closely together and had already identified the fly-
tipping hotspots.

Officers were also working on making social media videos for the Duty of Care campaign 
which were designed to demonstrate that fly-tipping was not acceptable and that offenders 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 23.09.2020

4

would be caught and punished. In addition, work was being done to provide residents with 
the correct information about how to dispose of their rubbish.

The Bartec Waste System had continued to progress and develop digital change within the 
Waste Management Team with the commercial waste service mow moved onto the system.

The officer highlighted the increase in household recycling and garden waste.  In addition 
more black sacks were being put out by households and the service had applied a practical 
approach to the collection of the additional sacks during the lockdown period. Gravesham 
had been the first local authority to make this decision in Kent. There had also been a high 
level of publicity about contamination of recyclables which had shown a positive effect. In 
addition, crews checked recycling bins and households who were disposing of the incorrect 
items in these bins were contacted.

The Committee was also given an update on the progress of the Horticultural Service and 
the Cemetery Service.

The following points were made during discussion on this item:

 Officers were thanked for a very positive report and the excellent work of the refuse 
collectors during the lockdown was highlighted.

 The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer was congratulated on the success of the 
Street Champions scheme. The officer advised that when the report had been written 
there were 168 volunteers and there were now 162 streets, alleyways and open 
spaces had been adopted. In addition, there would be further publicity to promote this 
scheme. The Chair reported that he had recently met some Street Champions and 
had been very impressed with their work and the number of full orange litter bags 
and he thanked the officer for inspiring the residents. 

 It was noted that officers had helped set up a clean up in the Central ward which had 
gone very well. However, it was noted that the residents Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) seemed to think that fly-tipping was an acceptable way of 
disposing of rubbish on the roadside outside a property. The Assistant Director 
(Operations) reported that the Waste Projects & Compliance Officer was working with 
the Communications Team to produce an information leaflet which would be sent out 
to letting agents and private landlords. Should the Council be advised of specific 
addresses then a visit would be made to the address or contact would be made with 
the landlord in an effort to advise and educate about waste disposal and how it 
should and should not be done.

 A further comment was made concerning the need for Councillors to support the 
Street Champions in their wards.

 Officers were advised that the wildflower meadows and set aside land at open 
spaces were looking lovely.

 The Assistant Director (Operations) reported that the Pepperhill Household Waste 
Recycling Centre was open and four bookings a month could be made via the Kent 
County Council website.

 The Scarab road sweepers had a schedule to work through and, with the oncoming 
Autumn leaves, work would take longer. Therefore a targeted approach would be 
taken and the Assistant Director (Operations) asked Members to advise of any 
issues. There was also a sweeping barrow being trialled in a couple of areas. 

 Following a question with regard to litter picks, Members were asked to give officers 
a week’s notice. There was also an extra resource at weekends for bag collection as 
it was best to clear them quickly after a litter pick. The Committee was advised that 

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 23.09.2020

5

alleyway clearance could only take place during the working week as the rubbish was 
generally more bulky. Privately owned alleyways were not cleared by the Council but 
if residents wanted to clear an alleyway they could leave the collected waste in an 
agreed location for collection by the Council. The Assistant Director (Operations) 
asked Councillors to contact him or the Waste Projects & Compliance Officer to work 
out details for litter picks etc.

 Waste crews were encouraged to record and report issues on their rounds and an 
internal WhatsApp group was being trialled that would send a photo of the issue to 
the appropriate manager to be dealt with.

 The officer confirmed that CCTV had been placed in 2 or 3 locations in the Downs 
Road area and a Fixed Penalty Notice had been issued in Downs Road. The service 
was more proactive with regard to enforcement than previously.

 The cleanliness of the town centre after being steam cleaned was favourably 
commented upon.

 Members were advised that Kent County Council dealt with the roadside weeds on a 
bi-annual basis.

 Following a suggestion on the use of larger warning signs with regard to fly-tipping 
especially on main roads, the officer undertook take the idea to the Kent Resource 
Partnership. 

 Following a question about stopping business owners passing off trade waste as 
household waste, the Assistant Director (Operations) confirmed that officers talked to 
business owners who did not have trade waste agreements and the enforcement 
team was also used.

In conclusion, the Chair noted that there would be a report to the next meeting of the 
Committee on the enforcement programme. In addition, he had noted the significant 
improvements in street cleanliness in the town centre and congratulated the officers on this 
achievement.

Resolved that this report be noted.

11. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 2020/21 

Members were presented with an update against the Performance Management Framework 
as set out within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for quarter 1 2020/21 (April to June 2020).

The Chair went through the report page by page and the following comments were made:

PI12 – Percentage of areas with unacceptable levels of littering - The Committee was 
advised that during the lockdown no littering measurements had been taken. It was noted 
that a set list of 180 streets from 4 areas with different demographics were monitored each 
quarter, given a visual inspection and compared with a national grading system – A, B, C 
and D. A grading of A/B was acceptable, C meant slight littering and D meant very bad 
levels of litter. 95% of the inspected roads had acceptably low levels of litter.

Resolved that the report be noted.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.50 pm

Page 7



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 23.09.2020

6

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday, 17th November 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Street Scene Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members on the improvements being made within the Street Cleansing Service to 
improve the cleanliness of the borough.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Introduction

1.1 During 2020, the Waste Management Team has focused on improving the street 
scene across the borough with both operational improvements and by working 
with the local community. This has been supported by the additional funding 
commencing in the 2020/21 budget for extra staff and equipment which, although 
delayed due to COVID-19 pandemic, is starting to have a visible impact across 
the borough.

1.2 This report details a number of examples where positive action has been taken 
across the borough including:

1.2.1 Town centre improvements

1.2.2 General Street Scene Improvements

1.2.3 Borough-wide street cleansing compliments

1.2.4 Recycling ‘on-the-go’ trial 

1.2.5 Working with the Community

1.2.6 Enforcement

1.2.7 Future initiatives

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Town Centre Improvements

2.1 Members will recall that a Portfolio Performance Update covering Operational 
Services Projects was shared at committee on Wednesday, 23rd September 2020 
which detailed the recruitment of six additional Street Cleansing staff to fulfil the 
commitment to deliver a town centre street cleansing service seven days a week 
from 7:00am till 6:00pm.

2.2 The new cleansing staff have been working to ensure that the main streets within 
the town centre are cleaned more often and the litter bins are emptied more 
frequently. These streets include New Road, King Street, High Street and 
Windmill Street.

2.3 The new deep cleansing machine is having a significant impact on the condition of 
the town centre. The capability of the deep cleaning machine to remove ingrained 
chewing gum, grime and pollution can be seen in the photographs below. 

             

2.3.1 The first phase of the cleansing schedule has covered New Road & King 
Street. Subsequent phases will go on to cover, Windmill Street, the High 
Street, Clive Road, Civic Forecourt and Community Square.

2.3.2 Whilst this deep cleaning has been ongoing the “Deep Clean” Team have 
continued to attend to jet wash hotspots including the alleys in the High 
Street and to remove any graffiti which appears across the borough.

2.3.3 Once the initial deep clean has been completed a new schedule of street 
washing will be implemented to keep the paving in good condition.

2.4 Refurbishment works are being carried out on the Big Belly solar compactor bins 
to ensure their longevity and to improve their appearance as part of the street 
scene.

2.5 Works have included the installation of new ‘bubble tops’ for the Big Belly bins to 
improve the appearance of the units and to ensure that the solar panel continues 
to be protected from the elements. 

Page 10



3

2.6 The performance of the Big Belly bin batteries are monitored centrally through an 
online dashboard and the batteries are replaced as required. 

2.7 New ash trays have also been ordered to replace the existing ones to ensure that 
they are all in a good condition for users to dispose of their cigarette butts. 

2.8 Street scene is more than just litter on the floor and the condition of the paving. A 
programme of reviewing the amount and condition of the street furniture in the 
town centre is currently underway. Once this review has been concluded, a plan 
to improve and maintain the town’s street furniture will be implemented.

3. Street Scene Improvements

3.1 The Street Cleansing Team work hard to keep the streets free of litter and fly-
tipping, however weeds and grass growing through the pavements has a massive 
impact on the general feel and appearance of an area.

3.2 The Kent County Council weed spraying programme carried out on roads and 
pavements has not been having a sufficient impact for a few years now, so our 
team has invested in a new weed-ripper machine which makes the removal of 
weeds easier and more efficient.

3.3 The streets and paved areas across the borough where weeds have been a 
problem in the past have been identified and a new schedule of weed removal has 
been set-up.

3.4 The new programme covers many different areas of the borough and the pictures 
below show the positive impact that the new machine is having on the street 
scene across the borough. 

Larkfields - Northfleet

          

Page 11



4

             The Hive Shopping Parade - Northfleet

       

       St James Avenue - Gravesend

       

Page 12



5

        

             
           Rochester Road

3.5 Other areas yet to be tackled include Mackenzie Way, Ifield Way and Doria Drive.

4. Borough-Wide Cleansing Compliments

4.1 Our Street Cleansing Operatives are our greatest asset in our work to keep 
Gravesham clean. As well as taking pride in the borough, many of our operatives 
take great personal pride in the work that they do on a daily basis and take pride 
in the service that they deliver.

Page 13



6

4.2 A photograph of two of our operatives carrying out their work with pride can be 
seen below.

                             

4.3 The Street Cleansing Team has received a number of compliments from residents 
in recent months praising the work carried out by our Street Cleansing Operatives.  
A sample of the comments are shown below.

4.3.1 “I'd like to compliment the street cleaner / footpath-weed-removal operative 
who has been working around the Lennox Road / Grange Road area over 
the past 3 days. He has been very painstaking to get every last scrap of 
weed and the road and footpaths now look so much better. Thank you for 
keeping this service going and thanks to him for being cheerful and 
thorough in his work.”

4.3.2 “I have to compliment our street cleaner, he is very studious in his efforts 
to keep our street clean. Also clearing the grass that grows out of the 
pavement. I thanked him personally, and mentioned that someone keeps 
leaving their garden waste outside my gate. He organised it being 
collected. It’s nice to see someone that takes pride in his job, one that 
most people would not consider a job that should be done with pride.”

4.3.3 “I just want to give praise to your x 2 refuse collectors who came this 
morning to pick the rubbish up on the corner of Ingoldsby/Rose Avenue. 
They work so hard in keeping the area clean and are always so very polite.

They display a really positive work ethic and are a great asset to the 
Council!”

4.3.4 “I just wanted to say what a fantastic job was done to clear the fly tipping in 
Church Walk, Gravesend on 19th May. No sooner had it been dumped 
than it vanished. Great job, many thanks.”

4.4 We very much appreciate this positive feedback from the public and we listen to 
customers and our Street Champion volunteers who have suggestions about how 
we can improve our service and the local environment.

Page 14



7

4.5 We also value the insights and suggestions of our frontline operatives. To 
capitalise on their enthusiasm and commitment we are preparing a new staff 
suggestion scheme to capture useful intelligence that will enable further cleansing 
and service improvements to complement our work to deliver a Gravesham to be 
proud of. 

5. Recycling ‘On-the-Go’ Trial

5.1 Members will recall that an Operational Services report covering the recycling ‘on-
the-go’ trial at St Andrew’s Gardens was shared at Operational Services 
committee on Wednesday, 23rd September 2020.

5.2 The main objective of trial of recycling ‘on-the-go’ at St Andrew’s Gardens is to 
enable the quality of recyclate collected to be monitored and bin signage to be 
refined before expanding the scheme to other Gravesham parks and open 
spaces, if successful.

5.3 The new litter bins and dual-compartment litter & recycling bins were delivered to 
our Brookvale Depot on 15th October 2020 and the installation of the bins was 
completed on 28th October 2020. A selection of images of the new bins in-situ can 
be seen below.

                     

Page 15



8

                    

                  

Page 16



9

5.4 A daily monitoring sheet has been prepared to enable the operatives who empty 
the bins to record fill-levels and contamination levels. This data will then be 
recorded and analysed to determine the most effective bin emptying frequency. 
Signage and stickers to prevent further contamination of the recycling waste 
stream, should contamination issues arise, will also be prepared based on the 
findings of this analysis.

5.5 After an appropriate interval of monitoring has taken place, a report will be 
prepared outlining the results of the trial and our plans for the continuation of the 
litter bin replacement programme and the expansion of our recycling ‘on-the-go’ 
scheme to other Gravesham parks and open spaces.

6. Working with the Community

6.1 In recent years the Council has worked closely with the local community to 
improve the cleanliness of the borough by developing a large network of litter 
picking volunteers. This close working relationship has continued with the Great 
British September Clean and the new Street Champions initiative, building on the 
ongoing enthusiasm demonstrated by local residents to work with the Council to 
improve their local environment.

6.2 Great British September Clean - After the cancellation of the annual Great British 
Spring Clean in March 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, socially distanced 
clean-ups took place between 11th and 27th September as part of the Great 
British September Clean.

6.2.1 The Keep Britain Tidy initiative encourages local communities to come 
together to tackle litter in their local area.

6.2.2 To ensure that all litter picks complied with current Government guidance 
in relation to COVID-19, amended guidance was issued with litter picking 
kits to ensure the health and safety of all participants.

6.2.3 Gravesham Borough Council supported community clean-up events by 
loaning litter picking kits, providing orange litter sacks and hand sanitizer 
and by removing the waste collected by volunteers.

6.2.4 Despite the restrictions on the size of groups and the number of 
participants, 65 volunteers took part and 151 sacks of litter were collected 
during 11 socially-distanced community clean-ups in Gravesham 
throughout September. Some photographs of the waste collected by 
volunteers in individual clean-ups can be seen below:

Page 17



10

                        

             

6.2.5 The work done by the volunteers has made a huge difference to the areas 
they live in and has inspired some to register to become Street Champions 
in order to help to tackle accumulations of litter in their local area all year 
round.

6.3 The Adopt a Street - The Street Champions initiative continues to attract new 
volunteers. There was a marked increase in volunteer registrations during the 
Great British September Clean as residents saw others in their locality 
participating in community clean-up events.

6.3.1 To date, there has been a ‘soft’ launch of the scheme, including 
advertising in editions of the ‘Your Borough’ magazine and a new webpage 
to replace the previous community litter picking webpage. 

Page 18



11

6.3.2 Further publicity and a social media campaign has been planned, although 
we have been cautious about the extent to which the scheme has been 
promoted in order to ensure that social distancing guidelines can continue 
to be safely observed.

6.3.3 To date, the scheme boasts 186 Street Champions, consisting of both 
individual volunteers and group members. There has been an 89.8% 
increase in the number of volunteers involved in the initiative since 
January 2020.

6.3.4 The Street Champions have pledged to ‘adopt’ 163 streets, alleyways and 
open spaces to date and as awareness of the initiative becomes more 
widely known, we anticipate that the number of adopted locations will also 
continue to increase.

6.3.5 Despite the changing weather conditions, community clean-up events 
continue to be arranged and supported by Gravesham Borough Council. 

6.3.6 We are currently looking at appropriate ways to facilitate a greater role for 
Members to play in the scheme through the creation of ‘Ward Co-
Ordinator’ roles.

7. Enforcement

7.1 An important part of improving the street scene across the borough will be the 
enforcement of environmental legislation. The new Environmental Enforcement 
Team is already having a positive impact in dealing with people who feel that 
dropping litter or dumping rubbish is acceptable. 

7.2 The Enforcement Team has already been successful in dealing with the culprits of 
fly-tipping and the below incident in Brewhouse Yard led to the offender receiving 
a fixed penalty notice (FPN).

7.3 Following two separate reports of fly-tipping at Tymberwood Academy and 
Havelock Road in Gravesend, Safer Place Officers attended the locations and 
recovered evidence which enabled the offenders to be identified. 

Page 19



12

7.4 The Havelock Road offender was issued with a Fixed Penalty Notice and advised 
regarding the correct disposal of waste. Enquiries are on-going regarding the fly-
tip at Tymberwood Academy and it is likely that prosecution action will be taken. 
Both complainants have been updated and are very happy with the Gravesham 
Borough Council response and the outcome.

7.5 The three cases detailed above were publicised by the Communications Team via 
social and local media. The responses from social media were largely positive and 
complimentary. The Brew House Yard case was reported in the Kent Messenger 
and also attracted a number of positive comments. 

7.6 The Environmental Enforcement Team will continue to work closely with the 
Communications Team to publicise successful enforcement action. This is with a 
view to changing behaviour and attitudes towards environmental crime and to 
demonstrate that action will be taken against offenders.

7.7 The Waste Management Team and the Enforcement Team has already built a 
close working relationship so any fly-tip where evidence may be secured is visited 
by an enforcement officer. A procedure has been agreed to ensure that evidence 
can be captured without impeding or slowing down the remove of the rubbish that 
has been dumped.  A working group has been formed, which meets monthly to 
monitor our processes and improve services to ensure best practice.

8. Future Initiatives

8.1 To keep up the momentum, there are a number of initiatives planned for the 
future, these include:

8.1.1 Targeted Publicity Campaigns - Although the Council has borough-wide 
campaigns for littering and fly-tipping, we are looking at the option of 
targeted campaigns for different parts of the borough to better encourage 
behavioural change in these areas. This has already been done with 
communications produced for the borough’s main parks and open spaces.

8.1.2 Litter Bin Improvement / Recycling ‘on-the-go - The Street Cleansing Team 
are currently reviewing the types of litter bin which are used across the 
borough to ensure consistency. The plan is to have certain selected bins 
that would be used in certain environments to improve the look and feel of 
the borough.

8.1.3 Smarter Intelligence-Led Street Cleansing - The Street Cleansing Team is 
also looking at options to make the street cleansing service more efficient 
ensuring the resources are allocated to the right areas. The team is 
currently looking at improvements such as litter bin sensors which with 
smart technology would be able to identify the optimal frequency at which 
litter bins need to be emptied to optimise operational efficiency.

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 20



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environment Protection Act, the council has a duty to keep the streets 
clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The actions detailed in this report have improved street cleanliness. If such actions 
are discontinued then the Council may have to invest more resources in the 
cleaning of the borough.

Risk Assessment If action is not taken to improvement to the cleanliness of the borough, then the 
residents and visitors will have a negative view on the borough.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and delivering  
projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change Objective #1: Cleaner environment

Crime and Disorder There are no implications.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 21

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday 17 November 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Mary Bobby - Cemetery Manager

Subject: Allotment Bee Keeping Policy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members with the new Allotment Bee Keeping Policy for its consideration,  
comments and recommend its adoption

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to consider the Allotment Bee Keeping Policy attached at 

appendix two and recommend its adoption.

1. Background 

1.1 Allotment tenants have had a long tradition of beekeeping and the recent decline 
in honey bee numbers is of national and international concern. In declaring a 
climate emergency, as part of its efforts to prepare the borough to become carbon 
neutral by 2030, Gravesham Borough Council is keen to support beekeeping. The 
Council has identified the critical role that honey bees play in the biodiversity of 
allotment sites and in helping improve the wider living environment; a direct 
commitment of the Council’s Corporate Plan (2019-23).  

1.2 With the heightened interest in honey bees, there has been an increase in interest 
from allotment tenants to have bee hives.  It is intended that the attached policy 
will help manage the process for enabling bee hives to be safely installed within 
our allotments and ensure their ongoing management.

2. Allotment Bee Keeping Policy

2.1 Any allotment holder wishing to keep honey bees must obtain the Council’s 
permission and will be subject to the conditions detailed within the policy. Not 
every plot on every site will be in a suitable location for beekeeping and be able to 
provide adequate screening and distance from fellow plot tenants. 

Page 23 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 The policy sets out 

2.2.1 The beekeeper owes a duty of care 

2.2.2 Provide stand-by arrangements in case of an emergency

2.2.3 Ensure the bee hives are inspected annually by an experience beekeeper

2.2.4 Procedure for complaints

2.2.5 Level of insurance required

2.2.6 Training

2.2.7 Sale of Honey

2.2.8 Withdrawal of Consent

2.2.9 Diseases

2.3 Tenants applying to keep honey bees should notify neighbouring tenants of their 
request to keep honey bees on their plot both verbally and by a prominently 
displayed notice (designed by Council) on their plot. Such notices should be 
displayed for a minimum period of 28 days between April and September and 56 
days between November and March, indicating that a request to keep bees has 
been submitted to Gravesham Borough Council.

2.4 Once the new policy has been approved, then all current bee hives will be 
reviewed against the new policy

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 None

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 24



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Allotment Act 1950

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There is no financial request to the Council

Risk Assessment The policy details what rules the allotment holder must follow including being a 
member of the bee keeping association, have adequate training and have public 
liability insurance.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
Yes

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People : Improve the local environment

Climate Change Yes - Meets the action to increase bio-diversity across the borough

Crime and Disorder There are no implications.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 25

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

ALLOTMENT SITES: PERMISSION  
TO KEEP HONEY BEES

P
age 27



I N T R O D U C T I O N 

Allotment tenants have had a long tradition of 
beekeeping and the recent decline in honey bee 
numbers is of national and international concern. 
In declaring a climate emergency, as part of its 
efforts to prepare the borough to become carbon 
neutral by 2030 Gravesham Borough Council is keen 
to support beekeeping. The Council has identified 
the critical role honey bees play in the biodiversity 
of allotment sites and in helping improve the wider 
living environment; a direct commitment of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan (2019-23).  

Gravesham Borough Council is keen to support 
beekeeping and recognises that honey bees play a 
critical role in the biodiversity of allotment sites and 
the wider environment. 

Any allotment tenant wishing to keep honey bees 
must obtain the Council’s permission and is subject 
to the conditions detailed below. It should be 
noted that not every plot on every site will be in a 
suitable location for beekeeping and able to provide 
adequate screening and distance from fellow 
allotment tenant. 

Allotment Sites: Permission To Keep Honey Bees 03Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 28



04 Delivering a Gravesham to be proud ofAllotment Sites: Permission To Keep Honey Bees

CONDITIONS 

Siting of Hives 
• Hives will only be allowed on individual plots that are sited a suitable 

distance from any public road or path, or jointly used road or path 
within the allotment site and have been inspected and approved by 
an experienced beekeeper. Where hives are not allowed on the plot 
the Council will consider allocating a designated apiary area. 

• The site should be inspected and approved by an experienced 
beekeeper. 

• In line with British Beekeepers Association (BBKA) guidance, hives are 
NOT permitted if an allotment site is adjacent to a school or livestock 
holdings. 

• In line with BBKA guidance, the hive(s) on individual plots should 
be so sited that only the beekeeper can approach it or them. Bees 
operate on instinct, individual and shared. Hives should only be 
approached by a trained beekeeper. 

• The plot where the hives are to be situated must have simple 
screening, such as is used for windbreaks of fine mesh netting, dust 
screening, willow, hazel or maintained hedges of a minimum 2.0 
metres height to encourage the bees to fly high over neighbouring 
plots. 

• The number of hives on the site in total will be monitored and 
restricted to prevent over population of any one site. 

• The Council should be informed if the beekeeper increases the 
number of hives either in advance or as soon as is practical. The 
total may not exceed three per plot. 

• If the number of hives increases due to ‘splitting’ in order to control 
swarming, this should be a temporary arrangement if it exceeds 
the permitted maximum, with the number of hives reduced to the 
permitted maximum at the latest by the end of summer. 

• When opening up a hive 
for a health inspection 
or collection of honey, a 
notice advising there are 
open hives must be clearly 
visible for all allotment 
users. 

The first stage prior to 
approval is essential to identify 
a suitable location which 
should ideally be with an open 
aspect and with the entrance 
facing South East and shelter 
from North Easterly wind.

P
age 29



Allotment Sites: Permission To Keep Honey Bees 05Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Consultation 
Allotment tenants applying to keep 
honey bees should notify neighbouring 
tenants of their request to keep honey 
bees on their plot both verbally and 
by a prominently displayed notice 
on their plot. Such notices should be 
displayed for a minimum period of 28 
days between April and September 
and 56 days between November and 
March, indicating that a request to 
keep bees has been submitted to 
Gravesham Borough Council. Failure 
to do either of these will result in the 
Council automatically declining your 
application.  

On receipt of the application and 
following the consultation period, the 
Cemeteries & Allotments Manager will 
decide whether the allotment tenant 
will be granted permission to keep bees. 
The Council’s decision is final. 

Consent 
The beekeeper owes a duty of care to: 

• The public in the vicinity of the hives 

• Other allotment gardeners working 
nearby 

• Intruders (even though it is clear 
that their intention was to disturb 
the colony) 

The beekeeper must 
display a sign on their 
designated apiary area, 
stating honey bees are 
located there. 

The Council should ensure 
that members of the 
public registering for or 
joining an allotment with 
hives are notified 
at the earliest 
opportunity. 

Stand-By Arrangements 
The beekeeper must provide the Council with 
details (name, address, telephone number 
including a mobile telephone number) of 
adequate stand-by arrangements to deal with 
emergencies such as swarming during any 
absence or unavailability of the beekeeper. 
These details should be clearly displayed on 
the plot boundary. 

On no account should any person other than 
an experienced beekeeper try to take a swarm, 
whether the swarmed bees are placid or not. 

Inspection 
Hives will be inspected annually by an 
experienced beekeeper as part of the plot 
inspections. 

Complaints 
Gravesham Borough Council will investigate 
any complaints and in particular those 
with health and nuisance elements and in 
consequence may subsequently withdraw 
the permission via issue of a notice for the 
immediate removal of the hives.

P
age 30



06 Delivering a Gravesham to be proud ofAllotment Sites: Permission To Keep Honey Bees

Withdrawal of Consent 
Gravesham Borough Council may withdraw the permission at any 
time by giving notice to remove hives immediately if: 

• The permit holder contravenes any of the above conditions. 

• The permit holder contravenes any conditions within the 
Allotment Tenancy Agreement. 

• Substantiated information is received that requires a review of 
the arrangements. 

• A new allotment tenant takes a nearby plot then provides medical 
evidence that they are allergic to honey bee stings. However, 
we would expect any new tenant to be made aware of the hives 
before they accept the tenancy of a plot and if necessary, an 
alternative plot offered on an alternative site that does not have 
beekeeping. 

• Any costs resulting from withdrawal of consent shall be borne by 
the tenant. 

• If an allotment tenant no longer keeps their tenancy of an 
allotment plot, then he or she will no longer be permitted to 
keep bees anywhere on the allotment site and will be required to 
remove the hives before the tenancy of the plot terminates. 

Insurance
The beekeeper is required to hold a current insurance policy which 
provides specifically for beekeeping risks and includes Public 
Liability Insurance cover for a minimum of five million pounds 
(£5,000,000). Proof of adequate insurance cover at renewal will be 
required each year. 

We require potential beekeepers to become members of the 
British Beekeepers Association (BBKA) which may include such 
insurance cover. 

The beekeeper must annually provide the Council with copies of 
the renewed insurance certificate or if a member of the BBKA, 
proof of their current membership and evidence that this includes 
the required level of insurance cover. 

Training 

The beekeeper must have completed the Basic Beekeeping Course 
and gained the Basic Certificate. A copy of this must be provided 
with your application. 

Sale of Honey 
The beekeeper will not display notices that honey is available for 
sale on the allotment site or plot. 

P
age 31



PROCEDURE 

Potential beekeepers must consult the local 
beekeeping association and prepare a site plan 
for their plot or designated apiary. 

Beekeepers are to notify the Council of the intent 
to keep bees and consult with fellow allotment 
tenants - see Consultation period above. 

Potential beekeepers are required to attend a 
basic beekeeping course. 

Complete the application form and return to the 
Council with the out of hour’s arrangements and 
letter of support from the association.

Allotment Sites: Permission To Keep Honey Bees 07Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

The beekeeper is required to register all hives with the National Bee 
Unit’s (NBU) ‘Beebase’ part of the Department for Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). 

Guidance is available from their website:  
www.nationalbeeunit.com

If a beekeeper suspects their honey bees to have a Notifiable Brood 
Diseases such as European Foulbrood (EFB) or American Foulbrood 
(AFB) they should report the issue immediately to the National Bee 
Unit (NBU) to arrange for an inspector to assess the honey bees by 
contacting

 

National Bee Unit  
Sand Hutton 
York 
YO41 1LZ, UK  
nbu@apha.gov.uk 
0300 3030094 

If diseased bees are to be disposed, advice should be taken from 
the NBU on appropriate disposal methods or their local beekeeping 
association. NBU inspectors will supervise the destruction of bees 
and hives in the case of American Foulbrood (AFB) and if need be for 
European Foulbrood (EFB), and as needed in the case of imported pests. 

Local Beekeepers Association -  
www.gravesendbeekeepers.org.uk

DISEASES 

STEP 
1 

STEP 
2

STEP 
3 

STEP 
4 

P
age 32

http://www.nationalbeeunit.com/ 
mailto:nbu%40apha.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.gravesendbeekeepers.org.uk/


Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agreement and Conditions for keeping honey bees on _______________ Allotment Site

TENANT’S APPLICATION / ACCEPTANCE OF TERMS OF TENANCY 

All tenants are required to sign and return the following form agreeing to the Conditional 
Terms of Tenancy. 

I hereby accept and agree to abide by the additional Conditions of Tenancy for the keeping 
of honey bees. I confirm that I have agreed the location of the apiary and displayed the 
notice for the agreed period. I agree to adhere to all the good practice guidelines from BBKA. 

Allotment Site 

Name of tenant beekeeper (please print)

Address 

Home telephone number

Mobile telephone number 

Email address

Location of hive

Date signage was displayed on site
Date when signage consultation period ends 
(E.g. either 28 or 56 days)

Plot number of tenant 

Name of insurer 

Policy number 

Policy expiry date

Emergency contact details of another beekeeper for stand-by arrangements.

Name

Home telephone number 

Mobile telephone number

Name of Insurer

Policy number 

Policy expiry date

Page 35



                          

Check List 

EVIDENCE REQUIRED EVIDENCE ATTACHED 

Copy of beekeeping public liability insurance certificate 
BBKA Membership number and an entry in relevant yearbook 
or details of any local association of which you are a member 
Evidence that the tenant has attended or is currently attending 
a Basic Beekeeping course (copy of certificate) 
Contact details of stand-by arrangements of an alternative 
beekeeper who can be contacted in an emergency 
Site location plan 

Acceptance of Terms Tenancy 

All tenants are required to sign and return an application form agreeing to the Conditional 
Terms of Tenancy thus agreeing to provide all the above information, adhering to the terms 
and conditions and undertaking a probationary period of 12 months from the date below:

Tenant 1 Print Name: ______________________________

Signed: ________________________________________  Date: _____________________

Tenant 2 Print Name: ______________________________

Signed: _________________________________________ Date: ____________________

Please return all completed application forms and required evidence to:
Cemeteries & Allotments Manager
Gravesham Borough Council
Springhead Road
Northfleet
Kent
DA11 8HW

Page 36



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 17 November 2020

Reporting officer: Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager
Mandy Francis, Licensing Manager

Subject: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
1. To present Members with a draft of the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy and the proposed consultation methodology

Recommendations:
1. Members to consider the draft policy for consultation and advise on relevant 

amendments.

2. Members to note the policy consultation process as outlined and provide any 
comments in respect of the same.

1. Background

1.1 The overarching aim of the taxi and private hire licensing regime is to protect the 
public by ensuring that all drivers, vehicles and operators are licensed and 
regulated by local authorities in accordance with statutory provisions, primarily set 
out in the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and, where they exist, local policy 
requirements.

1.2 Although it is not a statutory requirement, the council has published a Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (approximately) every three years 
since January 2009; taking into account the Best Practice Guidance issued by the 
Department for Transport, the Regulators’ Code, the policies of other local 
authorities and any other relevant matters.

1.3 The fourth, and current, edition came into effect on 1 May 2018 and will expire on 
30 April 2021.

1.4 Hackney carriages (taxis) and private hire vehicles, their drivers and their 
operators have an important role to play in an integrated transport system.  They 
are able to provide services in situations where public transport is either not 
available, outside ‘normal’ hours such as in the evenings or at weekends, or for 
those with mobility difficulties.

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



2

1.5 Policy requirements that are unduly stringent could restrict the availability of taxi 
and private hire services, and consequently be detrimental to public safety.  It is 
therefore important to try and ensure that policy requirements are justified by the 
risks they aim to address and balanced against potential negative outcomes.

1.6 A successful balance will help the taxi and private hire trade develop successfully 
whilst providing safety and assurance to the public.  

1.7 The existence of a policy has proved to have been an effective tool for achieving 
this balance and for establishing and maintaining standards, protecting public 
safety, and ensuring consistency and transparency.

2. Proposed Revisions

2.1 In July 2020, the Government issued Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards under the Policing and Crime Act 2017, to which all Licensing 
Authorities must have regard in carrying out their licensing function.  

2.2 Whilst the focus of these standards is on protecting children and vulnerable 
adults, they are intended to benefit all passengers; primarily through ensuring the 
fitness and propriety of applicants and licence holders.

2.3 This 2021 revision therefore seeks to incorporate all of the standards set out 
within the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards where they are not 
already in place. 

2.4 Guidance from Information Commissioner’s Office has also confirmed that a 
licensing authority which mandates the installation of CCTV systems in taxis and 
private hire vehicles, as Gravesham has done since 2009, will be responsible for 
the data and therefore need to register and act as the data controller.

2.5 Following subsequent advice from the council’s Legal and Information 
Governance teams in light of this, it is therefore proposed that the installation of 
in-vehicle CCTV is made discretionary.

2.6 Whilst not a statutory requirement, it is also proposed that Disability Awareness 
training becomes and mandatory requirement for all new and existing licence 
holders. 

2.7 Also, in support of the council’s carbon neutral commitment, we propose to further 
strengthen our vehicle emissions limits by removing the option to licence vehicles 
meeting the Euro 5 emission standards, and instead only licence those which 
meet or exceed the Euro 6 standards (which the vast majority should do anyway 
by virtue of the council’s vehicle age restrictions). 

2.8 An in-depth review of the existing policy has been carried out by the Licensing 
Manager and Regulatory Services Manager to highlight areas of the policy that 
are considered to be in need of revision or removal, having particular regard to the 
matters outlined above. 

2.9 All proposed changes have been incorporated into the draft policy attached at 
Appendix 3 and are set out in the table contained in Appendix 2 to this report for 
ease of reference.

Page 38



3

3. Review of Policy

3.1 It is proposed that the revised policy, if approved by Members following 
consultation (as set out below), will come into effect on 1 May 2021 and remain 
valid for the extended period of five years, in accordance with the national 
standards, until 30 April 2026, unless it becomes necessary to make further 
revisions beforehand following changes to legislation or local circumstances, for 
example.  

4. Consultation

4.1   It is proposed to consult with the following:

 All current hackney carriage vehicle or driver licence holders licensed by 
Gravesham Borough Council

 All current private hire vehicle, driver or operator licence holders licensed by 
Gravesham Borough Council

 Kent Police

 Gravesham Community Safety Unit

 Kent County Council Highways department

 Kent County Council (Schools contracts department)

 Gravesham Access Group

 Gravesend Town Centre Management

 Borough Councillors

 Parish Councils

 Members of the Kent and Medway Regulatory Licensing Steering Group

 Members of the public through the council’s website

4.2 A consultation of at least four weeks is proposed.  Methods of consultation will be 
via the council’s website and by direct email and mail shots.

4.3 All incoming responses will be collated and entered onto a grid for consideration.

4.4 The Licensing Manager will conduct an evaluation of each response and give a 
recommendation, in consultation with the Regulatory Services Manager, as to 
whether or not to amend the policy statement and, if so, to what extent. 

5. Post-consultation

5.1 The grid and recommendations will be put before the Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee when it meets on 24 March 2021 for further, post-consultation, 
consideration.

5.2 Any proposed variations by Members of the Operational Services Cabinet 
Committee will then be incorporated into the revised Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy to create a final draft.

Page 39



4

5.3 Following consideration of the outcome of the consultation process and 
subsequent recommendations, the amended Policy will then be approved for 
adoption by the Portfolio Holder for Operational Services before publication. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 40



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is no legal requirement for a policy, however it is best practice.  This is 
different from the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 where a written 
policy is a legal requirement.

Rights of appeal are granted to all applicants and licensees who are aggrieved by 
any licensing decisions.

Under the Human Rights Act 1998 Members must consider the hackney carriage 
and private hire drivers’ right to “enjoyment of possession” under Article 1 of the 
First Protocol – Protection of Property and in determining a policy regarding the 
licensing of these individuals must balance this right with need to protect the public.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The cost of consultation and publishing an updated policy will be met from within 
existing budgets. 
The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy is not envisaged to place 
any new financial pressures on the Council

Risk Assessment Whilst each individual application will be judged on its own merits, a documented 
policy ensures a transparent and consistent approach to licensing that reduces the 
opportunity for challenge through the Courts.  Challenges to a particular decision 
are more likely to fail if the Council can demonstrate that it has adhered to its 
published policy and there was no reason to depart from it.  Any departure from the 
policy will be based on material evidence and will be documented giving clear and 
compelling reasons for such departure.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

 Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 41

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes - this revised policy seeks to strengthen requirements placed on licence
holders to meet provisions of the Equality Act 2010, continues to ensure that
Gravesham provides a suitably mixed fleet or wheelchair, and non-wheelchair, 
accessible vehicles to meet the needs of its community, and introduces a new
requirement for licence holders to attend disability awareness training.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Licensing links directly to Corporate Objective #1 People, and feeds into/supports 
Corporate Objective #3 Progress

Crime and Disorder There are obviously links to community safety in ensuring an adequate supply of 
properly licensed taxis as a safe mode of transport for the public, particularly when 
other public transport is unavailable and ensuring the safety of drivers and the trade

Digital and website 
implications

Continued assistance is required from the IT and Digital Teams to support the 
Licensing Services’ existing digital successes and ongoing, future digital aspirations 
to be amongst the most digitally advanced licensing services in the country for the 
mutual benefit of our licence holders, the public and the council.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Licensing regimes are largely designed to protect public safety.  The new Statutory 
Standards go even further to protect public safety, especially children and 
vulnerable adults, and these have been incorporated into this Policy revision.

Page 42



APPENDIX 2

TABLE OF SIGNIFICANT AMENDMENTS MADE TO DRAFT HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 2021-26

Policy Section No. and Title Policy Paragraph and 
Summary of Changes

Reasons

Executive Summary & 
Definitions

Updated to include reference 
to the Government-issued 
Statutory Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards 
published in July 2020

The majority of amendments 
to the policy are to 
incorporate the national 
standards to which all 
Licensing Authorities must 
have regard in carrying out 
their licensing function.

1 Introduction Para 1.2.3 added to provide 
overview on Statutory 
Standards

Statutory Standards

2 Vehicles and Proprietors 2.1 Types of Vehicle Licence 
– new section added 

2.5 Wheelchair Accessible 
Vehicles - updated to reflect 
increased % of WAVs in taxi 
fleet since the publication of 
the current policy from 15% 
to 20%.

2.6 Environmental 
Considerations - updated to 
reflect declaration of Climate 
Emergency and commitment 
to becoming a carbon neutral 
borough by 2030, and 
strengthening of emissions 
limits to Euro 6 or above.

2.8 Inspections - updated to 
reflect potential increase in 
frequency of inspections 
from annually to six-monthly

2.13 Smoking – updated to 
clarify that use of vaping/use 
of e-cigarettes is also not 
permitted in licenced 
vehicles

To provide additional clarity 

To demonstrate successful 
upwards trends that satisfies 
local need and justifies the 
retention of the associated 
policy requirements

To highlight this important 
issue, improve air quality, 
and pre-empt future changes 
to policy/vehicle specification 
requirements in support of 
the council’s carbon neutral 
commitment.

To better ensure that the 
high standards required and 
expected by the council are 
maintained

The use of e-cigarettes in a 
licenced vehicle could easily 
be perceived by the public as 
smoking, and be damaging 
to the reputation of the local 
trade.  In addition, it would 
be difficult for council officers 
to differentiate vaping 
‘smoke’ from tobacco smoke; 
making enforcement 
challenging.

Page 43



2.14 CCTV – removal of 
mandatory requirement (and 
associated removal of CCTV 
Code of Practice previously 
contained in Appendix C) in 
favour of discretionary 
option.

2.23 Proprietor Criminal 
Record Checks – new 
section requiring vehicle 
proprietors, who are not also 
drivers, to provide an 
acceptable basic disclosure 
check from the DBS as part 
of every annual licence 
application.

Guidance from Information 
Commissioner’s Office 
confirms that a licensing 
authority which mandates the 
installation of CCTV systems 
in taxis and private hire 
vehicles is responsible for 
the data and needs to 
register and act as the data 
controller, which is 
unmanageable due to cost 
and resourcing implications.  

Statutory standards

3 Drivers 3.2 Eligibility Criteria and 
Application Requirements – 
new requirements for 
applicants to:

 Attend disability awareness 
training and, if required, 
pass an associated test.

 Be suitably proficient in the 
English language, in terms 
of oral, reading and written 
skills. 

Expansion of safeguarding 
and CSE awareness training 
to include County Lines 
Exploitation awareness and 
allow further components to 
be added as may be required

3.10 Medical Examination – 
updated to reflect 
requirement for annual 
medical checks for all drivers 
aged 65 of over (instead of 
70) 

3.11 Criminal Record Checks 
– updated, notably to require 
enhanced disclosure checks 
every 6 months instead of 
every 3 years and, in order to 

To promote equality and 
enhance the calibre of 
licenced driver for the benefit 
of the travelling public by 
increasing their knowledge, 
awareness and 
understanding of a range of 
disabilities.
Statutory standards 

Statutory standards

In accordance with the DVLA 
Group 2 Medical Standards 
guidance.

Statutory standards 

Page 44



facilitate this, all existing 
drivers not already registered 
with the DBS Update Service 
to ensure they are, at their 
expense, by 1 July 2021 – 
and face suspension for non-
compliance.

3.12 Relevance of 
Convictions and Cautions – 
updated to refer to the 
adoption of the statutory 
standards (as a minimum)

3.13 Licensee self-reporting 
– new section requiring 
notification to the council 
within 48 hours of an arrest 
and release, charge or 
conviction.

3.22 Disability Awareness 
– new requirement for drivers 
are required by condition to 
attend an approved Disability 
Awareness session and pass 
an associated test to 
demonstrate a satisfactory 
understanding of the matters 
covered.

Statutory standards 

Statutory standards 

To raise standards and 
equality through enhanced 
knowledge and awareness

4 Private Hire Operators 4.6 Criminal Record Checks 
– updated, notably to require 
Operators and their staff to 
provide an acceptable basic 
disclosure check from the 
DBS annually and for all 
existing Operators not 
already registered with the 
DBS Update Service to 
ensure they are, at their 
expense, by 1 July 2021 – 
and face suspension for non-
compliance.

4.14 Use of passenger 
carrying vehicles (PCV) 
licensed drivers – new 
section relating to new 
conditions to inform 
customers where a 
passenger carrying 
vehicle/driver will be used in 
place of a private hire 
vehicle/driver

Statutory standards 

Statutory standards 

5 Application procedures No notable change N/A

Page 45



6 Determination of 
Applications

No notable change N/A

7 Grant and Renewal of 
Licences

No notable change N/A

8 Fares No notable change N/A
9 Taxi Ranks (a.k.a Stands) No notable change N/A
10 Lost Property No notable change N/A
11 Fees No notable change N/A
12 Payments No notable change N/A
13 Refunds, Transfers and 
Duplicate Copies

No notable change N/A

14 Disciplinary and 
Enforcement

No notable change N/A

Appendix A Vehicle Criteria Updated to reflect removal of 
Euro 5 emission standards 
and require Euro 6 or above 
only

In support of declaration of 
Climate Emergency and 
commitment to becoming a 
carbon neutral borough by 
2030

Appendix B Licensed Vehicle 
Conditions

Section 15 Smoking is 
updated to confirm vaping is 
not permitted

Section 18 CCTV is updated 
to direct those with optional 
CCTV in their vehicles to the 
Code of Practice for 
Surveillance Cameras and 
Personal Information from 
the Information 
Commissioner’s Officer

In support of 2.13 of main 
policy

In support of 2.14 of main 
policy

Appendix C Guidelines 
Relating to Fitness and 
Propriety

Significantly updated to 
reflect national standards

Statutory Standards – 
designed to raise standards 
and protect public safety by 
enhancing the fit and proper 
person test

Appendix D Licensed Driver 
Conditions

Updated to reflect 
new/amended policy 
requirements outlined above

Appendix E Penalty Points No notable change
Appendix F Private Hire 
Operator Conditions

Section 4 Bookings - 
updated to require Operators 
to keep more extensive 
records of bookings

Section 7 Restricted Private 
Hire Drivers and Vehicles – 
new section added 

Section 13 Change of Details 
– new section added 
requiring changes of name or 
address, or company details, 

Statutory Standards

To provide clarity and ensure 
that only work authorised by 
a restricted PH licence is 
passed to restricted PH 
drivers

To ensure records of 
licences are kept up to date

Page 46



to be notified to the council.

Section 17 Complaints – 
updated details of 
requirements placed upon 
Operators to report concerns 
and complaints about their 
drivers, etc. to the council

Section 19 Staff – new 
section relating to new 
requirements for Operator 
staff to have DBS checks 
and Operators to have a 
policy on employing ex-
offenders 

Section 20 - Use of 
passenger carrying vehicles 
(PCV) licensed drivers – new 
section to support 4.14 of 
main policy

Statutory Standards

Statutory Standards

Statutory Standards

Appendix G Compliance and 
Enforcement Policy

No notable change N/A

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE

LICENSING POLICY 2021-26

Page 49



2

Contents

Section 
Number

Section Page
Number

Executive Summary 5
Definitions 6

1 Introduction 7
1.1 Powers and Duties 7
1.2 National Guidance and Standards 7
1.3 Objectives 7
1.4 Consultation and Implementation 7
1.5 Compliance and Enforcement 8
1.6 Revisions and Updates 8
1.7 Data Protection 9

2 Vehicles and Proprietors 9
2.1 Types of Vehicle Licence 9
2.2 Vehicle Criteria 9
2.3 Conditions 9
2.4 Limitation of Numbers 10
2.5 Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 10
2.6 Environmental Considerations 12
2.7 Vehicle Testing (MOT Tests) 12
2.8 Inspections 13
2.9 Insurance 14

2.10 Plates 14
2.11 Dual Plating/Licensing 14
2.12 Advertising 14
2.13 Smoking 15
2.14 Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) 15
2.15 Protective screens 16
2.16 Seating 16
2.17 Limousines 16
2.18 Contract Vehicles 17
2.9 Courtesy Cars 17

2.20 Funeral Vehicles 17
2.21 Wedding Vehicles 17
2.22 Livery 17
2.23 Proprietor Criminal Record Checks 18
2.24 Application Procedures and Fees 19

Page 50



3

2.24 Determination of Applications 19
2.25 Grant and Renewal of Licences 19
2.26 Duration of Licences 19

3 Drivers 19
3.1 Types of Driver Licence 19
3.2 Eligibility Criteria and Application Requirements 19
3.3 Age 20
3.4 Driving Experience 21
3.5 Driving History 21
3.6 Right to Licence Checks 21
3.7 Knowledge Test 22
3.8 Practical Driving Assessment 22
3.9 Safeguarding 23

3.10 Medical Examination 23
3.11 Criminal Record Checks 24
3.12 Relevance of Convictions and Cautions 26
3.13 Licensee self-reporting 26
3.14 Licence History 26
3.15 Date of application 27
3.16 Application Procedures and Fees 27
3.17 Determination of Applications 27
3.18 Grant and Renewal of Licences 27
3.19 Duration of Licences 27
3.20 Licence Conditions 27
3.21 Carriage of Assistance Dogs 28
3.22 Disability Awareness 28
3.23 Professional Qualifications 29

4 Private Hire Operators 29
4.1 General Provisions 29
4.2 Application Procedures and Fees 29
4.3 Determination of Applications 29
4.4 Grant and Renewal of Licences 29
4.5 Duration of Licences 29
4.6 Criminal Record Checks 30
4.7 Licence Conditions 31
4.8 Record Keeping 31
4.9 Sub-contracting 31

4.10 Insurance 31
4.11 Name and Address of Operator 31

Page 51



4

4.12 Equality 32
4.13 Safeguarding 32
4.14 Use of passenger carrying vehicles licensed drivers 32

5 Application procedures 32

6 Determination of Applications 32

7 Grant and Renewal of Licences 33

8 Fares 33

9 Taxi Ranks (a.k.a Stands) 34
9.1 Ranks 34
9.2 Waiting on Ranks 34

10 Lost Property 34

11 Fees 35

12 Payments 35

13 Refunds, Transfers and Duplicate Copies 35

14 Disciplinary and Enforcement 35
14.1 Enforcement 35
14.2 Penalty Points Scheme 36

Appendix A Vehicle Criteria 37
Appendix B Licensed Vehicle Conditions 40
Appendix C Guidelines Relating to Fitness and Propriety 48
Appendix D Licensed Driver Conditions 58
Appendix E Penalty Points 63
Appendix F Private Hire Operator Conditions 69
Appendix G Compliance and Enforcement Policy 74

Page 52



5

Executive Summary

The overarching aim of the local authority taxi and private hire licensing regime is to protect 
the public by ensuring that all drivers, vehicles and operators are licensed and regulated in 
accordance with statutory provisions and local policy.

In July 2020, the Government issued Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards under 
the Policing and Crime Act 2017, to which all Licensing Authorities must have regard in 
carrying out their licensing function.  

Whilst the focus of these standards is on protecting children and vulnerable adults, they are 
intended to benefit all passengers; primarily through ensuring the fitness and propriety of 
applicants and licence holders.

The Council also recognises that licensing requirements that are unduly stringent could restrict 
the availability of taxi and private hire services, which have an important role to play in an 
integrated transport system, and consequently be detrimental to public interest and safety.

It is therefore important to try and ensure that requirements are properly justified by the risks 
they aim to address, and that they are balanced against potential negative outcomes.

This policy document aims to set out the Council’s views, objectives, requirements, 
procedures and standards in relation to the licensing of taxis and private hire vehicles, their 
drivers, and private hire operators in the borough of Gravesham with this in mind.

This 2021 revision seeks to build on the 2018 policy by:

 Adopting the standards set out within the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards, where they are not already in place. 

 Continuing to support digitisation of the Council’s services by utilising digital media 
platforms; both to improve, and provide enhanced remote access to, services in light 
of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. 

 Supporting the council’s declaration of a climate emergency and commitment to 
becoming a carbon neutral borough by 2030 by strengthening vehicle emission limits.

 Improving the knowledge and calibre of licence holders through such additional 
requirements as disability awareness training.

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards


6

Definitions

Throughout this document:

 ‘The Council’ or ‘the (licensing or local) authority’ means Gravesham Borough Council

 ‘Vehicle’ or ‘licensed vehicle’ means both a hackney carriage and private hire vehicle

 ‘Driver’ or ‘licensed driver,’ unless otherwise specified, means both a hackney 
carriage and private hire driver 

 ‘Taxi’ or ‘hackney carriage’ means a vehicle licensed under the Town Police Clauses 
Act 1847 to ply for hire throughout the district controlled by the Council.  

 ‘Private hire vehicle’ or ‘PHV’ means a vehicle licensed under the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to carry passengers for hire or reward by prior 
booking. 

 ‘Private hire operator’ or ‘PHOP’ or ‘operator’ means a person, partnership or 
company who makes provision for the acceptance of private hire bookings to 
undertake themselves or pass to others to undertake

 ‘The DfT’ means the Department for Transport, including previous names under 
which that department has been known

 ‘The 2010 Guidance’ or ‘the Guidance’ or ‘the best practice guidance’ or ‘the DfT 
guidance’ means The Department for Transport – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance, published in March 2010

 ‘The national standards’ means the Department for Transport’s Statutory Taxi and 
Private Hire Vehicle Standards published in July 2020.

 ‘DVLA’ means the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency

 ‘DVLA driving licence’ means a full UK driving licence issued by the DVLA

 ‘The Committee’ means the relevant Committee or Cabinet of the Council for 
determining matters relating to taxi and private hire licensing 

 ‘Proprietor’ means the owner of the licensed vehicle – this may not necessarily be the 
driver of the vehicle

 ‘TPCA’ or ‘the 1847 Act’ means the Town Police Clauses Act 1847

 ‘LG(MP)A’ or ‘the 1976 Act’ means the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 

Page 54



7

1. Introduction

1.1 Powers and Duties

1.1.1 This Statement of Licensing Policy has been written pursuant to the powers 
conferred by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which place a duty on 
Gravesham Borough Council to carry out its licensing functions in relation to 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, their drivers, and private hire operators.

1.1.2 In undertaking its licensing function, the Council will have regard to this and other 
relevant Council policies, the national standards and any statutory guidance 
published, The Regulators Code, the best practice guidance (see 1.2) and relevant 
legislation including, but not limited to, that referred to in 1.1.1.  This list is not 
exhaustive.

1.2 National Guidance and Standards

1.2.1 The Department of Transport (DfT) has national responsibility for hackney carriage 
and private hire legislation in England and Wales.  

1.2.2 The DfT produced Best Practice Guidance (‘the Guidance’) in 2006, which was later 
revised in 2010, to assist local authorities in this area of licensing.  The Guidance 
provides recommendations of good practice, but recognises that licensing 
authorities should produce their own policies and reach their own views in relation 
to specific licensing matters. Where appropriate, this policy takes the updated 
guidance into account.

1.2.3 In July 2020, the DfT issued Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards to 
which all Licensing Authorities must have regard in carrying out their licensing 
function.  Whilst the focus of these standards is on protecting children and 
vulnerable adults, they are intended to benefit all passengers; primarily through 
ensuring the fitness and propriety of applicants and licence holders. The national 
standards reflect the significant changes in the industry and lessons learned from 
experiences in local areas since the Best Practice Guidance, and consequently 
replace relevant sections; where there is a conflict between the national standards 
and the Best Practice Guidance, the national standards take precedence.

1.3 Objectives

1.3.1 In setting out its policy and carrying out its regulatory functions, Gravesham 
Borough Council seeks to promote its corporate objectives and:

1.3.1.1 The safety and wellbeing of the public and licensed drivers

1.3.1.2 The prevention of crime and disorder and the protection of customers and drivers 
from being the victims of crime

1.3.1.3 The provision of a professional and respected taxi and private hire trade

1.3.1.4 Accessibility to an efficient and effective public transport service

1.4 Consultation and Implementation

1.4.1 In drawing up this policy, Gravesham Borough Council consulted with:

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-plan


8

 Representatives of the Gravesham taxi and private hire trade
 Kent Police
 Gravesham Community Safety Unit
 Kent County Council Highways department
 Kent County Council (Schools contracts department)
 Gravesham Access Group
 Gravesend Town Centre Management
 Borough Councillors
 Parish Councils
 Members of the Kent and Medway Regulatory Licensing Steering Group
 Members of the public through the Council’s website

1.4.2 It is anticipated that, subject to a full consultation process and any consequent 
revisions, this policy will take effect from 1st May 2021. 

1.4.3 Upon implementation of this policy, the Authority expects licence-holders to comply 
with its terms immediately. 

1.4.4 It would not be practicable to produce a policy that seeks to cover every possible 
scenario and licensing requirement. This policy therefore seeks to focus on issues 
that have caused difficulty in the past, have come to light since the publication of 
the 2018 revision, or that otherwise seem of particular significance. 

1.4.5 In certain instances we may conclude that a provision in the policy or code is either 
not relevant or is outweighed by another provision.  We will ensure that any 
decision to depart from the policy or code will be justified, based on material 
evidence and documented giving clear and compelling reasons for so doing.

1.5 Compliance and Enforcement

1.5.1 This policy helps to promote efficient and effective approaches to regulatory 
compliance and enforcement that improve regulatory outcomes without imposing 
unnecessary burdens in accordance with the Regulator’s Code. 

1.5.2 In order to provide clarity and improve ease of use, Appendix G details the range of 
powers available to the Council and its authorised officers, and the enforcement 
action that may be taken as a result of a failure to comply, or demonstrate 
compliance, with any of the requirements contained within this policy or by law, as 
well as rights of appeal.

1.6 Revisions and Updates

1.6.1 This policy took effect on ***DATE TO BE CONFIRMED BUT ANTICIPATED TO 
BE 1st MAY 2021 SUBJECT TO CONSULTATION AND FORMAL APPROVAL*** 
and will remain in existence for a period of five years, during which time it shall be 
kept under review and revised as appropriate or after any significant legislative 
change.

1.6.2 Any substantial amendment to this policy, will only be implemented once authorised 
by the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council following appropriate 
consultation.  For the purpose of this section, any substantial amendment is defined 
as one that:

1.6.2.1 Will have a significant financial effect on licence holders;

Page 56



9

1.6.2.2 Will have a significant procedural effect on licence holders, or;

1.6.2.3 May not be perceived by the trade or public to be consistent with the objectives in 
section 1.3 of this policy

1.6.3 Any non-substantial amendments to this policy may be authorised by the Assistant 
Director (Communities).

1.7 Data Protection

1.7.1 In holding and exchanging information with other bodies/departments during the 
exercise of the functions under this Policy, officers are required to act in accordance 
with the provisions of the Acts, the Data Protection principles as set out in the 
General Data Protection Regulation, Data Protection Acts, and any duties under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000.

2. Vehicles and Proprietors

2.1 Types of Vehicle Licence

2.1.1 The council issue licences for three different types of vehicle:

2.1.1.1 Hackney Carriages (Taxis), which can stand on a taxi rank, be hailed in the street, 
or be pre-booked; either directly or through a licensed operator.

2.1.1.2 Private Hire vehicles, which can only be used for pre-booked journeys made 
through a licensed operator.

2.1.1.3 Restricted Private Hire vehicles, which are technically Private Hire vehicles whose 
use is restricted by condition(s) placed upon the licence.  In Gravesham, most 
Restricted Private Hire vehicles can only be used for contracted school runs. 

2.2 Vehicle Criteria

2.2.1 The Council has a wide range of discretion over the types of vehicle it can licence 
as hackney carriages or private hire vehicles.

2.2.2 Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles provide a service to the public so it is 
considered appropriate to set minimum standards, provided that they are 
reasonable and proportionate.

2.2.3 The DfT encourages licensing authorities to leave it open to the trade to put forward 
vehicles of their own choice, but which meet specified criteria. 

2.2.4 The Council has amended its vehicle criteria in this 2021 revision in order to 
continue to provide the trade with more flexibility and freedom of choice, and take in 
to account emerging technologies and vehicle types/designs, whilst ensuring that 
both required and desired standards continue to be met. 

2.2.5 The criteria that apply to all licensed vehicle applications are given in Appendix A.

2.3 Conditions

2.3.1 The Council is empowered to impose such conditions as it considers reasonably 
necessary in relation to the grant of vehicle licences and has set out a number of 

Page 57



10

conditions to assist licence holders to meet their legal obligations, ensure standards 
are maintained and help ensure the safety of passengers and drivers alike.

2.3.2 The conditions that apply to all licensed vehicles can be found in Appendix B.

2.4 Limitation of Numbers

2.4.1 No powers exist for licensing authorities to limit the number of private hire vehicles 
they licence; however section 16 of the Transport Act 1985 provides that the grant 
of a hackney carriage licence may be refused for the purpose of limiting the number 
of licensed hackney carriages “if, but only if, the local authority is satisfied that there 
is no significant demand for the services of hackney carriages (within the area to 
which the licence would apply) which is unmet.”

2.4.2 In the event of a challenge to a decision to refuse a licence on these grounds, it 
would therefore have to be established that the authority had been satisfied that 
there was no significant unmet demand.

2.4.3 The Guidance advises that the matter should be approached in terms of the 
interests of those who use the services of such vehicles and that, where a Council 
takes the view that a local quantity restriction can be justified in principle, it should 
establish the level of unmet demand and the quantity limit by means of a survey.

2.4.4 Many licensing authorities, including Gravesham Borough Council, do not currently 
impose any quantity restrictions on hackney carriage vehicles, which is in keeping 
with the DfT guidance. 

2.4.5 In the event of this changing and the Council commissioning an unmet demand 
survey, the cost would likely need to be funded by an increase in licence fees. 

2.5 Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles

2.5.1 The Government is committed to an accessible public transport system in which 
disabled people can enjoy the same opportunities to travel as other members of 
society.

2.5.2 Taxis and private hire vehicles are a vital link in the accessible transport system and 
it is important that disabled users have access to them, and confidence that drivers 
and operators will assist and carry them at no extra charge, as is required by law.

2.5.3 The Council therefore maintains a list of designated wheelchair accessible vehicles 
on the Council’s website in accordance with section 167 of the Equality Act 2010.  

2.5.4 The drivers of the vehicles listed must comply with the requirements under section 
165 of the same Act in relation to the provision of assistance to, and safe and 
comfortable carriage of, wheelchair users at no extra charge.  

2.5.5 In 2012, the Council introduced requirements that:

2.5.5.1 Newly licensed taxi drivers who wished to licence a hackney carriage vehicle would 
need to ensure that it was a wheelchair accessible vehicle (WAV), and;

2.5.5.2 That, from 1 May 2017, hackney carriage vehicle licences would only be granted for 
wheelchair accessible vehicles.

Page 58

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/wheelchair-accessible-vehicles/overview


11

2.5.6 A mid-term review of these provisions resulted in the implementation date of the 
requirement referred to in 2.5.5.2 being moved back to 1 May 2020.

2.5.7 The 2007 document, Improving Access to Taxis published by the European 
Conference of Ministers of Transport and the International Road Transport Union 
recognized that “it is impossible to provide for 100% of wheelchair users without 
reducing the operational viability of the vehicle for the taxi operator and other 
passengers.  There will be a small proportion of people who, because of the size of 
their wheelchair or the nature of their disability are unable to access taxis or indeed 
other forms of mainstream public transport.  They will continue to need specialist 
door-to-door services.”

2.5.8 The Council notes this point and considers that an appropriately proportioned, 
mixed fleet of WAVs and non-WAVs is the most suitable way to provide a service 
that is, as far as reasonably practicable, accessible to all.  This does not mean that 
all customers will be able to access an appropriate vehicle from/to all locations at all 
times; however this applies to all users.

2.5.9 Following the introduction of the requirements referred to in 2.5.5, the proportion of 
wheelchair accessible taxis in Gravesham increased from approximately 2.5% to 
15% at the time of publishing the 2018 Policy, and has since increased further to 
20%, which appears to adequately meet the needs of wheelchair users, non-
wheelchair users, and those with mobility problems who do not require the use of a 
wheelchair in Gravesham.

2.5.10 In light of the above, the Council remains of the view that the current approach to 
gradually increasing the proportion of wheelchair accessible taxis is appropriate. 
The Council would however encourage all drivers to consider disability when 
changing their vehicles.

2.5.11 In order to maintain and gradually improve the balanced nature of the licensed fleet, 
the Council will however continue to require all new hackney carriage drivers who 
wish to licence a hackney carriage vehicle to ensure that it is a purpose built or 
converted wheelchair accessible vehicle, capable of carrying the majority of 
passengers who travel in their wheelchair as well as people with other disabilities. 
Importantly, such wheelchair accessible vehicles must be able to accommodate a 
person whilst in a wheelchair and convey them in a safe and comfortable manner.  

2.5.12 For the avoidance of doubt, reference to ‘new hackney carriage drivers’ in 2.5.11 
includes:

2.5.12.1 Any person issued with a Gravesham issued taxi driver licence for the first time;

2.5.12.2 Any person issued with a Gravesham issued taxi driver licence following a period of 
being unlicensed for two or more years;

2.5.12.3 Those taxi drivers who became licensed since the introduction of the condition 
referred to in 2.5.5.1 on or after 1 May 2012 and who will therefore need to continue 
to licence WAVs only.

2.5.13 The Council notes that some new taxi drivers who fall within the scope of 2.5.12 
have sought to circumvent the requirements by driving a non-WAV licensed by 
someone else, which is neither in the spirit of the policy requirement nor in support 
of providing an accessible service to wheelchair users.

Page 59



12

2.5.14 In order to rectify this issue, the Council also requires all existing vehicle licence 
proprietors applying to licence or re-licence vehicles that will be driven at any time 
by a new hackney carriage driver, as defined in 2.5.12, to ensure that it is a WAV as 
defined in 2.5.12.

2.5.15 It is difficult to predict how many drivers of WAVs will enter or leave the trade; 
therefore this section of the policy will be kept under review.

2.6 Environmental Considerations

2.6.1 The Guidance suggests that licensing authorities may wish to consider how far their 
vehicle licensing policies can and should support any local environmental policies 
they have adopted, for example, by considering setting vehicle emissions 
standards, but bearing in mind the need to ensure that the benefits outweigh costs 
(in whatever form).  

2.6.2 In June 2019, the Council declared a climate emergency and committed to 
becoming a carbon neutral borough by 2030.  In working towards achieving this 
ambitious target, the council must consider the environmental impacts arising from 
its licensed taxis and PHVs, and seek to help reduce the resultant carbon footprints.  
This section, and the associated vehicle criteria, will therefore be kept under review.

2.6.3 The vast majority of vehicles, other than WAVs and limousines, should meet the 
Euro 6 standard (as a minimum) as a result of them having to be less than 7 years 
old at the time of first being licensed. 

2.6.4 In support the council’s efforts to reduce air pollution in Gravesham however, all 
vehicles licenced from the start date of this policy, other than stretched limousines 
and Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles will have to meet or exceed the Euro 6 
emission standards.

2.6.5 Emissions from taxis and PHVs can however also be further reduced by 
encouraging better maintenance of vehicles, such as by way of frequent MOT tests 
and inspections, and switching off engines when stationary or idling, particularly at 
taxi ranks.

2.6.6 The Council will keep this matter under review and continue to monitor published 
research, its air quality monitoring results and recommendations, best practice and 
Government guidelines, etc. with a view to specifying more stringent vehicle 
emission and/or inspection standards and promoting cleaner fuels in respect of 
licensed vehicles as soon as practicable.

2.6.7 The Council would however strongly encourage all applicants and existing licence 
holders to licence vehicles that are of an electric, hybrid, or other low emission type, 
subject to them meeting the other criteria set out in Appendix A as a minimum.  
Each application will be considered on its merits.

2.7 Vehicle Testing (MOT Tests)

2.7.1 The general fitness and roadworthiness of a licensed vehicle is, in part, determined 
by means of MOT tests.

2.7.2 The safe transport of passengers in taxis and PHVs is paramount.  Due to this, and 
the above-average mileage often carried out by taxis and PHVs compared to 
ordinary private vehicles, all vehicles over one year old are required to pass an 
MOT test every six months starting from their one year anniversary.  

Page 60



13

2.7.3 Failure to comply with this will impede the Council’s ability to be satisfied of the 
fitness of the vehicle, resulting in the likely suspension of the vehicle licence.

2.7.4 The Council no longer routinely requires MOT pass certificates to be provided.  
Instead, the Council will ordinarily check the MOT status of vehicles online via the 
GOV.UK website.  The Council may however nevertheless require MOT pass 
certificates to be provided in certain circumstances as determined by them.

2.7.5 The Council currently allows these routine MOT tests to be carried out at an 
authorised garage of the proprietors’ choosing in order to provide them with 
flexibility and consumer choice.  The Council may however, at any point throughout 
the duration of this policy, specify testing station(s) to be used, or not used, if 
considered appropriate. 

2.7.6 The elements checked at an MOT test can be viewed on the GOV.UK website at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/car-parts-checked-at-an-mot/car-parts-
checked-at-an-mot

2.8 Inspections

2.8.1 All vehicles will ordinarily require inspection before a new, renewed, transferred or 
amended vehicle licence will be granted in order to ensure that the vehicle is fit and 
meets our criteria.  Full details are provided within the vehicle pages of taxi and 
private hire applications and guidance section of the Council’s website.

2.8.2 In order to better ensure that the high standards expected by the council are 
maintained, in support of its corporate and policy objectives, and ensure their 
fitness, the frequency of routine inspections is intended to increase from annually to 
six-monthly (or other such intervals as may be specified) after the implementation 
date of this policy.  Any such inspections will be at the licence holders’ cost and 
carried out within the borough at such place as the council requires.  Changes will 
be notified to licence holders in advance and full details will be maintained on the 
council’s website.

2.8.3 In addition, vehicles may be inspected and tested at any reasonable time by an 
authorised officer of the Council or police for the purpose of ascertaining their 
fitness or, where applicable, the accuracy of their taximeters.  

2.8.4 For a vehicle to be considered as ‘fit’ it should comply with all conditions and 
requirements set out within this policy and legislation.

2.8.5 Where an authorised officer is not satisfied as to the fitness of a vehicle or accuracy 
of its taximeter, they may serve a notice requiring the vehicle to be submitted for a 
further test at the proprietor’s expense and suspend the vehicle licence until such 
time as the officer becomes satisfied of the same. Further information can be found 
in Appendix G.

2.8.6 The Council’s view is that for a vehicle to be considered as ‘fit’ it must comply with 
all applicable requirements set out within this policy and its appendices, in particular 
those in relation to MOT testing and compliance with the criteria and conditions 
found in Appendices A to C.

2.8.7 All vehicles should therefore, at all times, be kept at or above the standard required 
to pass an MOT test and comply with all applicable elements of the vehicle criteria 
and conditions found in Appendices A to C, or elsewhere in this policy.  Failure to 
do so is likely to result in enforcement action being taken.

Page 61

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/car-parts-checked-at-an-mot/car-parts-checked-at-an-mot
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/car-parts-checked-at-an-mot/car-parts-checked-at-an-mot
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/


14

2.8.8 It is a criminal offence to obstruct a Licensing Officer or any other authorised officer 
of the Council.

2.9 Insurance

2.9.1 All vehicles and their drivers must be appropriately insured at all times and 
certification must be provided to the Council to evidence this as required/requested.

2.10 Plates

2.10.1 In order to help identify their licensed status, all licensed vehicles, except for 
limousines (see 2.17) and those issued with an exemption (see 2.10.4), are 
required to display Council-issued plates externally on the rear of the vehicle at all 
times.  Hackney carriage plates are white, private hire vehicle plates are yellow and 
restricted private hire vehicle plates are green.  

2.10.2 Similarly, all licensed vehicles are also required to display a Council-issued ‘interior 
plate’ on the inside of the front windscreen or other such place as the council may 
reasonably require where it can be easily seen by passengers whilst travelling or 
when approaching a vehicle from in-front of it.

2.10.3 The ability to identify a licensed vehicle through the display of vehicle plates is 
important in terms of protecting both the public and trade; however there are limited 
occasions when their display might have the opposite effect, or adverse commercial 
implications.  The operation of chauffeured, executive and limousine vehicles is a 
case in point.  Identification of the vehicle as licensed may allow “high risk” 
passengers to be more readily targeted; putting both them and the driver at risk, 
and the display of plates may also deter some customers from using the service.

2.10.4 The Council may, in such circumstances, issue the proprietor of a private hire 
vehicle (only) with a notice exempting them from the requirement to display the 
plate(s) on their vehicle; either on a specified occasion or while the notice is carried 
in the vehicle, during which they will automatically also be exempt from the 
requirement to wear a private hire drivers badge.

2.10.4.1 It is intended that only a very small minority of private hire vehicles should have 
access to this exemption.  To that end, the Council will only consider issuing 
exemption notices where the vehicle is made by a luxury car-manufacturer, such as 
Rolls Royce or Bentley (the highest specification executive-type cars from other 
high-end manufacturers may also be considered) and the vehicle is in excellent 
condition inside and outside, with no visible damage or defects whatsoever.

2.11 Dual Plating/Licensing

2.11.1 No vehicle will be granted a licence by Gravesham Borough Council if it is licensed 
by another authority.  This is because a vehicle is unlikely to comply with the 
requirements of two separate licensing authorities, could cause confusion to 
members of the public and impede the Council’s ability to effectively regulate. 

2.12 Advertising

2.12.1 Due to risks in relation to such matters as false, misleading or out of date 
information, or association with individuals, brands, companies, services or 
products that could fall into disrepute, the Council does not permit commercial 
advertising (or any other advertising without the consent of the Council) on the 

Page 62



15

vehicles it licences other than the basic details of a private hire operator in 
accordance with the conditions set out in Appendix B.

2.12.2 Notwithstanding this, the Council may at any time require stickers, signage, 
advertisements, notices or similar to be displayed, as may be specified, in vehicles 
licensed by it for the purposes of promoting the objectives set out in 1.3 of this 
policy.

2.13 Smoking

2.13.1 Smoking is not permitted in any licensed vehicle by anyone at any time; irrespective 
of whether the vehicle is being used for work or private use.

2.13.2 A person commits an offence under the Health Act 2006 if they smoke, or allow 
someone to smoke, in a licensed vehicle.

2.13.3 Regulations made under the Health Act 2006 require all licensed vehicles to display 
at least one legible no-smoking sign in the vehicle.

2.13.4 The Council considers however that additional no-smoking signage should be 
displayed on the taxis and PHVs it licences in order to provide consistency and 
clarity to the public and, in doing so, reduce the likelihood of one of the offences 
referred to in 2.13.2 being committed and the consequential likelihood of conflict.

2.13.5 Notwithstanding that vaping/use of e-cigarettes is not included within the legal 
definition of smoking set out in the Health Act 2006, and PHE’s 2018 independent 
e-cigarette evidence review found that, to date, there have been no identified health 
risks of passive vaping to bystanders, the use of e-cigarettes in a licenced vehicle 
could easily be perceived by the public as smoking, and be damaging to the 
reputation of the local trade.  In addition, it would be difficult for council officers to 
differentiate vaping ‘smoke’ from tobacco smoke; making enforcement challenging.  
For these reasons, vaping/use of e-cigarettes is not permitted in licenced vehicles.

2.13.6 The conditions relating to no-smoking signage are contained in Appendix B.

2.14 Closed Circuit Television (CCTV)

2.14.1 The hackney carriage and private hire trade provide a valuable public service; 
especially late at night when other forms of public transport are no longer available.

2.14.2 Security for drivers and passengers is of paramount importance. The main areas of 
concern are:

 threats and assaults on drivers
 allegations of drivers assaulting or otherwise behaving inappropriately towards 

passengers
 customers leaving vehicles without paying
 allegations of theft associated with licensed vehicles
 safeguarding; especially in relation to children and vulnerable adults

2.14.3 CCTV cameras can be a valuable deterrent for such incidents and, as well as 
protecting the driver from unjustified complaints, help to:

 prevent crime
 identify the perpetrators of crime
 reduce the fear of crime 

Page 63



16

 increase the safety of drivers and passengers

2.14.4 In the light of the above the Council permits the installation of an approved CCTV 
camera system in all hackney carriage and private hire vehicles it licences.

2.14.5 The installation and operation of all CCTV systems must comply with the 
Surveillance Camera Commissioner’s Code of Practice and the Information 
Commissioner’s Code of Practice for Surveillance Cameras and Personal 
Information (or subsequent amendments or replacements).

2.15 Protective screens

2.15.1 In order to offer additional personal protection, drivers may wish to install a 
protective screen/shield around the driving seat.  There will be no objection to the 
installation of such screens/shields provided that, to the satisfaction of the Council, 
they:

 Are of a make, type and design approved by authorised officers of the Council
 Are not changed in any way from the original design and are free of damage
 Remain clear, clean and transparent
 Are free of scratches, clouding or stickers which could impede the drivers’ or 

passengers’ visibility
 Do not impede entry and egress or present a trip or other hazard to passengers
 Are installed and maintained in accordance with manufacturer’s specifications and 

recommendations.
 Do not impede the ability for clear, two way communication between the driver and 

any passengers.

2.16 Seating

2.16.1 The Council will only licence vehicles designed and constructed to carry between 4 
and 8 passengers.

2.16.2 The passenger capacity will ordinarily be determined by the V5C registration 
certificate information, but is ultimately at the discretion of the licensing authority.

2.16.3 Children are classed as one person for the purposes of passenger capacity; 
whatever the age.

2.16.4 Seating configurations on licensed vehicles must not be altered without notifying the 
Council - proprietors wishing to alter the number of passenger seats may apply to 
do so through the DVLA and subsequently by applying to change their vehicle 
licence details via the Council’s online form for updating a taxi or private hire 
licence.

2.16.5 Where emergency egress from a vehicle with two or more rows of rear passenger 
seats could be impeded by the seats in front, and individual seats are fitted, it may 
be necessary to remove a second row middle seat to permit improved egress; 
thereby reducing the maximum permissible passengers by one.  

2.17 Limousines

2.17.1 Licensing authorities are sometimes asked to licence stretched limousines as 
private hire vehicles. The Guidance suggests that such requests should be 
approached on the basis that these vehicles have a legitimate role to play in the 
private hire trade, meeting a public demand, and not therefore be excluded.

Page 64

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/update-taxi-private-hire-licence/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/update-taxi-private-hire-licence/overview


17

2.17.2 PHV licence applications for limousines which meet the relevant statutory criteria 
and those specified in Appendix A will therefore be duly considered on their merits.

2.17.3 All licensed limousines must adhere to the applicable conditions in Appendix B.

2.17.4 Because of the additional criteria and conditions applicable to limousines, the 
Council strongly recommends that anyone wishing to licence a limousine contacts 
the licensing authority before purchasing a vehicle so that advice can be provided 
as to whether the vehicle will be considered as eligible for licensing.

2.18 Contract Vehicles

2.18.1 Vehicles engaged on contracts lasting not less than seven days were previously 
exempt from PHV licensing requirements by virtue of s75(1)(b) of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  This ‘contract exemption’ was 
however repealed by s53 of the Road Safety Act 2006 with effect from January 
2008 resulting in the majority of vehicles which previously took advantage of this 
exemption requiring a licence.

2.18.2 In August 2011 the DfT published a guidance document to assist local licensing 
authorities determine which vehicles should be licensed in the PHV regime and 
which vehicles fall outside the PHV definition.

2.18.3 Whilst the Council will decide every application on its merits, the assessment as to 
whether or not vehicles operating as part of:- limousine; chauffeur/executive; 
dedicated event transport; ambulance; voluntary care and support worker; 
childminding; rental car company or garage courtesy lift; and prisoner transport, 
services require a PHV licence or not will include reference to this document.

2.18.4 The Council strongly advises anyone wishing to provide a service that may fall 
within one of the above named areas to contact the licensing authority for advice.

2.19 Courtesy Cars

2.19.1 Current case law supports the view that vehicles which are used as ‘courtesy cars’, 
i.e. for transporting customers to and from hotels, night-clubs, etc. are being 
provided for hire and reward in the course of business, irrespective of whether or 
not a charge is made for such service.  Those operating such ‘courtesy cars’ will 
therefore require an operator’s licence, and the vehicle(s) and driver(s) must also 
be appropriately licensed.

2.20 Funeral Vehicles

2.20.1 There is no requirement for a vehicle to be licensed where it is being used in 
connection with a funeral or is being wholly or mainly used by a person carrying on 
the business of a Funeral Director for the purpose of funerals.

2.21 Wedding Vehicles

2.21.1 A vehicle does not need to be licensed while it is being used in connection with a 
wedding and written certification from the Council of the relevant exemption claimed 
is not currently required.

2.22 Livery

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3985/phv-licensing-guidance.pdf


18

2.22.1 Some Council’s require taxis to conform to particular requirements in terms of livery 
and markings so that they can be easily identified. Such an imposition is not 
considered appropriate in this Council’s area. It is felt that that the visual distinction 
between taxis and PHVs can be achieved by the appropriate signage.  The Council 
does not therefore currently require that licensed vehicles be finished in a special 
livery or appearance, notwithstanding requirements set out in this policy document.

2.23 Proprietor Criminal Record Checks

2.23.1 As with driver licensing, the objective of vehicle licensing is to protect the public, 
who trust that the vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important 
therefore that licensing authorities are assured that those granted a vehicle licence 
also pose no threat to the public and have no links to serious criminal activity. 
Although vehicle proprietors may not have direct contact with passengers, they are 
still entrusted to ensure that the vehicles and drivers used to carry passengers are 
appropriately licensed and so maintain the safety benefits of the licensing regime.

2.23.2 Where a proprietor is not a Gravesham-licence driver, who is subject to the 
associated enhanced disclosure check requirements, the following provisions shall 
apply.  

2.23.3 Licensed vehicle proprietors, that are not licensed drivers, cannot be required to 
produce an enhanced DBS disclosure.  The national standards recommend however 
that licensing authorities should request a basic disclosure from the DBS and that 
subsequent checks are undertaken annually.

2.23.4 Given that vehicle licences are issued for a standard one year period, the council will 
require evidence of an acceptable basic disclosure check prior to the grant of each 
licence.  Consequently, the following requirements apply:

2.23.4.1 All applicants (whether first time or upon renewal) are to provide a completed Basic 
DBS Disclosure Application at their next point of application, register for the DBS 
Update Service upon receipt of their Certificate, which will be sent to them by the 
DBS, and give the Council ongoing permission and the information required to 
check the status of their certificate as part of each subsequent application (i.e. 
annually) or otherwise as considered appropriate. 

2.23.4.2 Where an applicant or licence holder has spent an extended period (three or more 
continuous months) outside the UK, a Certificate of Good Conduct will also be 
required in accordance with sections 3.12.16 to 3.12.19 inclusive.

2.23.4.3 Where the applicant is a company or partnership, these requirements shall apply to 
all directors, partners, and secretaries.

2.23.5 A reference covering, for example, all applicants’ financial records and/or business 
history may also be required, as determined by the Council.

2.23.6 Once a proprietor has registered for the Update Service they must remain 
registered, and give the Council permission to check the status of their certificate as 
considered necessary, for the duration of their time as a licensed proprietor with the 
Council.

2.23.7 The council may, at any point throughout the duration of this Policy, specify (by way 
of updating the relevant sections of its website) the way in which applicants can/must 
apply for their DBS certificates (e.g. via a 3rd party). Applicants will continue to be 
responsible for all costs associated with this.

Page 66



19

2.24 Application Procedures and Fees

2.24.1 Section 5 applies

2.25 Determination of Applications

2.25.1 Section 6 applies

2.26 Grant and Renewal of Licences

2.26.1 Section 7 applies 

2.27 Duration of Licences

2.27.1 Vehicle licences are granted for a period of one year as standard; however they 
may be issued for a lesser period of time if in the opinion of the Council it would be 
appropriate to do so.

3. Drivers

3.1 Types of Driver Licence

3.1.1 In order to drive a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle, the driver must also be 
licensed by the same Council.  

3.1.2 Gravesham issue Dual Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licences.  This 
licence enables the holder to drive Gravesham-licensed hackney carriages and/or 
private hire vehicles. 

3.1.3 Gravesham-issued private hire driver licences enable the holder to drive 
Gravesham-licensed private hire vehicles only.

3.1.4 A restricted private hire driver’s licence may also be issued for the purpose of carrying 
out school contract runs, or other limited and specified work, only in a Gravesham-
licensed restricted private hire vehicle.  Restricted private hire licences are, in effect, 
private hire licences that are subject to additional conditions restricting the type of 
work that they can carry out.  Those applying for a restricted private hire licence will 
therefore, unless otherwise specified, be subject to the same requirements and 
provisions that apply to other private hire applicants and licence holders.

3.2 Eligibility Criteria and Application Requirements

3.2.1.1 The Council can only grant a driver’s licence to someone who; has held a full driving 
licence for a minimum of 12 months prior to the date of application; has legal right to 
live and work in the UK as a taxi or private hire driver; and, in the Council’s opinion, 
is a ‘fit and proper’ person (See Appendix C for further details).

3.2.2 In order to be considered eligible to be granted a driver licence, the Council requires 
all applicants to:

3.2.2.1 Be at least 21 years of age

3.2.2.2 Have held a full DVLA, Northern Ireland, or other EEA state driving licence for at least 
12 months prior to the date of application 

Page 67



20

3.2.2.3 Have an acceptable driving history

3.2.2.4 Have a legal right to live and work in the UK as a taxi or private hire driver

3.2.2.5 Pass a specified Knowledge Test 

3.2.2.6 Pass an advanced practical driving assessment 

3.2.2.7 Attend safeguarding awareness training (which may include, but not be limited to, 
such elements as Child Sexual Exploitation and County Lines Exploitation 
awareness) and, if required, pass an associated test

3.2.2.8 Attend disability awareness training and, if required, pass an associated test.

3.2.2.9 Pass a Medical Examination to the ‘Group 2’ standard

3.2.2.10 Be suitably proficient in the English language, in terms of oral, reading and written 
skills. 

3.2.2.11 Be of reliable good character and have an acceptable history and criminal record as 
determined by the Council in accordance with this policy and its appendices, and 
having regard to any statutory guidance issued.

3.2.3 Applicants are required to submit such information as the Council considers 
necessary to enable their application to be determined. The Council therefore 
requires that every application for a licence to drive a hackney carriage and/or private 
hire vehicle must be accompanied, as a minimum, by evidence (as specified by, and 
to the satisfaction of, the Council) of the matters listed in 3.2.2 (and that applications 
that are incomplete will not be deemed to have been made until such time as they 
are completed).

3.2.4 Where an authorised officer of the Council or the police has any doubt as to an 
existing licensed driver’s eligibility, fitness, propriety or compliance with any of the 
requirements, they may require the driver in question to undergo/re-take and pass 
any element(s) considered necessary.

3.2.5 All prospective applicants should read the following sections, which explain each of 
the requirements summarised in 3.2.2 and 3.2.3 in detail, in conjunction with the 
application process set out on the driver licence application and guidance pages on 
the Council’s website and our Guidelines Relating to Fitness and Propriety in 
Appendix C, and contact the Licensing Team if they are in any doubt as to their 
eligibility or the application requirements, before progressing their application.

3.2.6 For the purposes of these requirements, a new applicant is deemed to be anyone 
applying for a licence for the first time or after a period of being unlicensed for a period 
of six months or more irrespective of their previous experience as a licence holder.  
However, ordinarily, only those applicants who have been unlicensed for a period of 
more than two years will need to re-sit and re-pass the knowledge test and practical 
driving assessment elements.

3.3 Age

3.3.1 Licensed drivers are responsible for the safety of the customer and require a 
mature attitude when dealing with those who may be vulnerable or have special 
needs.

Page 68

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licencehttps:/www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licence


21

3.3.2 Research shows that the combination of youth and inexperience puts younger 
drivers at a higher risk of crashing than older drivers; in general, their inexperience 
means they are less likely to spot hazards and their youth means they are more 
likely to take risks. 

3.3.3 Consequently, applicants must be at least 21 years old at the date of application.

3.3.4 No upper age limit is imposed provided that a driver can demonstrate that they are 
still medically fit to hold such a licence - see 3.10.  

3.4 Driving Experience

3.4.1 Applicants must have held a full driving licence for at least 12 months prior to the date 
of application. 

3.4.2 In order to ensure appropriate regulation of any penalty points issued by the courts 
in relation to road traffic offences, applicants who meet this requirement by virtue of 
an acceptable non-UK driving licence must obtain a full UK driving licence within 
twelve months of the grant of a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence.  

3.4.3 Failure to comply with this is therefore likely to result in formal action being taken to 
suspend the driver’s licence, pending compliance, as set out in our Compliance and 
Enforcement Policy found in Appendix G.

3.5 Driving History

3.5.1 Applicants must have an acceptable driving history.

3.5.2 This will be determined in line with our Guidelines Relating to Fitness and Propriety 
in Appendix C.

3.5.3 In order to allow the licensing authority to have sufficient access to applicants’ driving 
record, all new applicants must apply to the DVLA for the release of the requisite 
information as detailed on the Driver Licence - Apply or Renew webpage.

3.5.4 In addition, all applications (for both new licences and renewals) must provide a 
unique ‘check code’ obtained from https://www.gov.uk/view-driving-licence on their 
application form, and otherwise upon reasonable request, and give consent for the 
Council to access their DVLA driving history using the code supplied.

3.6 Right to a Licence Checks

3.6.1 From 1 December 2016, right to a licence checks became a mandatory part of the 
licensing regimes for taxis and private hire vehicles in order to better prevent illegal 
migrant working in this sector of the economy. 

3.6.2 The new provisions, brought about by the Immigration Act 2016, mean that licensing 
authorities are prohibited from issuing driver and operator licences to anyone who is 
illegally present in the UK or not permitted to work in this sector.

3.6.3 From 1 December 2016, applicants for driver and operator licences (new licences 
and renewals) must submit one or more of a number of specified original documents 
to show that they are in the UK lawfully and permitted to work as a private hire or taxi 
driver, or as an operator.

3.6.4 The full list of approved original documents can be accessed via our website.

Page 69

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licence/driver-licence-apply-or-renew/overview
https://www.gov.uk/view-driving-licence
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licence/driver-licence-apply-or-renew/overview


22

3.6.5 Anyone who produces a specified document demonstrating that there are no 
restrictions on their ability to live and work in the UK will only need to do so once; 
provided the Council retains a copy of the document(s).

3.6.6 Anyone with limited permission to be, or work, in the UK will need to produce a 
specified document each time they apply to renew or extend their licence, until such 
time as there is no restriction on their permission to be or work in the UK.

3.6.7 If an applicant’s immigration permission to be in the UK is time-limited to less than 
the statutory length for a driver or operator licence, the licence issued cannot be for 
a duration which exceeds that period. 

3.6.8 When the licence has been issued on the basis of a Certificate of Application which 
states that work is permitted, or that the applicant has an outstanding in-time Home 
Office application, appeal or administrative review, which has been verified by their 
Evidence and Enquiry Unit, the licence may be issued for a maximum period of six 
months from the date of the licence decision.

3.6.9 If the holder of a licence breaches UK immigration laws and commits an offence or 
receives a penalty, this will be grounds for the licensing authority to review, suspend 
or revoke a licence as set out in our Compliance and Enforcement Policy found in 
Appendix G.

3.6.10 If the Home Office cuts short or ends a person’s immigration permission (referred to 
as curtailment or revocation), any licence that a person holds which was issued on 
or after 1 December will automatically lapse. In these circumstances, the holder of 
the licence must return their licence to the Council. They will be committing a criminal 
offence if they fail to do so, punishable on conviction by a fine.

3.7 Knowledge Test

3.7.1 In order to maintain the high standard of service and knowledge that the Council 
expects of its licensed drivers, all new applicants are required to pass a Knowledge 
Test, which is subject to periodic revision, before they will be eligible to apply.

3.7.2 Full details can be found on the Council’s Knowledge Test web page.

3.8 Practical Driving Assessment

3.8.1 In order to help ensure both driver and passenger safety and comfort, all new 
applicants for a driver licence are required to demonstrate their driving proficiency 
by passing an advanced practical assessment, approved by the Council, prior to 
submitting an application.

3.8.2 All applicants required to undertake a practical driving assessment are solely 
responsible for arranging, booking, financing and paying for their test directly with 
one of the Council’s approved providers, details of which are given on the Council’s 
driver licence pages.

3.8.3 Where an authorised officer of the Council or the police has any doubt as to an 
existing licensed driver’s technical competency/driving ability, they may require the 
driver in question to re-take and pass the advanced practical driving assessments 
approved by the Council.

Page 70

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/street-knowledge-test/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licence


23

3.8.4 In the case of drivers using a wheelchair accessible vehicle, the assessment must 
include a wheelchair assessment.

3.8.5 All new applicants will be required to provide a copy of their pass certificate in order 
to demonstrate this requirement has been satisfied.  Provision is made for these to 
be attached to the online application forms.

3.9 Safeguarding

3.9.1 Licence holders provide a public service and have a duty of care to all customers 
and a responsibility to report concerns about someone who is vulnerable.  In order 
to reinforce this, drivers are required by condition to report any concerns about the 
safety or vulnerability of a passenger.

3.9.2 All applicants and existing drivers will also be required, at their expense, to attend 
an approved Safeguarding Awareness session, subsequent refresher training at 
intervals determined by the Council and, if required, pass an associated test to 
demonstrate a satisfactory understanding of the matters covered. Full details will be 
specified and maintained on the Council’s driver licence webpages.

3.10 Medical Examination

3.10.1 The Guidance advises that medical checks should be made on each driver to the 
‘Group 2’ standard before a licence is granted or renewed, and that any driver with 
insulin treated diabetes should also be required to meet the additional criteria 
applicable to drivers of C1/Group 2 vehicles specified by the DVLA. 

3.10.2 The Council has adopted this best practice and therefore requires all applicants to 
have a medical examination carried out by their own GP, or another doctor with 
access to their medical records, as detailed and in accordance with the requirements 
set out on the Driver Licence - Apply or Renew pages of Council’s website.  Those 
with insulin treated diabetes will also need to satisfy the additional criteria referred 
to in 3.10.1.
 

3.10.3 Completed medical reports presented to the Council by holders of current 
passenger carrying vehicle (PCV), large goods vehicle (LGV) or taxi/private hire 
driver licences issued by other Councils will also be considered on the strict proviso 
that they are under 3 months old at the date of application and are to the Group 2 
standard.

3.10.4 Except for in extenuating circumstances as determined by the Council, medical 
reports must be less than 3 months old at the date of application and will ordinarily 
be accepted as valid for a period of three years from the date on which they were 
carried out for licence holders up to the age of 65 unless, in the opinion of the 
examining medical practitioner, more frequent assessments are required.  

3.10.5 Existing licensed drivers under 65 years old will therefore need to submit a new 
medical report with their three-yearly renewal application.

3.10.6 Annual medical checks will be required by all drivers aged 65 of over.

3.10.7 Applicants are responsible for arranging and paying for their medical examinations.

3.10.8 Licence holders must advise the Council of any change in their health that may 
affect their driving capabilities as soon as reasonably practicable.

Page 71

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licence
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/diabetes-mellitus-assessing-fitness-to-drive#insulin-treated-diabetes
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licence/driver-licence-apply-or-renew/overview


24

3.10.9 Where there is any doubt as to the medical fitness of an applicant or existing driver, 
the Council may require them to undergo further medical examination(s) by a doctor 
appointed by the Council at their own expense.

3.10.10 Where there remains any doubt about the fitness of any applicant the Council will 
make a final decision in the light of all medical evidence available. 

3.11 Criminal Record Checks

3.11.1 Licensing authorities are entitled to request enhanced criminal record checks with 
checks of the barred lists to be carried out for the purpose of assessing an 
applicant’s suitability to obtain or hold a driver licence.

3.11.2 The Council views such checks as an essential tool for helping assess a person’s 
fitness and propriety prior to the grant or subsequent renewal of a driver licence, 
and at any point throughout the duration of a licence.

3.11.3 In order to reduce the burden and uncertainty of carrying out such checks via hard 
copy applications every three years, from 1 May 2018 the Council introduced a 
phased requirement for all existing drivers to sign up to the DBS Update Service, 
and give the Council permission to check the status of their certificate as 
considered necessary, in perpetuity, from their next point of application (as well as 
for all new applicants).

3.11.4 The national standards recommend that such checks are now routinely carried out 
via the Update Service every six months.

3.11.5 In accordance with  this, the council requires:

3.11.5.1 All new applicants to provide a completed Enhanced DBS Disclosure Application 
(see 3.11.6) at the point of their initial application, register for the DBS Update 
Service upon receipt of their Certificate, which will be sent to them by the DBS and 
give the Council ongoing permission and the information required to check the 
status of their certificate every six months or otherwise as considered appropriate. 

3.11.5.2 All existing drivers who are not already registered with the DBS Update Service to 
provide a current (less than 3 months old at the date of application) Enhanced DBS 
Disclosure Certificate (see 3.11.6), register for the DBS Update Service and give 
the Council ongoing permission and the information required to check the status of 
their certificate every six months or otherwise as considered necessary, by no later 
than 1 July 2021.  Any driver who fails to do so will be subject to suspension or 
other enforcement intervention as appropriate.

3.11.6 The Council is required to state the position being applied for (i.e. taxi driver or 
private hire driver) on the DBS application forms before they are submitted which, in 
part, determines the depth of the check.  Applicants will receive the outcome of the 
check on an ‘Enhanced DBS Certificate’ sent to their home address which will 
confirm the position applied for as stated on the application and which they will 
need to provide to the Council, as the Council will not receive a separate copy.  For 
this reason, the Council will only accept enhanced DBS certificates obtained from 
an application made through itself or, alternatively, through another licensing 
authority provided that the certificate is less than 3 months old at the date of 
application and clearly states the position applied for as taxi driver or private hire 
driver, as appropriate. The Council will not accept enhanced DBS checks obtained 
in relation to any other purpose or profession or by any other means nor will it 
accept any that have been carried out by any other external Agency.

Page 72



25

3.11.7 Once a driver has registered for the Update Service they must remain registered, 
and give the Council permission to check the status of their certificate as 
considered necessary, for the duration of their time as a licensed driver with the 
Council.

3.11.8 Anyone who fails to register for the Update Service or maintain continuous 
registration as required will be subject to enforcement action, including suspension 
until such time as the situation has been rectified to the Council’s satisfaction i.e. until 
they have applied for a further Enhanced DBS check through the Council at their 
expense in order that they can apply/reapply to join the Update Service within the 
required timescales as set out by the DBS.

3.11.9 The Council will check the status of a drivers DBS certificate via the Update Service 
as part of the renewal application process, and at any other time considered 
appropriate during the validity of that persons licence.

3.11.10 Where a status check reveals that the individual’s certificate remains current, that 
person’s criminal record check will ordinarily be deemed as satisfactory.

3.11.11 Where a status check reveals that the individual’s certificate is no longer current, that 
person’s criminal record check will be deemed as unsatisfactory, they may be subject 
to enforcement intervention, and they will need to apply for a new Enhanced DBS 
check through the Council and provide their certificate to the Council as explained in 
3.11.6.  

3.11.12 The council reserves the right to require any licence holder to take such steps as are 
required to provide a new DBS certificate if needed.

3.11.13 Details of how to sign up to the Update Service can be found on the GOV.UK 
website.

3.11.14 Applicants are responsible for paying all fees.

3.11.15 If the licence is granted and relevant information is later revealed on a disclosure 
certificate then that licence will be subject to review. 

3.11.16 The DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas therefore a DBS check may 
not provide a complete view of an applicant’s criminal record if they have lived 
outside the UK.

3.11.17 Due to this, and in order to allow the Council to make a more informed decision 
when considering a licence application, all applicants who have spent an extended 
period (three or more continuous months) outside the UK  will also need to obtain a 
criminal record check from the country(ies) they have lived in. This is commonly 
referred to as a 'Certificate of Good Conduct/Character.'  

3.11.18 Applicants should note that the application process for obtaining a Certificate of 
Good Conduct varies from country to country – further information can be found on 
the GOV.UK website.  

3.11.19 Certificates of Good Conduct must be authenticated, sealed by the relevant 
embassy or consulate, and issued in English (a certified translation is also 
permitted). 

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update-service
https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


26

3.11.20 The Council is bound by rules of confidentiality and will not divulge information 
obtained to any third parties.  Information arising from disclosures will be kept only 
for as long as necessary and then destroyed.

3.11.21 The council may, at any point throughout the duration of this Policy, specify (by way 
of updating the relevant sections of its website) the way in which applicants can/must 
apply for their DBS certificates (e.g. via a 3rd party). Applicants will continue to be 
responsible for all costs associated with this.

3.12 Relevance of Convictions and Cautions

3.12.1 In April 2018, the Institute of Licensing (working in partnership with the Local 
Government Association, National Association of Licensing and Enforcement 
Officers and Lawyers in Local Government) published Guidance on determining the 
suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney carriage and private hire 
trades.

3.12.2 It was hoped that widespread adoption of the standards presented in the guidance 
would achieve a level of consistency, with public safety at the forefront, when 
considering applications for taxi and private hire licences and prevent ‘licence 
shopping’ where an individual refused in one area is subsequently granted a licence 
in another area with less onerous requirements.

3.12.3 The national standards effectively mirror most of those set out in the 2018 
guidance; placing them on a statutory footing.

3.12.4 In accordance with the requirement to have regard to the national standards, and in 
support of the council’s view that public safety is of paramount importance, the 
council has adopted the national standards (set out in Annex A) and incorporated 
them into the council’s ‘Guidelines Relating to Fitness and Propriety’ which can be 
found in Appendix C and which the Council will refer to when considering the fitness 
and propriety of applicants and licence holders.

3.12.5 Standards already contained in the council’s policy that are more stringent than 
those set out in the national guidance have been retained. 

3.12.6 Notwithstanding the above, each case will be considered on its merits.

3.13 Licensee self-reporting

3.13.1 Licence holders are required to notify the council in writing via email to 
licensing@gravesham.gov.uk within 48 hours of an arrest and release, charge or 
conviction of any sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and 
any motoring offence. 

3.13.2 An arrest for any of the offences within this scope will ordinarily result in a review by 
the council as to whether the licence holder is fit and proper. 

3.13.3 A failure by any licence holder to disclose a matter referred to in 3.13.1 that the 
council is subsequently advised of may be seen as behaviour that questions 
honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome 
of the initial allegation.

3.14 Licence History

Page 74

mailto:licensing@gravesham.gov.uk


27

3.14.1 The Local Government Association commissioned the development of a national 
database of taxi and PHV driver licence refusals, suspensions and revocations 
(“NR3”), which became operational in April 2018.

3.14.2 The database, developed and hosted by the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN), 
allows councils to record details of where a driver’s licence has been refused, 
revoked or suspended, as well as to check applicants against the database. 

3.14.3 This will help prevent individuals deemed to be not fit and proper in one area from 
going to another area and securing a licence by not disclosing their previous 
licensing history; something that undermines public safety and confidence in the 
licensing regime and the authorities that administer it.  

3.14.4 The council support the use of this database for the reasons outlined above and 
may therefore utilise it to record details of where a driver’s licence has been 
refused, revoked or suspended, as well as to check applicants against the 
database. 

3.14.5 Such checks may be carried out when considering an application and be used to 
inform the council’s decision as to whether or not to grant the licence to which the 
application relates. 

3.14.6 Each case will be considered on its merits; however, in general, the council will be 
less likely to grant a licence to a person who has previously had a licence refused, 
suspended or revoked. 

3.15 Date of application

3.15.1 For the purposes of clarity, all references to the date or point of application in section 
3 of this Policy are considered by the Council to be when the applicant submits, and 
pays the relevant fee for, their application after having satisfied all other associated 
application requirements.

3.16 Application Procedures and Fees

3.16.1 Section 5 applies

3.17 Determination of Applications

3.17.1 Section 6 applies

3.18 Grant and Renewal of Licences

3.18.1 Section 7 applies 

3.19 Duration of Licences 

3.19.1 Driver licences are granted for a standard period of three years; however they may 
be granted for such lesser period, specified in the licence, as the council thinks 
appropriate in the circumstances of the case. Driver licences may expire (i.e. be 
suspended) mid-term due to such matters as the expiration of their DVLA licence or 
right to work.  In such instances, drivers will need to apply to continue their licence 
via the Council’s online form and provide evidence of their new DVLA licence or 
continued right to work.  

3.20 Licence Conditions

Page 75

https://my.gravesham.gov.uk/en/AchieveForms/?form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-7d3003e8-ceda-4704-8799-12e08106a0ec/AF-Stage-42698260-fa4e-40f6-b95d-65689860479b/definition.json&redirectlink=%2Fen&cancelRedirectLink=%2Fen&consentMessage=yes


28

3.20.1 The Authority is empowered to attach such conditions to a private hire driver’s licence 
as are considered necessary.  These are set out in Appendix D.

3.20.2 It is not permitted to attach conditions to a hackney carriage driver’s licence; however, 
since all Gravesham issued dual hackney carriage and private hire driver licences 
enable both hackney carriages and PHVs to be driven, hackney carriage licence 
holders are required to comply with the same conditions under the private hire 
‘element’ of their licence.  

3.20.3 For clarity, the private hire driver conditions apply at all times to both private hire 
drivers and dual licensed hackney carriage and private hire driver licensed drivers; it 
is not acceptable to claim that they do not apply to hackney carriage drivers when 
they are carrying out hackney carriage work since they are, at all times, working under 
a dual licence. 

3.20.4 It could be argued that many of the requirements prescribed within the council’s 
hackney carriage bye-laws are effectively hackney carriage driver’s licence 
conditions.  The Council’s bye-laws were, however, enacted many years ago and do 
not therefore impose controls over many aspects of a driver’s conduct when operating 
a hackney carriage vehicle.  Amending bye-laws is a complex and lengthy process 
with inherent restrictions.  It is, accordingly, not proposed to seek such amendments 
as part of this review process.  

3.20.5 It is considered that the conditions set out in Appendix D are reasonable, necessary 
and proportionate for all licensed drivers.

3.20.6 In accordance with the above, the penalty point system detailed in Appendix E is not 
a condition of licence.  It is, however, a transparent and consistent method for 
assisting the Council to determine whether or not a driver meets the ‘fit and proper 
person’ test.

3.21 Carriage of Assistance Dogs

3.21.1 All licensed drivers must comply with the relevant requirements set out in sections 
168 and 170 of the Equality Act 2010, which place duties on taxi and private hire 
drivers to carry assistance dogs and allow them to remain with their owner, and not 
charge any extra for doing so. 

3.21.2 Additionally, all licensed drivers must make reasonable adjustments to 
accommodate disabled users, including those with vision loss, for example by 
assisting with entry into the vehicle and ensuring they do not discriminate.

3.21.3 Drivers who have a medical condition that is aggravated by exposure to dogs may 
apply to the licensing authority for an exemption from these duties on medical 
grounds.  On production of suitable medical evidence from the driver’s own 
registered General Practitioner (GP), a certificate of exemption will be issued to the 
driver and the nominated vehicle. This must be displayed in the vehicle at all times 
the driver is working. Unless the certificate of exemption is available in the vehicle, 
the exemption will not apply.

3.22 Disability Awareness

3.22.1 Licence holders provide a public service and have a duty of care to all customers.  
In order to reinforce this, drivers are required by condition to attend an approved 
Disability Awareness session and pass an associated test to demonstrate a 
satisfactory understanding of the matters covered. Full details will be specified and 

Page 76



29

maintained on the Council’s driver licence webpages.  The training must be 
completed by applicants at the time of applying and completed by existing drivers 
by 1 September 2021.

3.23 Professional Qualifications

3.23.1 Whilst it is currently not a mandatory requirement for existing or prospective drivers 
to obtain a professional qualification, for example, the Level 2 Certificate in 
Introduction to the Role of the Professional Taxi and Private Hire Driver, the Council 
would encourage them to do so in order to support and enhance their knowledge 
and understanding, and facilitate a better customer experience.

4. Private Hire Operators

4.1 General Provisions

4.1.1 The primary objective in licensing private hire operators is the safety of the public, 
both in the vehicles and at the operators’ premises.

4.1.2 Any person who wishes to operate a private hire service utilising one or more 
private hire vehicles must apply to the Council for a private hire operator’s licence. 

4.1.3 Individual hackney carriage drivers operating under their own or a trading name as 
a sole trader are not required to hold a private hire operator’s licence.

4.1.4 A private hire vehicle may only be dispatched to a customer by a private hire 
operator who holds an operator’s licence.  Such a licence permits the operator to 
make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a PHV.

4.1.5 A private hire operator must ensure that every private hire vehicle is driven by a 
person who holds a private hire driver’s licence.

4.1.6 All three licences (private hire operator’s licence; private hire driver’s licence; 
private hire vehicle licence) must be issued by the same licensing authority.

4.1.7 Notwithstanding the licensed vehicle conditions specified in Appendix B, operators 
may only advertise their business under the operating name specified on their 
licence.

4.2 Application Procedures and Fees

4.2.1 Section 5 applies

4.3 Determination of Applications

4.3.1 Section 6 applies

4.4 Grant and Renewal of Licences

4.4.1 Section 7 applies 

4.5 Duration of Licences

4.5.1 Private hire operator licences are granted for a period of five years; however they 
may be issued for a lesser period of time if in the opinion of the Council it is 
appropriate to do so.  The Council will therefore routinely issue five-year licences, but 

Page 77

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/driver-licence


30

may grant a one-year licence where the applicant provides justification to the 
satisfaction of the Council as to why one should be granted at the time of submitting 
their application. 

4.5.2 Private hire operator licences are issued for operators with either five or less, or more 
than five, private hire vehicles  Applicants will therefore need to select the correct 
option when submitting their application based on the number of private hire vehicles 
that they have, or intend to have, on their books at the time of application.  The 
licence, if granted, authorises private hire vehicles up to the number proposed and if 
an operator wishes to add to their fleet above that number a new operator’s licence 
would have to be applied for.  

4.6 Criminal Record Checks

4.6.1 As with driver licensing, the objective in licensing private hire vehicle operators is to 
protect the public, who may be using operators’ premises and trusting that the drivers 
and vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important therefore that licensing 
authorities are assured that those that are granted a private hire vehicle operator also 
pose no threat to the public and have no links to serious criminal activity. Although 
private hire vehicle operators may not have direct contact with passengers, they are 
still entrusted to ensure that the vehicles and drivers used to carry passengers are 
appropriately licensed and so maintain the safety benefits of the driver licensing 
regime. 

4.6.2 Where an operator is not a Gravesham-licence driver, who is subject to the 
associated enhanced disclosure check requirements, the following provisions shall 
apply.  

4.6.3 Private hire operators, that are not licensed drivers, cannot be required to produce 
an enhanced DBS disclosure.  The national standards recommend however that 
licensing authorities should request a basic disclosure from the DBS and that 
subsequent checks are undertaken annually. Consequently, the following 
requirements apply:

4.6.3.1 All new applicants must provide a completed Basic DBS Check Certificate at the 
point of their initial application, register for the DBS Update Service upon receipt of 
their certificate, which will be sent to them by the DBS, and give the Council 
ongoing permission and the information required to check the status of their 
certificate every year or otherwise as considered appropriate. 

4.6.3.2 All existing operators who are not already registered with the DBS Update Service 
must provide a current (less than 3 months old at the date of application) Basic DBS 
Check Certificate, register for the DBS Update Service and give the Council 
ongoing permission and the information required to check the status of their 
certificate every year or otherwise as considered necessary, by no later than 1 July 
2021.  Any operator who fails to do so will be subject to suspension or other 
enforcement intervention as appropriate.

4.6.3.3 Where an applicant or licence holder has spent an extended period (three or more 
continuous months) outside the UK, a Certificate of Good Conduct will also be 
required in accordance with sections 3.12.16 to 3.12.19 inclusive.

4.6.4 Where the applicant is a company or partnership, these requirements shall apply to 
all directors, partners, and secretaries.

Page 78



31

4.6.5 A reference covering, for example, all applicants’ financial records and/or business 
history may also be required, as determined by the Council.

4.6.6 Once an Operator has registered for the Update Service they must remain 
registered, and give the Council permission to check the status of their certificate as 
considered necessary, for the duration of their time as a licensed Operator with the 
Council.

4.6.7 The council may, at any point throughout the duration of this Policy, specify (by way 
of updating the relevant sections of its website) the way in which applicants can/must 
apply for their DBS certificates (e.g. via a 3rd party). Applicants will continue to be 
responsible for all costs associated with this.

4.7 Licence Conditions

4.7.1 The Council can impose such conditions on an operator’s licence as it considers 
reasonable, necessary and proportionate.  These are set out in Appendix F.

4.8 Record Keeping

4.8.1 Operators must keep records in respect of all bookings, vehicles and drivers for a 
period of at least one year as set out in Appendix F, and make them available to 
any authorised officer of the Council or a police officer upon request. 

4.9 Sub-contracting

4.9.1 Section 55A of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, inserted 
by the Deregulation Act 2015, permits operators licensed by the Council to sub-
contract a private hire booking to another operator licensed by the Council or to any 
other licensed private hire operator holding a private hire licence granted by another 
local authority. 

4.9.2 Operators who sub-contract a booking to, or accept a sub-contracted booking from, 
another operator must also record such bookings in accordance with the conditions 
set out in Appendix F.

4.10 Insurance

4.10.1 It is considered appropriate for the Council to check that appropriate public liability 
insurance has been taken out for premises that the public can have access to.

4.10.2 Before an application for a private hire operator’s licence, where the trading address 
will be open to the public at any time, is granted, the applicant must produce evidence 
that they have taken out appropriate public liability insurance.

4.11 Name and Address of Operator

4.11.1 Upon grant of an operator’s licence the Council will specify the address from which 
the operator may operate and the business name of the operator.  

4.11.2 Notwithstanding the licensed vehicle conditions specified in Appendix B, operators 
should only advertise their business under the name and address shown on their 
licence.

4.11.3 In the event of an operator changing their personal and or business name and/or 
address they shall, within seven days of such change taking place, notify the 

Page 79



32

Council and apply for an updated licence (if required) via the online form found on 
the Council’s website.

4.11.4 The Council will not grant an operator’s licence for an operator with an operating base 
that is outside the Council’s area.  This is to ensure that proper regulation and 
enforcement measures may be taken by the authority and is not intended to be a 
restraint of trade.

4.11.5 Planning consent may be required and all applicants must ensure that they obtain all 
the correct and necessary permissions before trading.

4.12 Equality

4.12.1 Operators must familiarise themselves with all requirements placed upon them 
under the Equality Act 2010, and ensure that both they and their staff comply with 
them at all times.

4.13 Safeguarding

4.13.1 Section 3.9 applies in relation to operators as it does to drivers.

4.14 Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers

4.14.1 PCV licensed drivers are subject to different checks from taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensed drivers as the work normally undertaken, i.e. driving a bus, does 
not present the same risk to passengers. Members of the public are entitled to 
expect when making a booking with a private hire vehicle operator that they will 
receive a private hire vehicle licensed vehicle and driver. 

4.14.2 Conditions are therefore attached to operator licences to ensure that:

4.14.2.1 Customers are to be fully informed where a PSV and/or PCV licensed driver will be 
required to fulfil their booking, and of the different checks PCV licensed drivers are 
subject to (i.e. that they are not required to have an enhanced DBS check), and;

4.14.2.2 The informed consent of the customer is required before a driver who holds a PCV 
licence and the use of a public service vehicle (PSV) are dispatched to undertake a 
private hire vehicle booking

5. Application procedures

5.1.1 All applications must be submitted and paid for using the Council’s online forms.

5.1.2 Application procedures, guidance, requirements, fees and links to the online 
application forms for each type of licence can be accessed via the Council’s 
website.

5.1.3 Any information provided by an individual will only be used for purposes connected 
with their application.  Information will only be further used or transferred to other 
organisations and individuals as the law permits or requires.

6. Determination of Applications

6.1.1 Only fully and properly completed applications, submitted using the Council’s online 
forms that are accompanied by the requisite fee and satisfactory evidence of having 

Page 80

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/


33

met/completed the relevant eligibility criteria and application requirements, will be 
deemed as complete and processed/considered.  

6.1.2 All complete applications will be determined on their individual merits and on a case 
by case basis in accordance with this policy.

6.1.3 In the case of driver and operator licence applications, the assessment will include, 
amongst other things, consideration being given as to whether the applicant is a fit 
and proper person to hold a licence, taking into account cautions, convictions, and 
fixed penalty notices, whether spent or unspent, and history as a licence 
holder/applicant, but only in so far as they are relevant to an application for a 
licence.

6.1.4 The Council will aim to process and determine complete licence applications within 
two weeks from the date of submission and contact applicants once determined, or 
sooner if any documentation/information appears to be missing/incorrect. 

7. Grant and Renewal of Licences

7.1.1 The grant of a licence is conditional upon all eligibility and application requirements 
being satisfied and, in the case of driver and operator licence applications, there 
being no adverse information that would render the applicant not ‘fit and proper’ in 
the opinion of the Council.

7.1.2 All complete renewal applications should be submitted at least two weeks before the 
expiration of the applicants’ current licence.

7.1.3 The Council will endeavour to remind existing licence holders of when their licence 
expires, and when any documentation is due, by email and/or text; however the 
onus to diarise this and submit their documentation and/or application(s) in good 
time ultimately rests with the applicant/licence holder.  Failure to provide 
documentation and/or an application on time due to not receiving a reminder from 
the Council will not therefore be accepted as grounds for an extension.

7.2 If an application is received late the applicant may be unlicensed for a period of time 
during which they will be unable to work/operate/use their vehicle for licensable 
work.

8. Fares 

8.1.1 Hackney carriage fares, set by the Council, are a maximum and can be negotiated 
downwards by the hirer.  

8.1.2 Gravesham Borough Council considers it good practice to review the fare scales at 
regular intervals and will therefore do so approximately every 24 months.

8.1.3 In reviewing the fare tariff the Council will consult with the trade and follow the 
procedures in the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

8.1.4 When determining the level of fares, consideration will be given as to what it is 
reasonable to expect the travelling public to pay as well as the need to give drivers 
an incentive to provide a cost-effective service at the times it is needed.

8.1.5 Fares can be negotiated prior to the commencement of the journey in both private 
hire vehicles and hackney carriages.

Page 81



34

8.1.6 To protect the fare paying public from overcharging, as well as to protect the drivers 
from complaints, the Council operates a taxi fare tariff .

8.1.7 A table of the authorised fares will be provided to each hackney carriage licence 
holder, which must be displayed in their vehicle(s) so that it is easily visible to all 
hirers and/or made available upon request.

8.1.8 These requirements in relation to fares do not apply to private hire vehicles.

8.1.9 A hackney carriage driver must, if requested by the passenger, provide a written 
receipt for the fare paid.

8.1.10 The Guidance also recognises that there is a case for allowing any hackney carriage 
operators who wish to do so, to make it clear by advertising that they charge less 
than the maximum fare.

9. Taxi Ranks (a.k.a Stands)

9.1 Ranks

9.1.1 A number of ranks for hackney carriages have been designated within the 
Gravesham Borough Council area.  At the time of this policy being published, they 
are located at:

New Road/Bath Street
Gravesend Railway Station (Rathmore Road side)
Rear of St. George’s Centre

9.2 Waiting on Ranks

9.2.1 It is an offence for any person to cause or permit any vehicle other than a hackney 
carriage to wait on any stand for hackney carriages.  Drivers of hackney carriages 
may only wait on a stand whilst plying for hire or waiting for a fare; drivers who park 
on a stand and leave their vehicle unattended are committing an offence.

9.2.2 Drivers waiting at hackney carriage ranks are expected to do so in an orderly manner, 
remain in the vehicle, and proceed along the rank promptly and in order.

10. Lost Property

10.1 Due to limited resources, neither the police nor the Council accept lost property.

10.2 Drivers in possession of lost property are instead required to notify the Council’s 
licensing team of their finding within 24 hours and hold on to the lost property for 14 
days, during which they should make all reasonable attempts to reunite the owner 
with their property and must return it to its owner, or a person legitimately claiming it 
on their behalf, if the opportunity arises.  If, after 14 days, the property has not been 
reclaimed, the driver may dispose of it in a legal and responsible manner.

10.3 Owners of lost property are therefore advised to contact the Council’s Licensing 
Team and the driver and/or operator of the vehicle they travelled in as soon as 
possible after leaving their belongings in a licensed taxi or private hire vehicle.

Page 82

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/general-information/taxi-hackney-fares


35

11. Fees

11.1.1 The Guidance does not deal with the issue of licensing fees at all.  It is, however, 
generally recognised that the fees set for all hackney carriage and private hire 
licences should be such as to ensure that the costs of the service, including the cost 
of issue and administration, will so far as possible be met from fee income.

11.1.2 It is, on the other hand, not lawful for the Council to seek to make a profit from licence 
fees that are within its discretion.  In particular, with regard to the fees charged for 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicle and operator licences, the legislation 
provides that these should be sufficient to cover the costs of inspecting the vehicles, 
providing hackney carriage stands and administering the control and supervision of 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles.

11.1.3 All locally set fees will be reviewed annually, or otherwise as required, as part of the 
budgetary process and licence holders will be notified of any changes.

11.1.4 The current table of local fees and charges can be viewed on our website.

12. Payments

12.1.1 All applications must be made using the online forms found within the taxi and private 
hire licensing pages of the Council’s website, which require payment to be made 
using a debit or credit card at the time of submission.

13. Refunds, Transfers and Duplicate Copies

13.1.1 In the case of any licence where the licence holder surrenders their licence prior to 
the expiry date, the Council will make a refund in respect of the whole months of the 
unexpired portion of the licence, after deduction of the fee incurred for processing the 
application.

13.1.2 In common with most types of licence, an appropriate fee will be paid to cover the 
administrative costs associated with the transfer of a licence

13.1.3 Where the Council receives a request for a duplicate or updated copy of any 
previously issued licence, an appropriate fee will apply to cover the associated costs.

14. Disciplinary and Enforcement

14.1 Enforcement

14.1.1 It is recognised that well-directed enforcement activity by the Authority benefits not 
only the public but also the responsible members of the hackney carriage and private 
hire trades. The DfT accepts that the resources devoted by licensing authorities to 
enforcement will vary according to local circumstances. They remind authorities, 
however, that it is desirable to ensure that hackney carriage and private hire 
enforcement effort is at least partly directed to the late night period, when problems 
such as touting tend most often to arise.

14.1.2 In pursuance of its objective to encourage responsible hackney carriage/private hire 
businesses, the Council will operate a firm but fair disciplinary and enforcement 
regime. With a view to balancing the promotion of public safety with the need to permit 

Page 83

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/fees-and-charges


36

individuals to safeguard their livelihood without undue interference the Council will 
only intervene where it is necessary and proportionate to do so.

14.1.3 The Compliance and Enforcement Policy set out at Appendix G will be used to ensure 
that its enforcement effort is reasonable, transparent and well directed.

14.2 Penalty Points Scheme

14.2.1 Whilst the operation of a successful hackney carriage and private hire vehicle service 
is important to the economic well-being of the Borough, it is equally important that the 
service provided by the trade is properly regulated in order to instil confidence in the 
travelling public who wish to use the service and ensure their safety.

14.2.2 The Council clearly has a responsibility to ensure that all drivers, owners and 
operators of vehicles adhere to minimum standards and to do this in a consistent and 
transparent manner. These standards are defined by legislation, guidance, policy, 
licence conditions, codes or bye-laws adopted by the Council. Together they identify 
what is required of the trade and help to ensure that a consistent approach is taken 
by Council officers, in their application. 

14.2.3 The Council has found that an effective means of applying the conditions is through 
a penalty points system. This acts as a first step in ensuring compliance with the 
conditions and serves as an “early warning” system to drivers and owners or 
operators who see fit to ignore their responsibilities or fail to meet the requirements 
of the conditions. 

14.2.4 It is believed that the penalty points scheme has assisted the trade in maintaining its 
high standards. The Penalty Points System does not however compromise the 
Council’s ability to enforce breaches of statute or local conditions in the Courts or by 
way of other interventions should an offence or breach of policy warrant such action. 

14.2.5 Details of the penalty points system can be found in Appendix E.

Page 84



37

APPENDIX A

VEHICLE CRITERIA

15. Introduction

15.1 Only vehicles which satisfy all criteria set out within this Appendix, and elsewhere 
within the policy, to the satisfaction of the council will be eligible to be licensed.

15.2 Some additional/alternative criteria apply to stretched limousines, which are 
contained with section 5 of this appendix.  

15.3 Once licensed, vehicles must continue to meet these criteria and adhere to the 
vehicle licence conditions set out in Appendix B along with any other requirements 
contained within the policy in order to remain eligible to be licensed.  

15.4 Exceptions to these criteria may be made in respect of vehicles which, in the 
council’s opinion, have a special character or otherwise at the council’s discretion; 
however the council will not ordinarily depart from these requirements without 
exceptional and compelling reasons for doing so. 

15.5 The council reserves the right to refuse/withhold/suspend/revoke a licence if it is of 
the opinion that any vehicle is unsuitable for its intended use; irrespective of 
whether these requirements are met. 

15.6 Licence holders and prospective licence holders are strongly advised to seek 
advice and/or provisional approval from the council before purchasing a new vehicle 
or making any modifications to their vehicle(s).

16. Type Approval

16.1 To ensure vehicle safety standards are met, all licensed vehicles must be certified 
by the Vehicle Certification Agency (VCA) to one of the standards listed below and 
be M1 classified i.e. built to be a passenger carrying vehicle:

16.1.1 EC Whole Vehicle Type Approval 

16.1.2 UK Low Volume Type Approval

16.1.3 Individual Vehicle Approval

17. Age

17.1 Non-wheelchair accessible vehicles presented for first time licensing must be under 
7 years old and will not be re-licensed if they are over 10 years old.

17.2 Purpose built and converted wheelchair accessible vehicles presented for first time 
licensing must be under 10 years old and will not be re-licensed if they are over 14 
years old.

17.3 All references to age in this section are calculated from the date of first registration 
(internationally).

18. Design Requirements

18.1 All vehicles must:

Page 85

http://www.dft.gov.uk/vca/vehicletype/type-approval-for-ca.asp


38

18.1.1 Be right hand drive.

18.1.2 Be constructed and designed for the carriage of between 4 and 8 passengers.

18.1.3 Comprise of forward or rear facing seats only, with the provision of a seatbelt for 
each passenger.

18.1.4 Be a family-sized saloon, estate, large hatchback or stretched limousine type 
vehicle with a least four side doors, or a purpose-built mini-bus, multi-purpose 
vehicle or WAV with at least 3 side doors, which is able to seat a minimum of four 
adult passengers in reasonable comfort and with sufficient headroom and legroom.

18.1.5 Be in excellent condition throughout (inside and outside, physically, structurally and 
mechanically) and in full working order.

18.1.6 Allow passenger doors to be readily opened from inside and outside the vehicle by 
one operation of the latch mechanism, provided that this condition shall not prevent 
doors being fitted with a child safety lock.

18.1.7 Have windows on both sides of all passenger compartments that can be easily and 
safely opened and closed by passengers whilst seated.

18.1.8 Provide sufficient means for two way communication between the driver and any 
passengers.

18.1.9 Have a fixed, non-detachable, hardtop roof.

18.1.10 Not have tinted/privacy/glass unless it is included in the vehicle’s standard 
manufacturing specification, complies with the Road Vehicles (Construction and 
Use) Regulations and is approved by the council.  In all cases, glass that restricts 
all view into the passenger compartment will not be permitted. 

18.1.11 Have adequate provision for carrying passenger luggage. Luggage must be suitably 
secured in place without obstructing any emergency exits.  Estate, hatchback, and 
multi-purpose vehicles must be fitted with a guard-rail or manufacturer’s 
specification compartment cover in order to prevent luggage stored in the boot from 
entering the rear passenger compartments.

18.1.12 Have not previously been an insurance ‘write-off’ other than a category N 
(previously category D) write off.

19. Stretched Limousines

19.1 All limousines require Individual Vehicle Approval.  Further information is available 
on the GOV.UK website.

19.2 An age limit will not ordinarily be applied to limousines.

19.3 Both left and right hand drive limousines will be considered for private hire licensing.

19.4 Sideways facing seating will be permitted in limousines providing that it conforms to 
all relevant road traffic vehicle legislation.

19.5 There is no restriction to the level of tint for glass windows in the passenger 
compartment. However, for the safety of passengers, tinted glass in the windscreen 
and front doors must comply with the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations.

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/vehicle-approval/individual-vehicle-approval


39

20. Emission Standards

20.1 All vehicles, other than stretched limousines and Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles, 
must meet or exceed the Euro 6 emission standards.

Page 87



40

APPENDIX B

LICENSED VEHICLE CONDITIONS

1. Introduction

1.1 All licensed proprietors and drivers must ensure their licensed vehicles comply with 
these conditions (as applicable), meet the criteria set out in appendix A, and any 
requirements set out elsewhere in the policy to the satisfaction of the council.

1.2 Failure to do so is likely to result in enforcement action being taken as set out within 
the Taxi and Private Hire Enforcement Policy against the proprietor and/or driver as 
considered appropriate by the council.

1.3 Licence holders and prospective licence holders should seek advice and/or 
approval from the council in relation to any matters not addressed within these 
specifications before purchasing a new vehicle or making any modifications to their 
vehicle(s).

CONDITIONS THAT APPLY TO ALL LICENSED VEHICLES:

2. General Fitness and Maintenance Requirements

2.1 All parts of the vehicle shall be kept in a safe, tidy and clean condition, and in good 
working order, and all relevant statutory requirements (including in particular those 
contained in the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations, as amended) 
in force shall be fully complied with at all times when the vehicle is in use or 
available for hire. 

2.2 All vehicles must, at all times, be kept at or above the standard required to pass an 
MOT test and pass an MOT test every 6 months starting from the one year 
anniversary of their (international) date of first registration.

3. Fire Extinguisher

3.1 An ABC dry powder or foam fire extinguisher, conforming to BS EN:3 and the BAFE 
Kite Mark (as may be amended), must be carried in all licensed vehicles.   

3.2 The appliance must be safely stowed in a position accessible to the driver, which 
may be within the driver/passenger or luggage compartment(s) of the vehicles. 

3.3 All extinguishers must be fitted with a seal verifying that they have not been used; 
certified in accordance with the appropriate British Standard and show the 
appropriate kite mark; remain ‘in date’ and show the date (month, year) of the next 
recurrent inspection or of the expiry date, as applicable, of the extinguisher(s) and; 
be marked with an indelible marker pen with the vehicle registration number or 
licence plate number.

4. First Aid Equipment

4.1 All licensed vehicles must carry a first aid kit suitable for treating minor injuries. 

4.2 It is recommended that the kit should include, as a minimum; a leaflet giving general 
guidance on first aid (e.g. HSE’s basic advice on first aid at work leaflet); an 
assortment of sterile and individually wrapped eye pads, triangular bandages and 
wound dressings; wet wipes; safety pins and disposable gloves.

Page 88

http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/indg347.pdf


41

4.3 There is no requirement for a driver to administer first aid treatment other than to 
themselves while they are at work; however, the first aid kit should be made 
available to passengers or appropriate persons when needed.

4.4 The first aid kit should be marked with an indelible marker pen with the registration 
or plate number of the vehicle and replenished as necessary to conform to any 
product expiry date.

5. Radio Equipment

5.1 If two-way equipment is provided in the vehicle, it must be in a position approved by 
the council and maintained in a sound condition. 

5.2 The licence holder shall not at any time use or permit to be used in the vehicle a 
radio scanner or citizen band radio.

6. Identification Plates

6.1 The authorised identification plates issued by the council must be affixed to the 
vehicle, to the satisfaction of the council, as follows:

6.1.1 The large external plate must be securely fixed in a conspicuous position externally 
on the rear of the vehicle; plates are not allowed within the rear window or to be 
hung.

6.1.2 The small interior plate must be securely fixed to the inside of the vehicle, on the left 
hand side of the front windscreen or other such place as the council may 
reasonably require where it can be easily seen by passengers whilst travelling 
and/or when approaching a vehicle from in-front of it.

6.2 No vehicle may be used or permitted to be used with any plate missing, concealed 
from view or so defaced that any word, letter, figure or material particular is illegible.

7. Dual Plating

7.1 Vehicles licensed by Gravesham Borough Council are not permitted to be 
simultaneously licensed by another authority.  This is because a vehicle is unlikely 
to comply with the requirements of two separate licensing authorities, could cause 
confusion to members of the public, and impede the council’s ability to take 
enforcement action.

8. Lost, Stolen or Damaged Licence Parts

8.1 The proprietor shall report the loss, theft or damage of any vehicle licence, plate or 
letter of exemption to the council, and apply for a replacement of those items, by 
way of submitting an application and paying the associated fee using the 
appropriate online form found on the council’s website within 24 hours of them 
becoming aware of the loss, theft or damage.

8.2 No vehicle licence, plate or letter or exemption shall be parted with, lent or used on 
any other vehicle. 

9. Change of Details

9.1 In the event of a proprietor changing their name and/or address, or their vehicle 
registration or permitted number of passengers, they shall, within seven days of 

Page 89

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/replace-licence-badge-or-plate/overview


42

such change taking place, notify the council and apply to update their licence/plates 
(if as required) via the online form found on the council’s website.

10. Complaint/Compliment Details

11. Signage and/or documentation, etc. provided by the council detailing the way(s) in 
which passengers can make a complaint or compliment to the council must be 
displayed and made available to passengers as specified by the council.

12. Fittings

12.1 No fittings other than those approved by the council shall be attached to or carried 
upon the inside or outside of the vehicle.

13. Alteration of Vehicle

13.1 No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or 
appearance of any licensed vehicle shall be made without the approval of the 
council.

14. Disability Access

14.1 Where a vehicle is utilised for the carriage of passengers in a wheelchair, the 
following conditions shall apply:

14.1.1 Access to and exit from the wheelchair position must not be obstructed in any 
manner at any time except by wheelchair loading apparatus.

14.1.2 Wheelchair internal anchorage must be of the manufacturer’s design and 
construction and secured in such a position as to not obstruct any emergency exit.

14.1.3 A suitable restraint must be available for the occupant of a wheelchair.

14.1.4 Access ramps or lifts to the vehicle must be securely fixed prior to use, and be able 
to support the wheelchair, occupant and helper.

14.1.5 Ramps and lifts must be securely stored in the vehicle before it may move off.

14.2 Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into the 
vehicle must have been tested in accordance with the requirements of the Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/2307).  Any such 
equipment must be maintained in good working order and be available for use at all 
times.

14.2.1 Test certification must be made available to an authorised officer of the council 
upon request. 

14.2.2 Equipment must not be removed from a vehicle which is wheelchair accessible 
which would render the vehicle incapable of carrying wheelchair bound passengers.

15. Smoking

15.1 Licensed vehicles must display:

15.1.1 At least one no-smoking sign facing outwards on each side of the vehicle (but 
ideally on all passenger doors) in prominent positions where they can be easily 
seen by those considering entering the vehicle via any passenger door and, either;

Page 90

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/update-taxi-private-hire-licence/overview


43

15.1.2 At least one no-smoking sign facing inwards on each side of the vehicle to remind 
passengers, once inside the vehicle, that smoking is prohibited within it, or;  

15.1.3 At least one no smoking sign facing inwards from the front of the vehicle, i.e. the 
dashboard or windscreen area, in plain view of passengers 

15.1.4 Requirements 15.1.1 and 15.1.2 may be satisfied by using double sided stickers on 
all passenger windows.

15.2 The signs must be clearly visible and contain the no-smoking symbol (an image of a 
cigarette and smoke in a prohibition circle of at least 40mm diameter with a line 
diagonally crossed through).  The words ‘No smoking’ or other words to that effect 
may also be included, but are not required.

15.3 No smoking or vaping/using e-cigarettes is permitted in the vehicles at any time.

16. Animals

16.1 No animals, other than bona fide assistance dogs (see section 3.19 of the main 
policy document) or animals owned by bona-fide fare paying passengers with the 
agreement of the driver, shall be carried in or on any licensed vehicle whilst the 
vehicle is so engaged under the terms of its licence.

17. Advertising

17.1 Unless express written consent is given by the Council, commercial advertising is 
not permitted on licensed vehicles except for the name, logo, telephone number 
and/or other contact details of the hackney carriage owner or private hire operator 
of the vehicle.   All such advertising must be to the satisfaction and approval of the 
licensing officer.

18. CCTV

18.1.1 The installation and operation of all CCTV systems must comply with the ICO’s 
Code of Practice for Surveillance Cameras and Personal Information (or 
subsequent amendments or replacements), which sets out their recommendations 
on how the legal requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) can be met. 

19. Passenger Capacity

19.1.1 The proprietor of the vehicle shall not permit more than the number of persons for 
which the vehicle is licensed to be conveyed in the vehicle; regardless of the age or 
size of the passengers (thereby including babies carried in arms).

20. Accident Reporting

20.1 In accordance with section 50(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) act 1976, any accident to licensed vehicle causing damage materially 
affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle, or the comfort or 
convenience of the passengers, must be reported to the Council as soon as 
reasonably practicable, and in any case within 72 hours of the accident.  This must 
be done in writing via email.

Page 91



44

ADDITONAL CONDITIONS THAT APPLY TO HACKNEY CARRIAGES:

21. Taximeters

21.1 An approved taximeter must be fitted in all hackney carriages and must be correctly 
calibrated, sealed and fully functional in accordance with the current council 
approved fare structure.

21.2 All taximeters must be appropriately stamped to ensure compliance with The 
Measuring Instruments (Taximeters) Regulations 2006, or any subsequent 
legislation.

21.3 Taximeters must only be programmed with the fares applicable to that type or size 
of vehicle.

21.4 When a taxi meter is programmed to record a new table of fares, action must be 
taken at that time to ensure that it is impossible to record on the face of the meter 
any table of fares other than that currently in force.

21.5 All taximeters must be positioned so that the display on the face of the meter can be 
clearly visible to all passengers at all times, and the dial of the taximeter shall be 
kept properly illuminated throughout any part of the hiring.

21.6 The taximeter shall be brought into operation at the commencement of a journey, 
i.e. after all customer(s) are safely seated inside the vehicle, and the fare 
demanded by the driver shall not be greater than that fixed by this council in 
connection with the fare tariff for the hire of hackney carriages.

21.7 When the meter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of the meter in 
clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that may be charged 
for that journey.

21.8 In the event of a journey commencing in but ending outside the area covered by 
Gravesham Borough Council, there may be charged for the journey such fare as 
was agreed before the hiring was effected.  If no such agreement was made then 
the fare to be charged must be no greater than that fixed by the council in 
connection with the fare tariff for the hire of hackney carriages.

22. Roof Sign

22.1 All hackney carriage vehicles, except those with built-in roof signs, must be fitted 
with an illuminated roof-mounted sign indicating that they are a hackney carriage.

22.2 The sign must be fitted externally to the roof in a position, and of a size and type, 
approved by the council.

22.3 The front of the roof sign must display the word ‘TAXI’ or the words ‘FOR HIRE’ or 
the proprietors trading name and/or contact details, or any combination of these 
options.  The rear of the sign may be left blank or have any combination of these 
options.

22.4 Any variations of the roof sign requirements set out above may only be permitted 
with prior written consent from the council.

22.5 The sign must be illuminated when the vehicle is available for hire and 
unilluminated when it is not, i.e. when the machinery of the taximeter is in action.

Page 92



45

22.6 The sign must be fitted at all times, irrespective of whether the vehicle is carrying 
out a private hire booking, as the vehicle is still a hackney carriage at all times.

22.7 The roof sign may be removed while the vehicle is being used in connection with a 
funeral, a wedding or other similar special occasion.

23. Fare (Tariff) Table

23.1 A copy of the council’s taxi fare table must be kept in the cabin of the vehicle at all 
times and provided to passengers upon request.   The fare table must be printed in 
a size no smaller than A5, not be altered in any way, be clearly legible and kept in a 
sound and clean condition.

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS THAT APPLY TO PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
(INCLUDING RESTRICTED PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES):

24. Taximeter

24.1 Private hire vehicles are not required to be fitted with a taximeter but where a 
taximeter has been fitted, it must be of a type approved by the council.

24.2 Restricted Private Hire Vehicles are not permitted to be fitted with a taximeter.

24.3 Any taximeter with which the vehicle is provided shall be so constructed, attached 
and maintained as to comply with the following requirements:-

24.3.1 The taximeter shall not be fitted with a flag or other device bearing the words ‘FOR 
HIRE’

24.3.2 The taximeter shall be fitted with a key or other device, the turning of which will 
bring the machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word ‘HIRED’ to 
appear on the face of the taximeter

24.3.3 Such key or device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the 
machinery of the taximeter is not in action and no fare is recorded on the face of the 
taximeter

24.3.4 When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face 
of the taximeter, in figures clearly legible and free from ambiguity, a fare not 
exceeding the rate or fare which the proprietor or driver, is entitled to demand and 
take in pursuance of the table of fares approved by the council in that behalf for the 
hire of the vehicle by distance or by distance and time.

24.3.5 The word ‘FARE’ shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as 
to clearly apply to the fare recorded thereon.

24.3.6 The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof may 
at all times be plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle and that 
for the purpose the letters and figures shall be suitably illuminated during any period 
of hiring.

24.3.7 The taximeter and all fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the vehicle with seals or 
other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them 
except by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other 
appliances.

Page 93

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/general-information/taxi-hackney-fares


46

25. Roof Signs and Markings

25.1 In order to differentiate between the types of licensed vehicle, private hire vehicles 
and restricted private hire vehicles are not permitted to carry roof-mounted signs of 
any kind or display any markings that may give the impression that they are a 
hackney carriage, such as the words ‘Taxi,’ ‘Hackney Carriage,’ ‘Cab,’ ‘Hire’ or 
similar. 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS THAT APPLY TO RESTRICTED PRIVATE HIRE 
VEHICLES ONLY:

26. Use of Vehicle

26.1 Unless specified otherwise in writing by the council, a restricted private hire vehicle 
can only be used for carrying out contracted school runs through a Gravesham-
licensed private hire operator and issued by the local education authority.

27. Identification Plates

27.1 The council issued external plate shall only be displayed on the vehicle when it is 
being used for permitted journeys being carried out in accordance with section 24.

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS THAT APPLY TO PRIVATE HIRE LIMOUSINES:

28. Vehicle And Safety Equipment

28.1 Stretched limousines and similar vehicles shall comply with the existing conditions 
of licence applicable to all licensed private hire vehicles as specified within the 
‘Conditions That Apply To All Licensed Vehicles’ and the ‘Additional Conditions 
That Apply To Private Hire Vehicles’ in so far as they are not superseded by these 
additional conditions.

28.2 The Proprietor of a vehicle shall ensure that:

28.2.1 The fire extinguisher required to comply with the standard conditions applicable to 
all licensed vehicles must be mounted on brackets, in a convenient position in the 
driver's compartment;

28.2.2 Loose luggage is not carried within the passenger compartment of the vehicle;

28.2.3 Any CCTV cameras installed in the vehicle have received prior written approval of 
the council and proprietors must display a council approved sign, in a position 
clearly visible to passengers, warning customers that camera surveillance 
equipment may be in operation.

29. Use Of Vehicle

29.1 The proprietor of the vehicle or the holder of a private hire operator’s licence 
responsible for the booking shall:-

29.1.1 Ensure that the vehicle is at all times only driven by a person who holds a valid 
private hire driver's licence issued by Gravesham Borough Council;

29.1.2 Not allow any passengers in the front compartment of the vehicle; the maximum 
number or passengers permitted as specified in 4.1.2 of Appendix A does not 
therefore include the front passenger seat(s) of a limousine;

Page 94



47

29.1.3 Ensure that any advertisement publicising their limousine service contains a 
statement that the vehicle is only licensed to carry a maximum of eight passengers;

29.1.4 Not supply any alcohol in the vehicle unless an appropriate authorisation under the 
Licensing Act 2003 permitting the sale or supply of the same is in force;

29.1.5 Not allow alcohol in the vehicle for consumption or otherwise (when it is authorised) 
when passengers below the age of 18 are present; 

29.1.6 Ensure that any glassware in the vehicle is made of shatterproof glass or plastic;

29.1.7 Ensure that the driver does not play or permit the performance of any media that, 
given its age classification or content, is unsuitable for the age of the youngest 
passengers in the vehicle;

29.1.8 Ensure that any relevant authorisation required for entertainment under the 
Licensing Act 2003 is in place prior to any such entertainment being provided.

29.1.9 Display and maintain any notices in conspicuous positions when directed to do so 
by the council.

30. Vehicle Identification

30.1 The vehicle will not be required to display the rear, external private hire vehicle 
licence plates which must normally be displayed by licensed private hire vehicles.

30.2 The proprietor of the vehicle will be issued, upon grant of the licence, with:

30.2.1 The paper vehicle licence, which must be kept in the vehicle and made available for 
inspection to an authorised officer of the council or police upon request.

30.2.2 A letter confirming their exemption from displaying an external plate, which must be 
kept in the vehicle and made available for inspection to an authorised officer of the 
council or police upon request, and;

30.2.3 An interior plate which must be kept and displayed in accordance with 6.1.2 of this 
appendix. 

31. Signs, Notices, etc.

31.1 No signs, notices, advertisements, plates, marks, numbers, letters, figures, 
symbols, emblems or devices whatsoever shall be displayed on, in or from the 
vehicle, other than those specifically approved by the council.

32. Deposit Of Licences

32.1 If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive their private hire 
limousine vehicle, they shall, before that person commences to drive the vehicle, 
require the driver to provide them with a copy of his Gravesham Borough Council 
issued private hire driver's licence for retention until such time as the driver ceases 
to be permitted or employed to drive that vehicle.

33. Individual Vehicle Approval

33.1 The proprietor must produce a copy of the Individual Vehicle Approval certificate to 
the council upon request or as may be required by them.

Page 95



48

APPENDIX C

GUIDELINES RELATING TO FITNESS AND PROPRIETY

1. General

1.1 The purpose of this appendix is to provide guidance on the criteria taken into 
account by the council when determining whether or not an applicant or an existing 
licence holder is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage and/or private 
hire driver licence and/or private hire operator licence in relation to convictions.

1.2 Applicants and existing licensed drivers should note that they must be, and remain, 
a fit and proper person at all times; not only when they are acting in the capacity as 
a licensed driver.

1.3 The onus is on the applicant to demonstrate that they meet this requirement; not on 
the council to demonstrate that the applicant does not.

1.4 In the absence of a judicially approved definition of ‘fit and proper’, the council will 
apply the test of:

Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you allow a 
person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle 
driven by this person at any time of day or night?

The wording of this test originates from the national standards.

1.5 All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licensee can take into consideration 
conduct that has not resulted in a criminal conviction and will be made on the 
balance of probability.  Applicants and licence holders will not be ‘given the benefit 
of doubt’. 

1.6 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question set out in 1.4 is ‘no’, 
then the council will ordinarily take the view that the individual should not hold a 
licence.

1.7 The overriding consideration is the safety of the public.  In accordance with the 
cases of McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council and Leeds City Council v Hussain, 
the council will therefore expect applicants and existing licence holders alike to 
demonstrate, “…that they are safe drivers with good driving records and adequate 
experience, sober, mentally and physically fit, honest and not persons who would 
take advantage of their employment to abuse or assault passengers,” as part of its 
assessment of fitness and propriety.

1.8 In addition, the council will want to be satisfied that a licensed driver/operator will 
not defraud, discriminate against or otherwise act inappropriately towards or in front 
of their customers, i.e. the public.

1.9 It should be borne in mind that drivers may carry vulnerable members of the public 
such as unaccompanied children; disabled people; elderly people; people who are 
incapacitated from alcohol or other substances; lone people and; foreign visitors or 
others with communication difficulties. 

1.10 If a court has found an applicant guilty of an offence, that person cannot 
subsequently claim to the council that they did not commit the offence.  If they seek 

Page 96



49

to do so, their representation will not be considered as this is entirely a matter for 
the courts. The applicant can, however, offer any mitigating circumstances relating 
to the offence that they wish the council to consider.

1.11 In making its decision the council will consider, amongst other matters, the 
nature/class of any offence, how long ago it occurred and the applicants’ age at that 
time, the apparent seriousness as gauged by the penalty imposed, and any other 
factors which the council may consider to be relevant.  

1.12 The disclosure of cautions, convictions or other information will not permanently 
debar individuals from gaining a licence unless the authority considers that this 
renders them unsuitable.  The council will however require applicants with a 
criminal record to remain free of conviction for an appropriate period and show 
adequate evidence of good character from the time of the conviction, the end of a 
sentence and/or the end of an associated rehabilitation course; simply remaining 
free of conviction will not generally be regarded as sufficient evidence of good 
character.

1.13 In the sections that follow, guidance is given as to when a licence may and may not 
be granted following the disclosure of various convictions, in terms of whether and 
when a person with such convictions may be eligible for a licence. In general terms, 
the more recent, serious and/or relevant to public safety the offence is, the less 
likely it is that a licence will be granted.

1.14 In particular, applications may be rejected where the applicant’s record includes any 
term of imprisonment or custody; any conviction in relation to a violent or sexual 
offence, or dishonesty, which is of a serious nature; any serious motoring offence 
such as dangerous driving, driving whilst disqualified, or drink driving, or; the 
accumulation of more than six current points on a DVLA driving licence.

1.15 Notwithstanding the existence of this policy, each case will be determined on its 
own merits.  

1.16 Compliance with the guidelines contained within this Appendix does not therefore 
guarantee that a licence will be granted.  The grant of a licence will be less likely 
when there are aggravating factors, such as multiple offences.  Similarly however, 
some discretion may be appropriate if there are mitigating circumstances. 

1.17 Since it is not practicable to make reference to every offence, the following 
examples afford a general guide that the council will have regard to when 
considering an applicant’s convictions.

1.18 In all cases, any lists of offences are not exhaustive and include any similar 
offences to those listed, including those in relation to attempting or conspiring to 
commit, and any offences which replace those listed.

1.19 In considering whether or not a person is fit and proper the council may also 
consider such matters as an applicant’s history as a licence holder; their complaint 
and compliance history, their co-operation with and attitude towards Licensing 
Officer’s requests, and any other reasonable matters.

2. Existing Drivers

2.1 Any existing licence holder convicted of an offence during the period of their current 
licence will be subject to this policy relating to the relevance of convictions. In 

Page 97



50

circumstances where a new applicant would normally have their application 
refused, an existing licence holder would normally have their licence revoked.

2.2 Licensed drivers and operators who are convicted of any criminal or motoring 
offence during the period covered by their licence, must disclose the conviction and 
the penalty involved to the council in writing via email within seven days of the 
conviction(s). For these purposes, any offence resulting in the acceptance of a fixed 
penalty notice will be considered to be a conviction. The exception to this is a 
parking ticket, which is in fact a penalty charge notice. 

3. Crimes resulting in death

3.1 Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the 
death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of 
another person they will not be licensed.

4. Exploitation

4.1 Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, 
or has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another 
individual irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they 
will not be licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, 
grooming, psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive 
list.

5. Offences involving violence

5.1 Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, 
or connected with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 
10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

5.2 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction 
for a violence-related offence.

6. Possession of a weapon

6.1 If an applicant has been convicted of an offence involving the possession of a 
weapon, or any other weapon-related offence, the council considers this to be an 
unacceptable risk to members of the public and the application will normally be 
refused. 

7. Sexual offences

7.1 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with 
illegal sexual activity, a licence will not be granted. 

7.2 In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list.

8. Offences of Dishonesty

8.1 Taxi and PHV drivers are expected to be persons of trust and it is comparatively 
easy for a dishonest driver to defraud the public, for example, by demanding more 
than the legal fare, giving incorrect change or failing to return lost property.

Page 98



51

8.2 As members of the public entrust themselves to the care of licensed drivers, the 
council consider offences involving dishonesty as a serious risk to public safety.

8.3 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an 
element of the offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

8.4 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction 
for a dishonesty-related offence.

8.5 Applicants or existing licence holders that are found to have intentionally misled the 
council, or lied as part of the application process, will not be issued with a licence 
and may be subject to formal action relating to the making of a false declaration.

9. Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs

9.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle 
while under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

9.2 Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence 
of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. 

9.3 In the case of driving under the influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to 
undergo drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using 
controlled drugs.

9.4 More than one conviction for any alcohol or drug-related driving offence represents 
an unacceptable risk to the public and an application will normally be refused.

10. Drunkenness (not in charge of a motor vehicle)

10.1 An isolated conviction for drunkenness not associated with driving will not 
automatically preclude the granting of an application.

10.2 Where there is an isolated conviction for drunkenness, any licence granted will 
normally be issued together with a warning.

10.3 More than two convictions for disorder and/or drunkenness will normally lead to 
refusal of an application until such time as a period of five years free of convictions 
has elapsed.

11. Drugs

11.1 The council considers all offences related to controlled substances as a serious risk 
to the public.

11.2 Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or 
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, 
a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 

11.3 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Page 99



52

11.4 In these circumstances, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing for a 
period at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 

11.5 Applicants will normally be required to show a period of at least 5 years free from 
taking drugs and/or after detoxification treatment if they were an addict.

11.6 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction 
for a drugs related offence.

12. Discrimination

12.1 Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in 
any form, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed.

13. Using a hand-held device whilst driving

13.1 Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a 
hand‐ held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years 
have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban 
imposed, whichever is the later.

14. Motoring Convictions

14.1 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 
responsibility of carrying the public. 

14.2 A single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not necessarily prohibit the 
granting, or necessitate the revocation, of a licence; however:

14.2.1 Applicants with multiple motoring convictions may indicate that an applicant has a 
disregard for Road Traffic Regulations and/or does not exhibit the behaviours of a 
safe road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally. 

14.2.2 A motoring conviction obtained by a licensed driver may indicate that the licensee 
does not take their professional responsibilities seriously. 

14.3 Motoring convictions that relate to other types of offence referred to within this 
appendix, e.g. those relating to dishonesty/theft, violence, drunkenness, etc. may 
be subject to the guidelines provided in those sections instead of, or in addition to, 
those provided in this section.

14.4 A list of minor and major motoring offences, as determined by the council can be 
found in Table 1 and Table 2, respectively, below.

14.5 Minor traffic Offences

14.5.1 Isolated convictions for minor traffic offences should not prevent a person from 
proceeding with an application; however the number, type and frequency of this 
type of offence will be taken into account and if there are several offences of this 
nature (i.e. more than one) the applicant will normally be expected to show a period 
free of conviction of at least 6 months.

14.5.2 In particular, an application will normally be refused where the applicant has 6 or 
more penalty points on their DVLA licence (whether or not the applicant was 
convicted by a court for the offences for which the points were imposed) or where 

Page 100



53

the applicant has more than one conviction for this type of offence within the last 6 
months.

14.6 Major Traffic Offences

14.6.1 An isolated conviction for a major motoring offence within the last 2 years will 
ordinarily result in an application being refused. 

14.6.2 More than one conviction for a major motoring offence within the last 5 years will 
ordinarily result in an application being refused.

14.7 Disqualification

14.7.1 In all cases not already dealt with elsewhere within this appendix, the council will 
normally refuse an application from an applicant disqualified from driving by the 
courts (e.g. following conviction of a motoring offence or the “totting up” procedure) 
until a period of two years conviction free has elapsed from the restoration of their 
DVLA licence.  

14.7.2 In order to provide a consistent level of protection to the public, the council will also 
normally refuse an application from an applicant who avoids disqualification by 
demonstrating exceptional circumstances (such as hardship) to the court, until a 
period of two years conviction free has elapsed from the date the court made its 
finding of exceptional circumstances justifying the non-disqualification.

14.8 Applications from applicants with a significant history of driving offences are likely to 
be refused.

15. Motor Insurance Offences 

15.1 An isolated motor insurance offence will not automatically preclude an application 
from being granted, however the council deem such offences to be serious, given 
the risk to the public. 

15.2 More than one conviction for motor insurance offences will be considered to raise 
serious doubts as to an applicant’s suitability to hold a licence. Ordinarily in these 
circumstances, an application will be refused until such time as the applicant has 
been free of convictions for a minimum period of 5 years or until at least 3 years 
have elapsed since the restoration of the applicant’s DVLA driving licence 
(whichever is longer). 

16. Offences under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

16.1 One of the main purposes of the licensing regime set out in the Town Police 
Clauses Act 1847 and Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 ("the Acts") is to ensure the protection of the public. For this reason a 
serious view is taken of convictions for offences under the Acts when deciding 
whether an applicant is to be treated as a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

16.2 In particular, an applicant will normally be refused a licence where they have been 
convicted of an offence under either of the Acts at any time during the 12 months 
preceding the application or have more than one conviction within the last 3 years 
preceding the date of the application.

Page 101



54

17. Outstanding Charges or Summonses 

17.1 Where an individual is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons that 
relates to an offence which, if convicted of, would ordinarily preclude them from 
being granted a licence, their application will not ordinarily be processed until the 
conclusion of the proceedings. 

18. Principles of The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974

18.1 Under this Act, criminal convictions can become spent after a certain period of time 
and, once spent, can be disregarded completely for many purposes. The possibility 
of rehabilitation, and the length of time before the rehabilitation occurs, depends on 
the sentence imposed rather than the offence committed. 

18.2 Despite the above general principles, the Act does not apply to applicants for 
hackney carriage and private hire drivers licences.  This is because the driving of 
these vehicles is listed as a “regulated occupation” under The Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 (as amended by The Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) (Amendment) Order 2002) in relation to which 
questions may be asked as to the suitability of individuals to be granted a licence.

18.2.1 Applicants for licences and existing licence holders are therefore required to 
disclose all convictions and cautions, past and present/pending, including those that 
would previously been regarded as spent under the 1974 Act.

18.3 Although the 1974 Act does not prevent any judicial authority, including the council 
acting as the Licensing Authority, from taking ‘spent’ convictions into account, such 
convictions will only be considered in so far as they are relevant to the issue as to 
whether the applicant is a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold a licence.

18.4 The council may choose to refer to the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 as part 
of its assessment of convictions.  Where the council does so, any convictions that 
are not yet spent under the Act may increase the impact of the offence in the 
council’s decision-making and consequently reduce the likelihood of a licence being 
granted. 

18.5 Further information is available from the Government’s New Guidance on the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974

19. Non-Conviction Information 

19.1 If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged, but not 
convicted for a serious offence which suggests that he/she could be a danger to the 
public, consideration will be given to refusing the application; bearing in mind the 
safety of the travelling public must be the paramount concern. 

20. Licensee self-reporting

20.1 A failure by a licence holder or applicant to disclose something which they ought to 
have done might be seen as behaviour that questions honesty and therefore the 
suitability of the individual to hold a licence.

21. Cautions 

21.1 Admission of guilt is required before a Caution can be issued. 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-guidance-on-the-rehabilitation-of-offenders-act-1974
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-guidance-on-the-rehabilitation-of-offenders-act-1974


55

21.2 For the purpose of these guidelines formal cautions shall be treated as though they 
were convictions and must be disclosed.

22. Summary

22.1 Except in the most serious of circumstances, an applicant having a previous or 
current conviction will not normally be permanently precluded from obtaining a 
licence.

22.2 The council believe that a person convicted of an offence, who is required to wait 
for the expiry of a rehabilitation period prior to their application being considered, is 
more likely to value their licence and ensure that future convictions are avoided.

22.3 The council consider that there are, however, certain offences that are so serious in 
nature or frequency that an applicant should be precluded from obtaining or 
retaining a licence. The council’s overriding policy objective is to protect the safety 
of the general public by ensuring that all licensed drivers are safe, competent, 
trustworthy and able to maintain their vehicles to an acceptable standard.

22.4 By producing clear and transparent guidelines on the relevance of convictions, and 
fitness and propriety, the council is seeking to maintain the high standard of 
licensed drivers and operators within Gravesham.

Page 103



56

Table 1: MINOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES

Code Offences (Includes: Aiding, abetting, counselling, procuring, 
causing, permitting or inciting any of the offences below)

DVLA Penalty 
points

CU10 Using a vehicle with defective brakes 3
CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable 

vehicle or using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding 
brakes, steering or tyres) in a dangerous condition

3

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 3
CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering 3
CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers 3
CU80 Breach of requirements as to control of the vehicle, such as using a 

mobile phone
3 to 6

MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position 3
MS20 Unlawful pillion riding 3
MS30 Play street offences 2
MS60 Offences not covered by other codes (including offences relating to 

breach of requirements as to control of vehicle)
3

MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight 3
MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test 3
MS90 Failure to give information as to identity of driver etc 6
MW10 Contravention of special roads regulations (excluding speed limits) 3
PC10 Undefined contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations 3
PC20 Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations with moving vehicle 3
PC30 Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations with stationary 

vehicle
3

SP10 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limits 3 to 6
SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or 

passenger vehicles)
3 to 6

SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road 3 to 6
SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 3 to 6
SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 3 to 6
TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals 3
TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines 3
TS30 Failing to comply with ‘stop’ sign 3
TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a constable/warden 3
TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding ‘stop’ signs, traffic lights 

or double white lines)
3

TS60 Failing to comply with a school crossing patrol sign 3
TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign 3

Table 2: MAJOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES

Code Offences (Includes: Aiding, abetting, counselling, procuring, 
causing, permitting or inciting any of the offences below)

DVLA Penalty 
points

AC10 Failing to stop after an accident 5 to 10
AC20 Failing to give particulars or report an accident within 24 hours 5 to 10
AC30 Undefined accident offences 4 to 9
BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of court 6

Page 104



57

BA30 Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of court 6
BA40 Causing death by driving while disqualified 3 to 11
BA60 Causing serious injury by driving while disqualified 3 to 11
CD10 Driving without due care and attention 3 to 9
CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users 3 to 9
CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable 

consideration for other road users
3 to 9

CD40 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink 3 to 11
CD50 Causing death by careless driving when unfit through drugs 3 to 11
CD60 Causing death by careless driving with alcohol level above the limit 3 to 11
CD70 Causing death by careless driving then failing to supply a specimen for 

alcohol analysis
3 to 11

CD80 Causing death by careless, or inconsiderate, driving 3 to 11
CD90 Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers 3 to 11
DD10 Causing serious injury by dangerous driving 3 to 11
DD40 Dangerous driving 3 to 11
DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle 3 to 11
DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving 3 to 11
DD90 Furious driving 3 to 9
DR10 Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit 3 to 11
DR20 Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink 3 to 11
DR30 Driving or attempting to drive then failing to supply a specimen for 

analysis
3 to 11

DR31 Driving or attempting to drive then refusing to give permission for 
analysis of a blood sample that was taken without consent due to 
incapacity

3 to 11

DR61 Refusing to give permission for analysis of a blood sample that was 
taken without consent due to incapacity in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive

10

DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above limit 10
DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink 10
DR60 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than 

driving or attempting to drive
10

DR70 Failing to provide specimen for breath test 4
DG10 Driving or attempting to drive with drug level above the specified limit 3 to 11
DG60 Causing death by careless driving with drug level above the limit 3 to 11
DR80 Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs 3 to 11
DG40 In charge of a vehicle while drug level above specified limit 10
DR90 In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs 10
IN10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks 6 to 8
LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence 3 to 6
LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying 

for a licence
3 to 6

LC40 Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability 3 to 6
LC50 Driving after a licence has been cancelled (revoked) or refused on 

medical grounds
3 to 6

MS50 Motor racing on the highway 3 to 11
UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle 3 to 11

Page 105



58

APPENDIX D

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCE CONDITIONS

1. Introduction

1.1 The holder of a restricted or standard private hire driver’s licence, which in 
Gravesham includes dual licences, i.e. private hire and hackney carriage, (hereafter 
known in this Appendix as the driver) shall comply with the following conditions, 
which should be read in conjunction with the rest of the Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy.

1.2 Unless otherwise stated, all conditions listed within this Appendix shall therefore 
apply equally to Gravesham-licensed drivers.

2. Conduct and Appearance of Driver

2.1 The driver shall be respectably dressed, and clean and tidy in appearance, at all 
times whilst their vehicle is being used or made available for hire.

2.2 The driver shall behave in a civil, polite, helpful, orderly and responsible manner 
and shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the comfort, wellbeing and safety of 
persons conveyed in, or entering or leaving the vehicle.

2.3 The driver shall assist, where necessary, passengers’ ingress to and egress from 
vehicles.

2.4 The driver shall drive with care and due consideration for other road users, 
pedestrians and their passengers.

2.5 A driver who has agreed to, or has been hired to, be in attendance with the vehicle 
at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or prevented by some 
sufficient cause, punctually attend with such vehicle at such appointed time and 
place as was agreed.

2.6 The driver when hired to drive to a particular destination shall proceed to that 
destination by the shortest available route.

2.7 The driver shall not consume alcohol at any time whilst driving or being in charge of 
a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle nor shall they drive whilst under the 
influence of alcohol whatsoever (any amount of alcohol can affect a drivers’ 
judgement).

2.8 The driver shall not drive while having misused legal or illegal drugs (any amount of 
drugs can affect a drivers’ judgement).  If a driver properly uses prescription drugs 
that make them drowsy they should not drive.

2.9 The driver shall not smoke in the vehicle, or allow any other person to smoke in the 
vehicle, at any time.  In this context, smoking includes the use of e-
cigarettes/vaping. 

2.10 Where a customer feels they have reason to make a complaint, the driver must give 
them such information as is reasonably requested to enable them and the vehicle 
being driven to be readily identified, i.e. driver badge number and vehicle plate and 
registration number. 

Page 106



59

3. Driver Licence/Badge

3.1 The driver shall at all times, when acting in accordance with the drivers licence 
granted to them, wear such badge as supplied by the council in such position and 
manner as to be plainly and distinctly visible at all times.

3.2 The driver shall not lend the badge to any other person or cause or permit any other 
person to wear it, display it or otherwise utilise it.

3.3 All licences/badges remain the property of the council at all times.  They must be 
returned forthwith when employment as a licensed driver ceases, the licence 
expires or is not renewed, or where the licence is suspended or revoked.

3.4 In the event of a driver’s licence (badge) being lost, stolen or damaged, they shall, 
within 24 hours of such an occurrence, notify the council and apply for a 
replacement badge via the online form found on the council’s website.

3.5 In the event of a driver changing their name and/or address they shall, within seven 
days of such change taking place, notify the council and apply for an updated 
badge (if required) via the online form found on the council’s website.

3.6 Notwithstanding 3.4 and 3.5, any change affecting the licence must be notified to 
the council in writing via email as soon as reasonably practicable but, in any event, 
no later than seven days after the change was effected.

4. General Duties of Licence Holder

4.1 All drivers shall comply with the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy. 

4.2 The driver’s licence must be made available for inspection, upon request, by any 
authorised officer of the council or any police officer.

4.3 The driver must notify the council within seven days of starting or terminating driving 
for an operator, as to the name and address of the operator concerned and the date 
when the arrangement either started or ended.  When renting a vehicle from a 
licensed vehicle proprietor, the driver must notify the council within seven days of 
starting or terminating such an arrangement, as to the name and address of the 
proprietor concerned and the date when the rental either started or ended.  

4.4 The driver’s licence must be presented to the proprietor prior to renting the vehicle 
or to the operator concerned .prior to commencement on the circuit

5. Use of Licensed Vehicle

5.1 The driver shall not wilfully or negligently cause or permit the vehicle licence plate to 
be concealed from public view, or allow the licence plate to be so defaced as to 
make any figure or information illegible.

5.2 The driver shall not convey, or permit to be conveyed, in such vehicle any greater 
number of persons than the number of persons specified on the vehicle licence.

5.3 The driver shall convey a reasonable amount of luggage and afford reasonable 
assistance to passengers with loading and unloading luggage.

5.4 The vehicle must only be driven with the consent of the proprietor of the vehicle.

Page 107

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/replace-licence-badge-or-plate/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/update-taxi-private-hire-licence/overview


60

5.5 The driver must not drink or eat in the vehicle whilst in the presence of customers. 

5.6 The driver must comply with any hirer’s request not to play any radio or sound 
equipment which is not connected with the operation of the business.

5.7 The driver must ensure that the noise emitted from any sound equipment in the 
vehicle does not cause annoyance to any persons, whether inside or outside the 
vehicle.

5.8 The driver shall not operate the horn as a means of signalling that the vehicle has 
arrived or otherwise use it inappropriately or unlawfully.

5.9 The driver shall take such steps as are reasonably practicable to avoid disturbing 
residents; including keeping the volume of all audio equipment, two-way radios and 
behavioural noise to a minimum.

5.10 The driver shall ensure that any licensed vehicle they drive complies with the 
Licensed Vehicle Conditions contained in Appendix B.

5.11 The driver shall switch their engine off whenever it is practicable to do so. 

5.12 Drivers must not use a mobile phone whilst driving unless it hands-free.

5.13 Drivers shall obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all times.

6. Assistance Dogs 

6.1 Drivers must comply with the requirements set out in section 3.19 of the main policy 
document.

7. Carriage of Other Animals

7.1 Drivers are not permitted to carry animals in licensed vehicles while they are being 
used as such, other than bona fide assistance dogs (see 6.1 of this Appendix and 
3.19 of the main policy document) or animals owned by bona-fide fare paying 
passengers with the agreement of the driver. 

8. Medical Fitness of Driver

8.1 The driver must at any time, or at such intervals as the council may reasonably 
require, produce a specified certificate issued by the drivers own GP or someone 
with access to his medical records (as determined by the council) to the effect that 
he is, or continues to be, physically and psychologically fit to be a driver of a 
licensed vehicle in accordance with section 3.10 of the main policy document.

8.1.1 The driver must cease driving any vehicle and notify the Council immediately in 
writing, via email, if they know of any medical condition which may affect their 
driving ability or the health and safety of themselves or any passengers.

9. DVLA Driving Licence Checks 

9.1 All licensed drivers will be subject to an online DVLA check at every renewal, or at 
such intervals as the council may reasonably require, and are required to provide 
the council with a unique ‘check code’ to enable them to carry out each check and, 
in doing so, give consent for the council to access their DVLA driving history using 
the code supplied.

Page 108



61

10. Convictions and Criminal Record Checks 

10.1 All licensed drivers are required to have an Enhanced DBS check every 6 months 
and are therefore required to register for the DBS Update Service and give the 
Council ongoing permission and the information required to check the status of their 
certificate every six months or otherwise as considered necessary.

10.2 If the driver is convicted, cautioned or bound over for any offence, he shall within 
seven days give details of the conviction, caution or binding over to the council in 
writing and send by email.

11. Lost Property

11.1 A driver of a licensed vehicle shall immediately after the termination of any hiring or 
as soon as practicable, search the vehicle for any property which may have been 
accidentally left therein.

11.2 Any property found (that is not already claimed by, or on behalf of, its owner) must 
be reported to the Licensing Department within 24 hours and kept safely and 
securely by the driver for at least 14 days.

11.3 During this time, the driver should make all reasonable attempts to reunite the 
owner with their property and must return it to its owner, or a person legitimately 
claiming it on their behalf, if the opportunity arises.

11.4 If, after 14 days, the property has not been reclaimed, the driver may dispose of it in 
a legal and responsible manner.

12. Receipts

12.1 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide them with a receipt for the fare 
paid.

13. Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles

13.1 All drivers of wheelchair accessible vehicles must:

13.1.1 Ensure that all parts of the vehicle required to safely load and transport a 
wheelchair-bound passenger and in full working order at all times.

13.1.2 Be fully conversant with the correct method of operation of all ramps, lifts and 
wheelchair restraints fitted to the vehicle.

13.1.3 Before any movement of the vehicle takes place, ensure that all wheelchairs are 
firmly secured to the vehicle using an approved restraining system and the brakes 
of the wheelchair have been applied.

13.1.4 Ensure that any wheelchairs, equipment and passengers are carried in such a 
manner that no danger is likely to be caused to those passengers, or to anyone 
else, in accordance with the regulations detailed in section 100 of the Road 
Vehicles (Constructions and Use) Regulations 1986.

13.1.5 Have successfully completed the practical element regarding the loading/securing 
and unloading of passengers in wheelchairs as part of their Assessment delivered 
by one of the council’s approved providers. 

Page 109



62

14. Public Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation

14.1 Licence holders must, at their earliest possible opportunity, report any concerns 
about the vulnerability of a child to Kent Police by calling 101 and quoting 
‘Operation Willow’ or by calling 999 in an emergency.

14.2 Drivers must, at any time or at such intervals as the council may reasonably require, 
attend an approved Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness session 
and, if introduced, pass an associated test; details of which will be specified and 
maintained on the council’s driver licence webpages.

15. Conditions applicable to Private Hire Drivers only

15.1 Drivers must not cause or permit the vehicle to stand on a public road, on a 
hackney carriage rank, or in a public place so as to suggest that it is plying, or 
available for, hire.

15.2 Drivers must not solicit, by calling out or otherwise importune any person to hire or 
be carried for hire and must not accept an offer for the hire of the vehicle except 
where that is first communicated to the driver by a Gravesham-licence operator.

16. Conditions applicable to Restricted Private Hire Drivers only

16.1 The holder of a restricted private hire driver licence can only drive a Gravesham-
licensed restricted private hire vehicle, which must only be used for the carriage of 
passengers in accordance with the conditions attached to the vehicle licence.

17. Fares and Journeys

17.1 The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle may make their own agreement with the 
hirer as to the fare for a particular journey.

17.2 If the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, then the driver of a private hire vehicle must:

17.2.1 Unless the hirer expresses at the commencement of the journey their desire to 
engage by time, bring the meter into operation at the commencement of the journey 
and bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or 
other device, so that the word ‘HIRED’ is legible on the face of the meter, before 
beginning a journey and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until the 
termination of the hiring.

17.2.2 When standing, keep the key, flag or other device fitted for that purpose locked in 
the position in which no fare is recorded on the face of the meter.

17.2.3 Cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part 
of the hiring which is during the hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of 
the Road Traffic Act 1972, and also at any other time at the request if the hirer.

17.2.4 Not demand from any hirer of a private hire vehicles a fare in excess of any 
previously agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator or, if the vehicle 
is fitted with a meter, the fare shown on the face of the taximeter.

17.2.5 In the event of a journey commencing in but ending outside the Borough of 
Gravesham there may be charged for the journey, such fare or rate (if any) as was 
agreed before the hiring was effected.  If no such agreement was made then the 
fare to be charged should be no greater that that determined by the taximeter.

Page 110



63

APPENDIX E

PENALTY POINTS SYSTEM

The Penalty Points Scheme will operate as follows: 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The issuing of penalty points is not a formal sanction in its own right; it is 
predominately an internal management tool to assist the council to determine a 
licence holder’s fitness and propriety in a transparent and consistent way.

1.2 Penalty points will be issued to a licence holder (driver, operator and/or proprietor) 
when the licensing officer is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that an 
offence and/or breach of licensing requirements occurred.

1.3 The penalty points system will operate without prejudice to the council’s ability to 
take other action under appropriate legislation or as provided for by this policy.

1.4 The tables below lists breaches of relevant legislation and of the Gravesham 
Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy, along with 
the corresponding number of points that can be issued in relation to each breach.  
The lists are not exhaustive.

2. Issuing of Points

2.1 Where a range of points for a particular breach is provided, the licensing officer will 
determine the appropriate number of points to be given in line with the following:

2.1.1 The starting point for first breaches will ordinarily be half of the maximum number of 
points; subsequent or multiple breaches, or those considered to be more serious, 
are likely to attract a significantly higher number of points up to the stated 
maximum.

2.1.2 Depending on the apparent circumstances of the offence/breach, the licensing 
officer may take factors, considered by them to be mitigating or aggravating, into 
account and adjust the number of points to be issued accordingly within the 
specified points range.

2.2 Points issued to a licence holder will be confirmed in writing, ordinarily via email, 
within ten working days from the discovery of the contravention or the conclusion of 
an investigation into a complaint.

2.3 The council may issue penalty points to drivers, proprietors and/or operators for a 
single contravention if the circumstances warrant it, i.e. the breach is one against all 
these licences and it is considered that joint responsibility is held. 

2.4 There is no financial penalty associated with the system, and the licence holder 
may continue to work.  

3. Appeals

3.1 Where the licence holder does not agree with the imposition of the penalty points 
(for example, because they disagree the infringement took place or disagree that 
they were the person involved, feel there was a reasonable excuse why it took 
place, or feel the number of points issued are not appropriate), they may appeal.

Page 111



64

3.2 Any licence holder wishing to appeal must do so in writing to the licensing team 
within seven days from the date the points were issued so that the matter can be 
referred to the Assistant Director (Communities) for their consideration.

3.3 The licence holder’s penalty will be re-considered in the light of any further 
mitigating circumstances the licence holder wishes to be considered however the 
Assistant Director (Communities) is equally at liberty to impose a harsher penalty if 
considered appropriate.  

3.4 The council will have serious doubts as to the fitness and propriety of a licence 
holder who is found to have acted dishonestly, for example, by falsely denying 
involvement in, or responsibility for, the breach(es). 

4. Further Action

4.1 Penalty points will remain ‘live’ for a period of two years from the date they are 
issued so that only points accumulated in a rolling twenty four month period will be 
taken into account.

4.2 Where a driver, proprietor or operator attains 12 or more ‘live’ penalty points on any 
one of their licences, they will be required to attend either a meeting with the 
Assistant Director (Communities) or attend a Committee hearing where the 
appropriate action to be taken in accordance with this Policy, which will include 
suspension or revocation of the licence, will be decided.

4.3 The length of a suspension period will be dependent on such factors as the nature 
of the breaches and the compliance history and attitude of the licence holder. 

4.4 Following a revocation (due to the accumulation of penalty points), a new licence 
application will not usually be entertained by the council for a minimum period of six 
months.

4.5 If it is felt that the matter does not warrant suspension or revocation of the licence, 
the period for which the points are to remain “live” may be extended and/or a written 
warning may be issued to the driver as to their future conduct.

4.6 Once the matter has been dealt with:

4.6.1 Points will be removed if a suspension or revocation is imposed;

4.6.2 If a written warning is given the points will remain live for the normal two year 
period;

4.6.3 If the live period is extended the points will remain live for the time determined by 
the Committee.

4.7 More than one accumulation of penalty points in excess of the twelve point 
threshold in any three year period will normally result in the Committee revoking a 
licence where they believe the person not to be a ‘fit and proper’ person.

4.8 Licence holders have the right to be represented at any meeting, either legally or 
otherwise, and to state any mitigating circumstances they consider relevant.

4.9 Any driver or vehicle proprietor or operator subject to suspension or revocation has 
the right of appeal to the Magistrates Court against the suspension or revocation. 

Page 112



65

Code Section Offence under Town Police Clauses Act 1847
Maximum 
Penalty 
Points

T1 40 Giving false information on a hackney carriage 
licence application 12

T2 44 Failure to notify change of address on a hackney 
carriage licence 2

T3 45 Plying for hire without a hackney carriage licence 12

T4 47 Driving a hackney carriage without a hackney 
carriage driver’s licence 12

T5 47 Lending or parting with a hackney carriage driver’s 
licence 4

T6 47 Hackney carriage proprietor employing an 
unlicensed driver 10

T7 48 Failure of a proprietor to hold the hackney carriage 
driver’s licence belonging to the driver of their vehicle 6

T8 48 Failure of a proprietor to produce the hackney 
carriage driver’s licence belonging to the driver 4

T9 52 Failure to display a hackney carriage plate 4
T10 53 Refusal to take a fare without a reasonable excuse 12
T11 54 Charging more than the agreed fare 12

T12 55 Obtaining more than the legal fare (including failure 
to refund) 12

T13 56 Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed 
fare 8

T14 57 Failure to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid 12
T15 58 Charging more than the legal fare 12

T16 59 Carrying people other than the hirer without the 
consent of the hirer 8

T17 60 Driving a hackney carriage without the proprietor’s 
consent 12

T18 60 Allowing a person to drive a hackney carriage without 
the proprietor’s consent 12

T19 62 Driver leaving a hackney carriage unattended 2

T20 64 Hackney carriage driver obstructing other hackney 
carriages 4

Code Section Offence under Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Maximum
Penalty 
Points

L1 46(1)(A) Using an unlicensed private hire vehicle 12

L2 46(1)(b) Driving a private hire vehicle without a private hire 
driver’s licence 12

L3 46(1)(c) Proprietor of a private hire vehicle using an 
unlicensed driver 12

L4 46(1)(d) Operating a private hire vehicle without a private hire 
operators’ licence 12

L5 46(1)(e) Operating a vehicle as a private hire vehicle when 
the vehicle is not licensed as a private hire vehicle 12

L6 46(1)(e) Operating a private hire vehicle when the driver is not 
licensed as a private hire driver 12

L7 48(6) Failure to display a private hire vehicle plate 4
L8 49 Failure to notify the transfer of a vehicle licence 4

Page 113



66

L9 50(1) Failure to present a hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle for inspection upon request

12

L10 50(2) Failure to inform the Council where a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle is stored, if requested

4

L11 50(3) Failure to report an accident to the Council within 
seventy two hours

6

L12 50(4) Failure to produce the vehicle and insurance upon 
request

12

L13 53(3) Failure to produce a driver’s licence upon request 4
L14 54(2) Failure to wear a private hire driver’s badge 6

L15 56(2)

Failure of a private hire operator to keep proper 
records of all bookings, or failure to produce them 
upon request of an authorised officer of the Council 
or a police officer

6

L16 56(3)

Failure of a private hire operator to keep proper 
records of all private hire vehicles, or failure to 
produce them on request of an authorised officer of 
the Council or a police officer

6

L17 56(4) Failure of a private hire operator to produce his 
licence upon request

4

L18 57
Making a false statement or withholding information 
to obtain a hackney carriage private hire driver’s 
licence

12

L19 58(2)
Failure to return a plate after notice has been given 
following expiry, revocation, or suspension of a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence

12

L20 61(2) Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after 
suspension, revocation, or refusal to renew

12

L21 64 Permitting any vehicle other than  a hackney carriage 
to wait on a hackney carriage rank

6

L22 66 Charging more than the meter fare for a journey 
ending outside the District, without prior agreement

12

L23 67 Charging more than the meter fare when a hackney 
carriage is used as a private hire vehicle

12

L24 69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey 12
L25 71 Interfering with a taximeter with intent to mislead 12

L26 73(1)(a) Obstruction of an authorised officer of the Council or 
a police officer

12

L27 73(1)(b) Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised 
officer of the Council or a police officer

12

L28 73(1)(c) Failure to give information or assistance to an 
authorised officer of the Council or police officer

12

Code Section Offence under Transport Act 1980
Maximum
Penalty 
Points

TA1 64(2)(a)

Driving a vehicle that is not a taxi with a sign above 
its roof which consists of or includes the word “taxi” 
or “cab” or ‘hire’, or any word of similar meaning or 
appearance to any of those words whether alone or 
part of another word 

10

TA2 64(2)(b)
Causing or permitting a vehicle that is not a taxi to 
have a sign above its roof which consists of or 
includes the word “taxi” or “cab” or ‘hire’, or any 

10

Page 114



67

word of similar meaning or appearance to any of 
those words whether alone or part of another word 

Code Section Offence under Equality Act 2010
Maximum
Penalty 
Points

E1 All 
applicable Any offence under the Equality Act 2010 12

Code
Breach of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy
Maximum
Penalty
Points

P1 Failure to wear a driver’s badge 6
P3 Failure to ensure the safety of passengers 12
P4 Concealing or defacing a vehicle licence plate 6

P5 Failure to attend on time for a pre-arranged booking without 
reasonable cause 4

P6 Conveying a greater number of passengers than permitted 12
P7 Failure to give reasonable assistance with passenger’s luggage 4

P8 Private hire soliciting for hire or accepting a fare that is not pre-
booked 12

P9 Operating/using a vehicle that is not clean and tidy and in a safe 
condition internally or externally 6

P10 Driving without the consent of the proprietor 6
P11 Drinking or eating in the vehicle whilst carrying passengers 2
P12 Smoking in the vehicle at any time 6

P13 Causing excessive noise from any radio or sound-reproducing 
equipment 2

P14 Operating the horn as a means of signalling that a vehicle has 
arrived 2

P15 Allowing a private hire vehicle to stand in such a position as to 
suggest that it is plying for hire or using a hackney carriage stand 6

P17 Using a non-hands free mobile telephone whilst driving 12
P18 Failure to advise of a relevant medical condition 12
P19 Failure to provide a receipt for a fare when requested 2

P20
Failure to operate the meter from the commencement of the 
journey and /or charging more than the fixed charge for hire of a 
hackney carriage

12

P21 Failure to notify the Council of any amendment to the details of a 
licence within fourteen days 4

P22 Failure to produce a licence upon request 4

P23
Failure of a driver to notify the council, within seven days of 
starting or terminating employment, of the name and address of 
the proprietor and the term of employment

4

P24 Failure to show a private hire driver’s licence to the private hire 
operator at the commencement of employment 2

P25 Failure of a private hire operator to request and/or record details 
of a private hire driver’s licence at the beginning of employment 2

P26 Failure to surrender a driver’s licence, badge or plate upon 
request 12

P27 Failure of a licence holder to disclose convictions within seven 
days of conviction 12

Page 115



68

P28
Carrying any animal other than a guide, hearing or other 
prescribed assistance dog or those owned by bone-fide fare 
paying passengers

2

P29 Failure to search a vehicle after a journey or deal with lost property 
found in accordance with policy requirements 8

P30 Failure to comply with requirements for the safe carrying of a 
wheelchair 12

P31
Operating a vehicle that does not comply with the Council’s 
licensing policy where such a breach of policy requirements is not 
otherwise specified herein

12

P32 Operating/using a vehicle which is not maintained in a sound and 
roadworthy condition 12

P33 Failure to carry an approved fire extinguisher 4
P34 Failure to carry an approve first aid kit 4
P35 Modifying a vehicle without the consent of the Council 12

P36
Failure to display or maintain external plates as issued by the 
council or displaying them incorrectly e.g. in the window of a 
vehicle, or whilst unclean or illegible

4

P37 Affixing or displaying a roof sign on a private hire vehicle 12

P38
Displaying a sign or advertisement on a licensed vehicle that does 
not satisfy the policy requirements or has not been approved by 
the Council

4

P39 Carrying radio equipment or similar devices not in accordance 
with council requirements 2

P40 Using a taximeter that does not conform to Council requirements 6
P41 Driving with no insurance or inadequate insurance for the vehicle 12

P42 Permitting the vehicle to be used for any illegal or immoral 
purposes 12

P43 Failure of a private hire operator to ensure that office staff act in a 
civil and courteous manner at all times 4

P44 Failure of a private hire operator to keep the operating premises 
in accordance with council requirements 4

P45 Failure of a private hire operator to ensure that all vehicles 
operated by him are adequately insured 12

P46 Failure of a private hire operator to obtain public liability insurance 
for the operating premises if the public are allowed access 12

P47 Failure to produce a valid MOT certificate every 6 months upon 
request of an authorised officer 12

P48 Failure to proceed with all reasonable speed to the next available 
rank 8

P49 Carrying an offensive weapon in the vehicle including imitation 
firearms 12

P50 Waiting or stopping on a double yellow line or a bus stop 6
P51 Failure to notify, in writing, a change in medical circumstances 6

P52 Failure to observe rank discipline e.g. failure to move up, driving 
on the pavement or grass 6

P53
Unsatisfactory behaviour or conduct of a driver including failing to 
behave in a civil and orderly manner to both the public, authorised 
officers or to other drivers

12

P54
Any other transgression not contained within the penalty points 
system which in the opinion of an authorised officer should have 
penalty points imposed

12

Page 116



69

APPENDIX F

PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR’S LICENCE CONDITIONS

1. Standards of Service

1.1 The operator shall:

1.1.1 Provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the public at all 
reasonable times.

1.1.2 Ensure that their office staff act in a civil and courteous manner at all times.

1.1.3 Ensure that when a vehicle has been hired, it arrives punctually at the appointed 
place, unless delayed by unforeseen circumstances.

1.1.4 Ensure that premises provided for the purpose of booking or waiting are kept clean 
and are adequately lit, heated and ventilated.

1.1.5 Ensure that any waiting area provided has adequate seating facilities and that 
telephone facilities are in good working order.

1.1.6 Ensure that the use of the premises which is used for the running of the business 
has no detrimental effect on the neighbourhood or its residents.

1.1.7 Fulfil their responsibilities to ensure compliance with legislation regarding the length 
of working hours.

2. Records

2.1 The records, which must be kept by private hire operators under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, are set out in sections 4, 5, 6 
and 21 of this Appendix.

2.2 All records maintained by the operator shall be kept for at least twelve months after 
entry and shall be produced for inspection, on request, by any authorised officer of 
the council or any police officer.

2.3 The private hire operator’s licence shall similarly be available for inspection upon 
request by any authorised officer of the Council or any police officer.

2.4 The operator shall, at all times keep a copy of these conditions at any premises 
used by him for a private hire business and shall make the same available for 
inspection by fare-paying passengers.

3. Sub-contracting

3.1 Operators that accept a booking remain legally responsible for that booking even if 
they sub-contract the booking to another Operator and should record the booking 
as normal and the fact that it was sub-contracted.  Similarly, Operators who accept 
a sub-contracted booking will also need to record the booking as normal.

4. Bookings

4.1 Prior to each journey, the operator shall enter (on the same calendar day that the 
booking is received) the following particulars of every booking of a private hire 

Page 117



70

vehicle accepted, pursuant to section 56(2) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976:

4.1.1 Date and time of the booking
4.1.2 Name and address of the passenger/hirer
4.1.3 How the booking was made (e.g. telephone call, online booking, etc.,)
4.1.4 The name of any individual that responded to the booking request 
4.1.5 The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle.
4.1.6 Time of pick-up
4.1.7 Address of the point of pick-up
4.1.8 Destination
4.1.9 Name of the driver
4.1.10 Time at which a driver was allocated the booking or, if sub-contracted, the time and 

whom the booking was sub-contracted to
4.1.11 Vehicle plate number (or other identification) of the vehicle allocated 
4.1.12 Fare (if agreed between the operator and hirer at the time of booking).

5. Vehicles

5.1 The operator shall ensure that every vehicle engaged by them has a valid and 
relevant vehicle licence obtained by the same Licensing Authority which issued the 
private hire operator’s licence and that it complies with the Vehicle Licence 
Conditions listed in Appendix B.

5.2 The operator shall keep records of the particulars of all private hire vehicles 
operated by them, pursuant to section 56(3) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, namely the:

5.2.1 Type, make, model, colour and engine size of vehicles
5.2.2 Year when the vehicle was first licensed for private hire
5.2.3 Vehicle registration numbers
5.2.4 Number of seats for passengers
5.2.5 Owners/proprietors of the vehicles
5.2.6 Insurance details of vehicles
5.2.7 Method of charging, i.e. whether or not a meter is fitted
5.2.8 Private hire vehicle plate numbers

6. Drivers

6.1 The operator shall ensure that every driver engaged by them has a valid and 
relevant drivers’ licence issued by the same Licensing Authority which issued the 
private hire operator’s licence.  

6.2 The operator shall ensure as far as is reasonably practicable that all drivers have a 
badge issued by the council and that the drivers wear the badge in a conspicuous 
place at all times whilst available for hire.

6.3 The operator shall keep records of the particulars of all drivers of private hire 
vehicles operated by them, pursuant to section 56(3) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, namely:

6.3.1 The names and addresses of drivers, and their call signs if any
6.3.2 Date any new driver begins service
6.3.3 Date when any drivers service ceases
6.3.4 Any change of address of any driver in service

Page 118



71

6.3.5 Any illness, disability or condition which may affect the driver’s ability to safely carry 
out his duties, if the operator becomes aware of any such condition

6.3.6 Expiry dates of drivers badges and vehicle licences

7. Restricted Private Hire Drivers and Vehicles

7.1 The operator shall only assign bookings to restricted private hire drivers and 
restricted private hire vehicles in accordance with their licence conditions specifying 
the restrictions on the journeys which may be carried out by/in them.

8. Disclosure of Convictions

8.1 The operator shall, within seven days of conviction, notify the Council in writing and 
send by email, of any conviction or fixed penalty notice imposed on them during the 
period of duration of their operator’s licence.

8.2 If the operator is a company or partnership, this requirement shall equally apply if 
any of the directors or partners receives a conviction or fixed penalty notice.

9. Equality

9.1 Operators must familiarise themselves with all requirements placed upon them 
under the Equality Act 2010, and ensure that both they and their staff comply with 
them at all times.

10. Insurance

10.1 The operator shall ensure that a certificate of motor insurance covers every private 
hire vehicle operated by them under the operator’s licence, which is compliant with 
the Road Traffic Act 1988 as regards the carriage of passengers for hire or reward.

10.2 If the private hire operator has premises to which the public have access, in 
connection with the hiring of vehicles, they shall ensure that there is public liability 
insurance in force, which indemnifies them against any claim for loss, damage or 
personal injury by any person using those premises.

11. Limousine Operators

11.1 All Operators of Limousines will be required to sign a declaration stating that the 
vehicle will not carry more than 8 passengers and at the time of booking the vehicle, 
the restriction of carrying no more than 8 passengers shall be explained to the hirer.

12. Advertising

12.1 The operator must not use in any advertisement of their business the words 
“Hackney Carriage” “Taxi” “For Hire” or “Cab” if licensed Hackney Carriages cannot 
be supplied. 

12.2 Operators shall only advertise their business in accordance with the name and 
address shown on their licence, and shall not advertise by any means that is 
unlawful or irresponsible.

Page 119



72

13. Change of Details 

13.1 In the event of an operator changing their personal and or business name and/or 
address they shall, within seven days of such change taking place, notify the 
council and apply for an updated licence (if required) via the online form found on 
the council’s website.

13.2 Where an operator licence is held by a company or partnership, they shall advise 
the licensing authority of any change in directors, partners or secretaries within 
seven days of such change taking place and apply for an updated licence (if 
required) via the online form found on the council’s website.

14. Lost, Stolen or Damaged Licence 

14.1 In the event of an operator’s licence being lost, stolen or damaged, the licence 
holder shall, within 24 hours of such an occurrence, notify the council and apply for 
a replacement via the online form found on the council’s website.

15. Surrender of Licence 

15.1 If at any time during the period of the licence the operator for any reason does not 
wish to retain the licence (which is not transferable) or if at any time during the 
period of the licence it is suspended or revoked, they must immediately surrender 
and return the licence to the council. 

16. Public Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation

16.1 License holders must, at their earliest possible opportunity, ensure that any 
concerns that they or their staff have about the vulnerability of a child are reported 
to Kent Police by calling 101 and quoting ‘Operation Willow’ or by calling 999 in an 
emergency.

16.2 Operators must, at any time or at such intervals as the council may reasonably 
require, attend an approved Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness 
session and, if introduced, pass an associated test; details of which will be specified 
and maintained on the council’s taxi and private hire webpages.

17. Complaints

17.1 The operator must notify the council’s licensing team in writing via email to 
licensing@gravesham.gov.uk within 48 hours of any complaints they receive 
concerning their drivers/contracts for hire or purported contracts for hire relating to 
or arising from their business, and of the action (if any) which the operator has 
taken or proposes to take in respect thereof. Complaints of a serious nature, such 
as allegations of sexual or violent misconduct, must be reported within 24 hours.

17.2 All complaints shall be kept by the operators for a period of at least twelve months 
after the date of last entry and shall be promptly produced, in a format for 
inspection, on request, by any Authorised Officer of the council or any Police 
Officer. 

18. Lost Property

18.1 Any property found (that is not already claimed by, or behalf of, its owner) at the 
offices (including the grounds) of a publicly accessible private hire office must be 

Page 120

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/update-taxi-private-hire-licence/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/update-taxi-private-hire-licence/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/taxi-and-private-hire/applications-and-guidance/replace-licence-badge-or-plate/overview
mailto:licensing@gravesham.gov.uk


73

reported to the Licensing Department within 24 hours and kept safely and securely 
by the operator for a period of not less than 14 days.

18.2 During this time, the operator should make all reasonable attempts to reunite the 
owner with their property and must return it to its owner, or a person legitimately 
claiming it on their behalf, if the opportunity arises.

If, after 14 days, the property has not been reclaimed, the operator may dispose of 
it in a legal and responsible manner.

19. Staff

19.1 The licence holder(s) must keep an up to date record of all members of staff 
involved in taking bookings and dispatching vehicles.

19.2 All staff listed on the register referred to in 19.1 must provide the licence holder with 
a Basic DBS check certificate that is less than 3 months old prior to taking bookings 
and dispatching vehicles.

19.3 The licence holder(s) must be able to provide evidence to the satisfaction of the 
council, upon request, that they have had sight of the Basic DBS check certificates 
referred to in 19.2 (although the DBS Certificates should not be retained) and 
record this, along with the date seen, in the register referred to in 19.1.

19.4 Should an employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new basic 
DBS certificate should be requested in accordance with 19.2 and sight of this 
recorded in accordance with 19.3.

19.5 The licence holder(s) must have, and apply, a policy on employing ex-offenders in 
roles that would be on the register as above.  As with the threshold to obtaining a 
private hire vehicle operators’ licence, those with a conviction for offences provided 
in Appendix C of this Policy, other than those relating to driving, may not be suitable 
to decide who is sent to carry a child or vulnerable adult unaccompanied in a car.  
The policy on employing ex-offenders should reflect this and be properly applied by 
the licence holder(s).

20. Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers

20.1 Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle is 
needed because more than eight passenger seats are required or to accommodate 
luggage, the booker must be informed that a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV 
licensed driver will be used who is subject to different checks and not required to 
have an enhanced DBS check.

20.2 The use of a driver who holds a PCV licence and the use of a public service vehicle 
(PSV) such as a minibus shall not be dispatched to undertake a private hire vehicle 
booking without the informed consent of the booker, having regard to 20.1 (above). 

Page 121



74

APPENDIX G

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT POLICY

1. Enforcement Policy Statement

1.1 It is the policy of the council to ensure that all drivers, vehicles and operators are 
licensed correctly and carry out their trade in accordance with both the relevant 
legislation and the council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy.

1.2 This policy aims to provide guidance and clarity in relation to the compliance and 
enforcement interventions that may be taken by the council and in order to better 
ensure consistency and proportionality of approach.

1.3 Enforcement action will be primarily based upon the seriousness of the matter and 
the possible consequences arising out of it. Enforcement action will not therefore be 
used as a punitive response to minor technical contraventions of legislation.

1.4 Authorised officers, when making enforcement decisions, will abide by this policy. 
Any departure from it must be exceptional, capable of justification, be fully 
considered and be endorsed by the Licensing Manager or above before the 
decision is taken (unless it is considered that there is a risk to the public in delaying 
the decision).

1.5 Authorised officers must be fully acquainted with the requirements of the policy and 
appropriate training will be provided where required. 

1.6 Officers will be authorised by the Assistant Director (Communities) to take 
enforcement actions that are relevant and appropriate to their level of competence, 
and all enforcement action will be undertaken by an Authorised Officer of the 
appropriate status.  Competency will be assessed individually by reference to 
qualifications and experience.

2. Enforcement Options

2.1 Achieving and maintaining consistency of approach is of paramount importance. To 
achieve and maintain consistency, it is vital that the policy guidelines are always 
considered and followed where appropriate.

2.2 Licence application and enforcement decisions must be consistent, reasonable and 
proportionate whilst ensuring that the public is adequately protected.  In reaching a 
decision, the council may take into account such matters as the:

2.2.1 seriousness of any offences
2.2.2 licence holders’ previous history
2.2.3 consequence of non-compliance
2.2.4 likely effectiveness of the various enforcement options
2.2.5 risk to the public

2.3 Having considered all relevant information and evidence, the choices for action 
are:-

2.3.1 In relation to licence applications:

2.3.1.1 to grant licences subject to the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy requirements

Page 122



75

2.3.1.2 to refuse to grant or renew a licence

2.3.2 In relation to enforcement action:

2.3.2.1 take no action
2.3.2.2 take informal action
2.3.2.3 use statutory notices
2.3.2.4 suspend a licence
2.3.2.5 revoke a licence
2.3.2.6 use simple cautions
2.3.2.7 prosecute
2.3.2.8 a combination of any of the above

2.4 This policy document provides detailed guidance in relation to the various options 
for enforcement action.

3. Informal Action

3.1 Informal action to secure compliance with legislation includes offering advice, giving 
verbal or written warnings, requests for action, the use of letters or the issue of 
penalty points in accordance with Appendix E. 

3.2 Such informal enforcement action may be appropriate where:

3.2.1 the act or omission is not serious enough to warrant more formal action;
3.2.2 it can be reasonably expected that informal action will achieve compliance
3.2.3 general confidence in licence holder is high
3.2.4 the consequences of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to the safety of 

the public

3.3 Even where some of the above criteria are not met, there may be circumstances in 
which informal action will be more effective than a formal approach.

4. Appearance before the relevant committee of the council

4.1 An offending individual or company may be required to attend a meeting with the 
relevant committee of the council or an officer of the council, to answer allegations 
of breaches of relevant legislation, byelaws, conditions or this policy.

4.2 Current licence holders who report an arrest and release, charge, conviction or 
breach relevant legislation during the period of their licence may be brought before 
the relevant committee of the council.

4.3 The Committee may decide to take one or more of the following actions:

4.3.1 take no action
4.3.2 issue a verbal or written warning
4.3.3 require the production of driving licences or other specified documentation at the 

Council Offices
4.3.4 suspend a licence
4.3.5 revoke a licence
4.3.6 refuse to renew a licence
4.3.7 recommend prosecution action
4.3.8 take any other appropriate action as deemed appropriate

Page 123



76

5. Suspension and Revocation

5.1 Suspension and Revocation of Vehicle Licences under s.68 LG(MP)A 1976

5.1.1 If an authorised officer is not satisfied with the fitness of a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle, or the accuracy of its taximeter, they may serve notice under 
section 68 of the LG(MP)A 1976 requiring for it to be examined at a specific time 
and place (at the proprietor’s expense), and suspend the vehicle licence until such 
time as they become satisfied with the same.

5.1.2 The suspension notice will remain in place until such time as the officer issuing the 
notice is satisfied that the grounds for suspension have been satisfactorily resolved, 
at which time written confirmation of the lifting of the suspension notice will be 
given. 

5.1.3 If the authorised officer who issued the suspension notice is not satisfied that the 
appropriate action has been taken to allow the suspension notice to be withdrawn 
within a period of two months from the date of issue, the vehicle licence shall be 
deemed to be revoked. 

5.1.4 The decision of the Court of appeal in R (on the application of Wilcock) v Lancaster 
City Council confirmed that ‘unfit’ in relation to s.68 means any non-compliance with 
the council’s conditions/requirements as well as mechanical unfitness, and that it is 
not confined to cases of unroadworthiness.  

5.1.5 The council may therefore utilise its powers under s.68 in cases where its officers 
are not satisfied that a vehicle is complying with legislative or policy 
requirements/conditions.  This will include instances where an officer cannot be 
satisfied, for example, where they are reliant on third party confirmation such as by 
way of an MOT pass certificate.

5.1.6 There is no right of appeal against the suspension of a vehicle made under s.68.

5.2 Suspension and Revocation of Vehicle Licences under s.60 LG(MP)A 1976

5.2.1 Section 60 of the LG(MP)A 1976 allows a council to suspend, revoke or refuse to 
renew a vehicle licence on any of the following grounds:

5.2.1.1 The vehicle is unfit for use as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle

5.2.1.2 Any offence under, or non-compliance with, the provisions of the Act of 1847 or of 
Part II of this Act by the operator or driver

5.2.1.3 Any other reasonable cause

5.2.2 Where a district council suspend, revoke or refuse to renew any licence under this 
section, they will give the proprietor of the vehicle notice of the grounds on which 
the licence was suspended or revoked or on which they refused to renew the 
licence within fourteen days of such suspension, revocation or refusal.

5.2.3 A proprietor aggrieved by a decision of a district council under this section may 
appeal to a magistrates’ court within 21 days from the date of service. 

5.2.4 A suspension or revocation under this section does not take effect until either the 
expiration of the 21 day appeal period or until any appeal lodged has been 
concluded.

Page 124



77

5.3 Suspension and Revocation of Drivers’ Licences under s.61 LG(MP)A 1976

5.3.1 Section 61 of the LG(MP)A 1976 allows a council to suspend, revoke or refuse to 
renew a drivers’ licence on any of the following grounds:

5.3.1.1 That they have since the grant of the licence

i. been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence; or

ii. been convicted of an offence under or has failed to comply with the 
provisions of the Act of 1847 or Part II of this Act; 

5.3.1.2 That they have since the grant of the licence been convicted of an immigration 
offence or required to pay an immigration penalty, or

5.3.1.3 Any other reasonable cause.

5.3.2 The discretion under this Section is wide and is not restricted to convictions for 
criminal offences nor is proof required to the criminal standard; Section 61 requires 
the licensing authority to make a finding on the balance of probabilities that the 
grounds set out in the legislation are met.

5.3.3 Guidance is given in a number of cases from which the following principles can be 
drawn.

5.3.3.1 The decision maker is entitled to take hearsay evidence into account.1

5.3.3.2 The fact that no criminal case is pursued against the driver is a relevant factor that 
can be outweighed by other evidence. 2

5.3.3.3 The burden of proof is on the applicant to establish that he is a fit and proper person 
to hold the licence. 3

5.3.3.4 Once the driver has established a case that he is a fit and proper person, the 
evidential burden shifts to the Local Authority to rebut the case put forward by the 
driver. Rebuttal does not require the decision maker to prove that a person is not a 
fit and proper person and nor does pursuing that argument amount to double 
jeopardy.

5.3.3.5 They would not have good reason to question or doubt the applicant’s case if the 
evidence amounts to assertions shown to be ill founded gossip or rumour or for any 
other evidence which a reasonable and fair minded decision maker acting in good 
faith with proper regard to the interests of the public and the applicant would not 
think it right to rely on. 4

5.3.4 It should be noted, in relation to point 5.3.1.1(i) that the offence in question must 
involve dishonesty, indecency or violence. Dishonesty, indecency or violence must 
therefore be part of the commission of the criminal offence for this subsection to 
apply, but it is not necessary for the offence to be one of dishonesty, indecency or 
violence.

1. McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council (1998)
2. McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council (1998)
3. R v Maidstone Crown Court ex parte Olson (1992)
4. McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council (1998)

Page 125



78

5.3.5 With regard to point 5.3.1.3, no definition is given of reasonable cause within the 
legislation therefore the question is ultimately a matter for the discretion of the 
decision maker.

5.3.6 Where a district council suspend, revoke or refuse to renew any licence under this 
section they will give the driver notice of the grounds on which the licence was 
suspended or revoked or on which they refused to renew the licence within fourteen 
days of such suspension, revocation or refusal.

5.3.7 A driver aggrieved by a decision of a district council under this section may appeal 
to a magistrates’ court within 21 days from the date of service. 

5.3.8 A suspension or revocation under this section does not take effect until either the 
expiration of the 21 day appeal period or until any appeal lodged has been 
concluded; unless it appears to the council that the interests of public safety require 
the suspension or revocation of the licence to have immediate effect, and the notice 
given to the driver includes a statement that that is so and an explanation why, in 
which case the suspension or revocation takes effect when the notice is given to the 
driver (see 5.4 below).

5.4 Immediate/Interim Suspension and Immediate Revocation of Drivers’ Licences

5.4.1 The taxi licensing regime is clearly and expressly in place to protect members of the 
public travelling in taxi and private hire vehicles.

5.4.2 There are issues which undermine that protection which amount to criminal 
offences in their own right but there are other issues which have significance for the 
protection of the travelling public where a criminal offence might not have been 
committed or proved.

5.4.3 Where an allegation or information is received about a licensed driver, and is of 
such a nature that a real and reasonable concern is raised in terms of public safety 
or crime and disorder about the suitability of a licensed driver to continue to hold a 
driver licence for the time being, then consideration should be given to the 
suspension of that licence.

5.4.4 An immediate suspension should ordinarily only be imposed on those drivers who:

5.4.4.1 Have committed, or are alleged to have committed, a serious offence

5.4.4.2 Are in breach of the requirements placed upon that type of licence within primary 
legislation

5.4.4.3 Are in conflict with a significant part of the council’s policy, or

5.4.4.4 Where there is intelligence provided which raises a significant concern and it is 
necessary to immediately remove that potential risk

5.4.5 Both standard and immediate suspensions/revocations require the decision maker 
to consider the same matters, i.e. whether there has been a relevant conviction or 
any other reasonable cause.

5.4.6 Because a suspension or revocation can only take immediate effect in the interests 
of public safety there must be an additional consideration. That means the decision 
maker should consider whether there is a clear connection between the alleged 

Page 126



79

incidents and the safety of the travelling public which justifies taking this additional 
step, given that it can deprive a driver of their livelihood pending an appeal.

5.4.7 However there are no further limits or restrictions on the decision maker’s exercise 
of judgment or discretion providing a proper judgment is made weighing up the 
evidence available.

5.4.8 There is no requirement in the legislation limiting this power to cases where there 
has been a conviction for a criminal offence nor that any alleged incident or offence 
is ‘serious’.

5.4.9 The decision must be taken in the interests of public safety and should be fair, 
reasonable, proportionate and in accordance with human rights, natural justice 
principles and the Regulator’s Code.

5.4.10 Although every case will be assessed on its facts and merits, the council will have 
regard, amongst other things, to the Guidelines Relating to Fitness and Propriety 
set out in Appendix C when considering whether an offence, allegation or complaint 
should be considered as warranting immediate suspension/revocation in the public 
interest.  This will be judged against all the circumstances of the case, including any 
admissions or denials made and any other relevant evidence.

5.4.11 Because of the impact on a licensed driver, any decision to suspend or revoke a 
licence should never be taken lightly.  The licensing system is however designed to 
protect the public and it would be wrong not to suspend or revoke where such 
course of action is considered appropriate on the facts of an individual case. If there 
is any doubt whatsoever as to the driver’s suitability to hold a licence as a fit and 
proper person, serious consideration must be given to refusal, revocation or 
suspension.

5.5 Suspension and Revocation of Operators’ Licences under s.62 LG(MP)A 1976

5.5.1 Section 62 of the LG(MP)A 1976 allows a council to suspend, revoke or refuse to 
renew an operator licence on any of the following grounds:

5.5.1.1 Any offence under, or non-compliance with, the provisions of Part II of this Act;

5.5.1.2 Any conduct on the part of the operator which appears to the district council to 
render him unfit to hold an operator’s licence;

5.5.1.3 Any material change since the licence was granted in any of the circumstances of 
the operator on the basis of which the licence was granted; 

5.5.1.4 That the operator has since the grant of the licence been convicted of an 
immigration offence or required to pay an immigration penalty; or

5.5.1.5 any other reasonable cause

5.5.2 Where a district council suspend, revoke or refuse to renew any licence under this 
section they will give the operator notice of the grounds on which the licence was 
suspended or revoked or on which they refused to renew the licence within fourteen 
days of such suspension, revocation or refusal.

5.5.3 An operator aggrieved by a decision of a district council under this section may 
appeal to a magistrates’ court within 21 days from the date of service. 

Page 127



80

5.5.4 A suspension or revocation under this section does not take effect until either the 
expiration of the 21 day appeal period or until any appeal lodged has been 
concluded.

6. Appeals

6.1 In general terms, where an applicant is aggrieved by the council’s decision to refuse 
to grant, refuse to renew, suspend or revoke a licence; the applicant has a right of 
appeal to the Magistrates’ Court.  

6.2 Where a right of appeal exists, any notifications of formal enforcement actions will 
include written information on how to appeal, including how, where and within what 
period an appeal may be brought and on what grounds.  The notification will also 
confirm whether or not the enforcement action is suspended pending the outcome 
of the appeal.

6.3 A driver can also appeal against a refusal to renew their licence; however as their 
previous licence would have already expired they cannot continue to work as they 
would no longer hold a current licence. 

7. Prosecution

7.1 The decision to prosecute is a very significant one as it may impact on the licence 
holder’s future employability. Prosecution will, in general, be restricted to those 
circumstances where the law is blatantly disregarded, legitimate requirements of the 
Council are not followed and / or there is serious risk to the public. 

7.2 The circumstances which may warrant prosecution may include, but will not be 
restricted to, one of more of the following:

7.2.1 Blatant disregard for legislation or this Policy

7.2.2 Benefits of breaking the law are substantial and provide significant advantage over 
those licence holders who are law-abiding

7.2.3 When there appears to have been blatant and/or reckless disregard for the safety of 
passengers or other road users

7.2.4 Where there have been repeated breaches of legislation or requirements of this 
Policy

7.2.5 Where a particular type of offence is prevalent

7.2.6 Where a particular contravention has caused serious public concern

7.3 When circumstances have been identified which may warrant a prosecution, all 
relevant evidence and information must be considered to enable a consistent, 
reasonable and proportionate decision to be made.

7.4 Before referring a matter to the council’s Legal Services for possible prosecution, 
the Assistant Director (Communities) and/or Licensing Manager must be satisfied 
that there is suitable and sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of 
conviction; a prima facie case is not enough. 

7.5 In addition to being satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide realistic 
prospect of conviction, it must be established that it is in the public interest to 

Page 128



81

prosecute.  The Code for Crown Prosecutors, issued by the Crown Prosecution 
Service, provides guidance which will be considered, including relevant public 
interest criteria.

7.6 When a decision is being taken on whether to prosecute, the factors to be 
considered may include:-

7.6.1 the seriousness of the alleged offence

7.6.2 the risk of harm to the public

7.6.3 identifiable victims

7.6.4 failure to comply with a statutory notice served

7.6.5 disregard of safety for financial reward

7.6.6 the previous history of the party concerned

7.6.7 offences following a history of similar offences

7.6.8 failure to respond positively to past warnings, requests or enforcement action

7.6.9 the ability of any important witnesses and their willingness to cooperate

7.6.10 the willingness of the party to prevent a recurrence of the problem

7.6.11 the probable public benefit of a prosecution and the importance of the case e.g. 
whether it might establish a legal precedent (as indicated above, advice on the 
public interest is contained in the Code for Crown Prosecutors. The general thrust 
of the advice contained therein is that, the graver the offence, the less likelihood 
there will be that the public interest will allow anything other than a prosecution)

7.6.12 whether other action, such as issuing a simple caution in accordance with the 
Ministry of Justice’s ‘Simple Cautions for Adult Offenders’ guidance would be more 
appropriate or effective

7.6.13 any other reasonable consideration

8. Simple Cautions

8.1 A simple caution may be used as an alternative to a prosecution in certain 
circumstances.

8.2 The purposes of the simple caution are:-

8.2.1 To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences

8.2.2 To divert less serious offences away from the Courts

8.2.3 To reduce the likelihood of repeat offences

8.3 To safeguard the suspected offender’s interests, the following conditions should be 
fulfilled before a caution is administered:-

Page 129

http://www.gmp.police.uk/live/Nhoodv3.nsf/WebAttachments/427CCF9FA39DB90180257A6400455457/$File/adult-simple-caution-guidance-oocd.pdf


82

8.3.1 There must be evidence of the suspected offender’s guilt sufficient to give a realistic 
prospect of conviction

8.3.2 The suspected offender must admit the offence

8.3.3 The suspected offender must understand the significance of a simple caution and 
give informed consent to being cautioned.

8.4 If there is insufficient evidence to consider taking a prosecution, then by implication, 
the criteria is not satisfied for the use of a simple caution. A simple caution should 
also not be used where the suspected offender does not make a clear and reliable 
admission of the offence. It should be noted that there is no legal obligation for any 
person to accept the offer of a simple caution and no pressure should be applied to 
the person to accept a caution.

8.5 Where a person declines the offer of a simple caution, it will be necessary to 
consider taking alternative enforcement action. Whilst this will usually mean 
prosecution, this is not necessarily inevitable.

9. Transparency

9.1 Explaining to the licence holder what is alleged or what action is intended to be 
taken along with the reason(s) for that decision is a very important feature which 
enables the licence holder to exercise their rights and understand the situation from 
the council’s viewpoint.  Licence holders will therefore be kept informed of such 
matters as soon as is reasonably practicable, in writing and in plain English. 

9.2 Written documentation provided will:

9.2.1 Contain all the information necessary to understand the offence and what needs to 
be done to rectify it. Where works are required, the period allowed for them to be 
completed will be indicated;

9.2.2 Indicate the legislation or conditions contravened and measures which will enable 
compliance with the legal requirements and point out, where appropriate, that other 
means of achieving the same effect may be chosen; and

9.2.3 Clearly indicate any recommendations of good practice under an appropriate 
heading to differentiate them from legal requirements.

9.3 The clear distinction between legal requirements and matters which are 
recommended as good practice in all enforcement action, even if only giving verbal 
advice, is of considerable importance.  

10. Test Purchasing

10.1 The Council may from time to time conduct ‘Test Purchasing’ operations as a 
quality control measure with regard to licensing.

10.2 Such operations may be carried out to:

10.2.1 Ensure that licence holders are compliant
10.2.2 Ensure that licence holders are providing an appropriately high level of service to 

the public
10.2.3 Investigate complaints 
10.2.4 Highlight best practice

Page 130



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Committee

Date: 17 November 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2020-21 (July to September 2020). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 131 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Operational Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2020-21, covering the period July to September 
2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 132



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 133

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 134



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S 
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 135



P I  3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

11 3 4 5 6 6

P I  4 % of broadly compliant food establishments

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8% 89.0% 87.7%

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring 

commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

O U T T U R N

Licensing: The Team have been focussed on catching up with administrative tasks suspended during 

lockdown, e.g. issuing new vehicle plates, driver badges, and full licences to those issued with a 

temporary licence; managing the collection of any deferred fees; satisfying any outstanding renewal 

requirements, and; undertaking any associated compliance and enforcement interventions – whilst 

still endeavouring to maintain all day to day requirements.  The council’s Taxi and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy is due to expire at the end of April and work is under to revise it, taking in to account 

new Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards published from the DfT during lockdown.

Environmental Health (Commercial Team): In accordance with FSA guidance, officers re-commenced 

routine food inspections on a risk-based/priority basis from Monday 3 August. Despite a large backlog 

of inspections due to lockdown, officers aim to inspect 100% of high and medium risk businesses that 

are due in 20/21. Initially inspections due during the lockdown are being prioritised, however some of 

these businesses still remain closed and others, e.g. care homes are not comfortable admitting 

visitors. During the last 6 months the team have also received 96 new food business registrations of 

which the majority have now had initial contact/advice. 16 of these have been inspected so far. The PI 

for 'broadly compliant’ food establishments stands at 87.7% for Q2, which is again slightly below our 

usual value, as the report used to capture this figure will count all premises not yet inspected as being 

non-compliant.  The team continue to simultaneously lead the council’s regulatory response in 

relation to the Coronavirus regulations and business compliance, as well as the COVID secure 

requirements for the council’s own workforce which fall within the remit of Health and Safety at Work. 

In total the team have handled 328 COVID complaints and enquiries, including some rather complex 

matters, since lockdown. The team have also been out proactively enforcing the 10pm curfew for the 

hospitality sector and given warnings to businesses who were found in breach of the restrictions.  

Some 390 food businesses have also been written to, to remind them of their responsibilities ahead 

of further evening enforcement operations.

The total number of reported H&S incidents indicator is dependent upon business compliance with 

formally reporting accidents to the HSE and members of the public, employers & employees reporting 

accidents to the Environmental Health department.  The six incidents logged in Q2 does not directly 

reflect upon officer’s performance, but does serve to give some indication as to how safe premises in 

Gravesham are.

O U T T U R N

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 136



Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.8% 99.0%

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

P I  5
% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 

working days 

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the 

borough.

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

The Environmental Protection team’s ordinarily busy reactive workload addressing allegations of 

nuisance and other service requests increased significantly during lockdown, with 383 incoming 

complaints logged during Q2; almost double the same period last year and almost 1/3 more than in 

Q1.  The majority of these related to noise, which is generally the largest category of nuisance 

complaint received, but we also saw a spike in bonfire-related complaints during lockdown.

In addition, 299 enquiries and service requests were dealt with by the Commercial Team in Q2, 

compared to 75 for the same period last year which is more representative of a usual quarterly value 

for that team.

Despite the Environmental Health teams collectively processing some 682 service requests in Q2 

(150 more than in Q1), 99% of all ‘routine’ complaints received a first response five working days.  

Our air quality strategies are largely progressed via the planning process. The Environmental 

Protection Team respond to all relevant planning applications and the officers play an active part in 

working groups relating to major developments.  

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 137



P I  9 Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6 125.1 240.0

P I  8 % of household waste recycled P I   10 % of household waste sent to landfill

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

44.3% 44.2% 42.6% 42.5% 45.6% 45.1% 1.9%

O U T T U R N

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the 

borough.

Our Waste & Recycling crews have continued to be resilient in delivering key services to the residents of 

Gravesham.  In the period Jul - Sept 20 the total refuse, recycling and garden waste tonnages (excluding food 

waste) collected was 1,259 tonnes greater than the period Jul - Sept 19, an increase of 19.1%.  Despite the 

pressure arising from increased kerbside collection tonnages between Jul and Sept 20, 100% of households 

received their scheduled refuse and recycling collection.  

In order to acknowledge the hard work and resilience of our Waste & Recycling staff, the council took part in a 

Kent-wide Summer Appreciation campaign to thank all frontline Waste & Recycling staff who have continued to 

work tirelessly through the COVID-19 pandemic. Gravesham Operatives volunteered to be filmed to for a Kent-

wide poetic film and appreciation video and featured prominently. These videos can be found on our corporate 

social media channels and will be re-posted at appropriate intervals in the future. To help residents to recycle as 

much as possible, the Waste Management Team have created and launched a new A-Z of recycling search 

feature on our website to make it even easier for residents to find out how to correctly dispose of different items 

and materials. The search feature was promoted in our Recycle Week 2020 social media posts and is now 

incorporated in to social media posts about recycling.  We have also implemented our Bin Contamination Policy 

with a ‘soft’ launch to ensure consistent ‘stickering’ by crews.

The provision of recycling facilities across the borough is also being enhanced. An audit of recycling provision at 

Council-managed flats began in September to increase recycling provision across Council flats.  Furthermore, 

following the success of the small-scale trial of communal food waste recycling points at Pickwick House, the 

Waste Management Team is investigating the feasibility of a larger scale trial at Medhurst Gardens.  A trial of 

recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins for leisure areas will commence in November at St Andrew’s Gardens and will enable 

users of the leisure area to recycle their drinks bottles, cans, paper and cardboard while out and about rather than 

disposing of all waste in the litter bins provided.  

Finally, the Council marked Recycle Week 2020 by illuminating the Gravesend Clock Tower in green and by 

supporting the nationwide campaign on corporate social media channels.

O U T T U R N

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#1 PEOPLE 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

35%

40%

45%

50%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

100

225

350

475

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 138



P I  11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

2 2 1 1

P I  12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% N/A 4.0%

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4. Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a 

comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

A number of changes have recently been made to town centre cleansing operations to improve the general 

cleanliness and appearance of the area. To support the on-going regeneration of the town centre, it was agreed 

that the town centre street cleansing service needed to be expanded to cover seven days a week from 7am till 

6pm. To support this commitment, six additional staff have been recruited to the Street Cleansing Team which will 

allow for the streets within the town centre to be cleaned more often and the litter bins to be emptied more 

frequently. 

Additional Investment has also been made in new deep cleaning equipment to tackle dirt and grime on our local 

streets and a new road sweeping machine. The deep cleansing machine is currently operational Monday-Friday 

each week and weekend-working is being explored to cover town centre areas where high footfall on weekdays 

makes it difficult to use the machine without inconveniencing shoppers.  Phase one of this new initiative includes 

New Road & King Street and subsequent phases will go on to cover Windmill Street, the High Street, Clive Road, 

the Civic Forecourt and Community Square.

A new ‘weed-ripping’ machine has been brought into operation and it has already been used to great effect to 

remove weeds from the Larkfields Estate, St James’s Avenue, Mulberry Road, Rochester Road, Perry Street and 

The Hive. 

The Waste Management Team supported this year’s Great British September Clean after the earlier 

postponement of the annual Great British Spring Clean in March.  Local community groups, families and individual 

Street Champions tackled litter in streets and open spaces across the borough. The Waste Management Team 

supported community clean-up events by loaning litter picking kits, providing orange litter sacks and hand sanitizer 

and by removing the waste collected by volunteers.  Despite the restrictions on the size of groups, 65 volunteers 

managed to collect an incredible 151 sacks of litter as part of numerous socially-distanced community clean-ups 

across Gravesham. 

The Street Champions initiative continues to attract new volunteers.  To date, the scheme boasts 186 Street 

Champions (an 89.8% increase since the initial audit in January 2020) who have pledged to ‘adopt’ 163 streets, 

alleyways and open spaces.  We are currently looking at appropriate ways to facilitate a greater role for members.

The new ‘No More Litter’ campaign signage has been offered to Parish Councils to display and has been taken up 

by a number of Parish Councils. 

The Horticultural Services Team have completed works at the Brightlands Open Space Playground to replace the 

safety surfacing in order to maintain a safe environment for children to play in.  Furthermore, at the Kings Farm 

Recreation Ground play area, the rubber tiled play safety surface had been continuously vandalised, leaving the 

site unsafe for the children. The surface was replaced by a wet pour surface to prevent the problem from 

reoccurring. 

Finally, the summer bedding displays were removed and the beds were dug over ready for the planting of winter 

bedding and bulbs in Gordon Gardens, Windmill Gardens, and at Gravesend and Northfleet Cemeteries.

N/A

0

1

2

3

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 139



P I   39 % of council play sites annually inspected

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and promote 

opportunities for active lives.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N

No update this quarter. 

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 140


	Agenda
	2 Minutes from Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	5 Street Scene Update
	6 Allotment Bee Policy
	Appendix 2 - Allotment sites- permission to keep honey bees
	Appendix 3 - Conditions and Procedure for Permission October 2020 (final...

	7 Taxi Policy Consultation
	Appendix 2 to Report to Op Services re Taxi Policy - Main Policy Amendments
	GBC Taxi Policy Draft for Consultation v2

	8 Corporate Performance Report Quarter 1 2020/21
	2. Operational Services Committee - Q2 Performance Report - Appendix 2




